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Dear Fellow Reis Stockholders: THOMSON REUTERS

We are pleased to share with you our latest results and to discuss the impressive growth

that Reis’s core business enjoyed during 2007.

The year was characterized by important milestones in the hiscory of Reis. We consum-
mated our merger between Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. and Reis, Inc., on May 30, 2007.
This merger resulted in the commercial real estate information services company which I co-
founded with Jon Garfield, and which we have led for 28 years, becoming a public company.
While accomplishing che integration of Wellsford and the private Reis operations (which we
now call Reis Services), we launched several new releases of Reis Services's flagship product, Reis
SE, and considerably expanded our geographic coverage. Our track record of accomplishment
continues to evidence outstanding financial results. In the second half of 2007, in the face of
deteriorating economic and credit markec conditions, demand for our market information
remained strong, resulting in record EBITDA” during the third and fourth quarters of 2007

related to our core Reis Services business.

Reis Services’s financial resules for the fourth quarter and for all of fiscal 2007 demonstrate
the accelerated growth in revenue and EBITDA at our core business. Keep in mind that our
financial results prior to May 2007 are presented on a pro forma basis in order to show a more
meaningful comparison. The pro forma adjuscments take into account such events as the May
2007 merger and the change in private Reis’s fiscal year. Reis Services revenue for the fourth
quarter of 2007 totaled $6.4 million, a 25% increase over the corresponding period in 2006.
Reis Services EBITDA in the fourth quarter of 2007 totaled $2.6 million, a 45% increase over
the prior year period and representing a 40% EBITDA margin. For 2007, Reis Services revenue
rotaled $23.7 million, up 23% from the prior year. Reis Services EBITDA rotaled $8.5 million,
up 39% from the prior year and representing an EBITDA margin of 36%.




As these results demonstrate, the Reis Services operations continue to post strong top and
bottom line growth, the result of a well conceived and executed business strategy to:
» continually enhance our services;
¢ maintain strong renewal rates;
e sell new subscriptions via both field sales and telesales to the tens of thousands of mid-
size and smaller firms that invest in or lend on commercial real estate; and

¢ up-sell new content and analytics to our institutional subscriber base.

These remain the cornerstones of our business plan for 2008 and we are confident thac by

focusing on these objectives, we will continue to grow Reis Services’s revenues and EBITDA.

Our vantage point here at Reis provides an uncommon perspective on conditions in the
commercial real estate market, both with respect to space market fundamentals and capital
market trends. While it is obvious that consumer and investor confidence in the U.S. economy
has significantly diminished, the state of the commercial real estate market is more nuanced

than daily business headlines might suggest.

Clearly, the constrained credit environment that has prevailed for over six months has rippled
through the economy. The triggers for last summer’s shift had their inception in the housing
market but the abrupt increase in risk sensitivity has spread to commercial markets. Within the
commercial real estate space market, the most conspicuous impact of the difficult economic
environment has been a slowing of rent growth, a softening in the demand for office and
industrial space and a significant reduction in the issuance of commercial real estate debt. Within
the investment market, it is clear chat investors are employing higher capitalization rates — real
estate’s version of a price/earnings ratio — in their valuations, effectively lowering the prices they

are willing to pay and leading in many cases to an impasse between buyer and seller.

At the same time, it is important to observe that despite the business and trade press’s
depiction of a markec they describe as “seized up,” sales of commercial real estate assets, while
down from the record levels of recent years, remain high, sustaining the demand for market

information to support the underwriting, due diligence and valuation funccions. At the same




time, there appears to be heightened demand for market informacion by credit officers and risk
managers at financial institutions. Many of these institutions are concerned that the value of the
collateral underlying their outstanding loans may be impaired by market forces. Some institutions
hold loans they originally intended to package into commercial mortgage-backed securities and are
now unable to do so. In fact, our historical experience suggests that challenging market conditions
encourage investors to assess supply and demand fundamentals wich a heightened appreciation for
volatility and downside risk. While our information products are not completely insulated from a
difficulc marketplace, it has been gratifying to observe how Reis SE is sufficiently flexible to meet
the changing priorities and concerns of lenders and investors. In fact, in 2007 and already in 2008,
senior management has acted aggressively to incroduce content and features chat provide significant

incremental benefits to users, given the realicy of the current market.

For example, at the Mortgage Bankers Association’s annuat convention in February 2008, Reis
introduced a major enhancement to Ress SE, which has now been rolled out to all subscribers.
Subscribers may now use Reis SE to view and filcer sets of properties that are pulled directly from the
Reis database and plotted onto a state-of-the-art dynamic map. The initial set of properties is chosen
based on a user-defined geographical area and may be narrowed to fit a desired range of competitive
performance factors and sales transaction specifics and by proximity to peers and key landmarks. This
type of surgical precision reveals important local economic dynamics that are often obscured by broader

market trends. Response to this enhancement has been overwhelmingly positive.

Our innovation has not stopped. Reis will be adding 50 metropolitan office markets to our
coverage in the coming months. The first 20 of these markets will be launched in May and will
concentrace on metropolitan markets in Florida and California. The second group of 30 markets will
launch in August and will extend our already broad coverage in the Northeast and Midwest.
Providing coverage in these smaller markets will reinforce Reis’s repuration as a leading source of
comprehensive market data and portfolio analytics. We expect the addition of these markets to
further cement Reis’s leadership position with respect to providing office market information to
owners, developers, lenders and service providers. Reis already monitors 169 apartment markets,
subscantially more markets than any of our competitors. We expect the demand for our office
markets to be significant, given the unique liquidity risks associated with smaller markets in the
current environment of tightening credit and economic uncertainty, Next year, we plan a similar

expansion in the shopping center sector.
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Lastly, we have been working diligently to dispose of the three residential development
projects remaining on the balance sheet. We recognize that these legacy assets complicate the
marketplace’s understanding of our primary business, and the recent turmoil in home-building

markets has only confused matters further.

We are hopeful that we will complete the sell out of our Denver project within the next

12 months. Through March 31, 2008, we had transferred title to 205 out of 259 condominium

units we have constructed there. We are now evaluating alternative ways to sell our Connecticur

and New York projects in order to concentrate on our primary business of delivering timely and

accurate commercial real estate information.

We remain confident that the marketplace will ultimately recognize that we are a thriving,

business information, recurring revenue company and will value us in accordance with the

multiples enjoyed by our peers.

Thank you for your continuing support of Reis.

Yours sincerely,

Lloyd Lynford
Chief Executive Officer
April 25, 2008

* In this lercer, we present EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP measure. We have provided reconciliations of EBITDA to the applicable GAAF

measure in “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resules of Operations — Reconciliation of Ner Income

to EBITDA™ in Reis's 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is included in this annual report to stockhaolders.
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Item 1. Business.

Organization

Reis, Inc., the “Company” or “Reis” (formerly Wellsford Real Properties, Inc., which we refer to as Wellsford), is a
Maryland corporation. The name change from Wellsford to Reis occurred in June 2007 after the completion of the
merger of the privately keld company, Reis, Inc. (which we refer to as Private Reis) with and into Reis Services,
LLC (which we refer to as Reis Services), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wellsford {which events we refer to as the
Merger).

Business
Private Reis’s Historic Business

Private Reis was founded in 1980 as a provider of commercial real estate market information and today is a leader in
that field. Reis maintains a proprietary database containing detailed information on commercial properties in
neighborhoods and metropolitan markets throughout the U.S. The database contains information on apartment,
retail, office and industrial properties and is used by real estate investors, lenders and other professionals to make
informed buying, selling and financing decisions. In addition, Reis data is used by debt and equity investors to
assess and quantify the risks of default and loss associated with individual mortgages, properties, portfolios and real
estate backed securities. Reis currently provides its information services to many of the nation’s leading lending
institutions, equity investors, brokers and appraisers.

Reis’s flagship product is Reis SE, which provides online access to information and analytical tools designed to
facilitate both debt and equity transactions. In addition to trend and forecast analysis at neighborhood and
metropolitan levels, the product offers detailed building-specific information such as rents, vacancy rates and lease
terms, property sale information, new construction listings and property valuation estimates. Reis SE is designed to
meet the demand for timely and accurate information to support the decision-making of property owners,
developers and builders, banks and non-bank lenders, and equity investors, all of whom require access to
information on both the performance and pricing of assets, including detailed data on market transactions, supply
and absorption. This information is critical to all aspects of valuing assets and financing their acquisition,
development, and construction.

Reis’s revenue model is based primarily on annual subscriptions that are paid in accordance with contractual billing
terms. Reis recognizes revenue from its contracts on a ratable basis; for example, one-twelfth of the value of a one-
year contract is recognized monthly.

Industry Background

Commercial real estate represents a significant share of the overall business activity and national wealth in the U.S.
As reported by Real Estate Roundtable (2007), the combined assets of U.S. commercial real estate accounts for over
$5 wrillion of the nation’s domestic assets, and is equivalent to approximately 35% of the total market capitalization
of U.S. stock markets. Thousands of commercial real estate properties are sold, purchased, financed, and securitized
each year, hundreds of millions of square feet of new construction projects are completed, and a simitar number of
square feet are signed to new leases,

The varied participants in U.S. commercial real estate demand timely and accurate information to support their
decision-making. Participants in the asset market, such as property owners, developers and builders, banks and non-
bank lenders, and equity investors, require access to information on both the performance and pricing of assets,
including detailed data on market transactions, supply, and absorption. This information is critical to all aspects of
valuing assets and financing their acquisition, development and construction. Additionally, brokers, operators and
lessors require access to detailed information concerning current and historical rents, vacancies, concessions,
operating expenses, and other market and property-specific performance measures.

As a growing number of institutional investors have set permanent aliocations for commercial real estate, and as
banks’ exposure to commercial real estate has grown over the last decade, regulatory agencies have increased the
requirement for data-driven analysis of portfolio risk. Specific initiatives that increase these institutions’ need for
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consistent, reliable data and analysis include the recently adopted New Basel Capital Accord (Basel iI) and direct
guidance from the Federal Reserve System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, mandating market analysis and portfolio management with board and management-level
reporting.

Operations

As commercial real estate markets have grown in size and complexity, Reis has invested in the areas critical to
supporting the information needs of real estate professionals in both the asset market and the space leasing market.
In particular, Reis has:

» developed expertise in data collection across multiple markets and property types;

» invested in the analytical expertise to develop decision support systems around property valuations, cre it
analytics and transaction support;

« created product development expertise to collect market feedback and translate it into new products and
reporis; and -

« invested in a robust technology infrastructure to disseminate these tools to the wide variety of market
participants.

These investments have established Reis as a leading provider of commercial real estate information and analyti:al
tools to the investment community. The depth and breadth of Reis’s data and expertise will be critical in allowing
Reis to grow its business. As of December 31, 2007, Reis had over 730 companies under signed contracts.
Generally, each company has multiple users entitled to access Reis SE. These numbers do not include users who pay
for individual reports by credit card.

Reis continues to develop and introduce new products, expand and add new data, and find new ways to deliver
existing information to meet and anticipate client demand, as more fully described below under “Products ¢nd
Services.”

Proprietary Databases

Over the last 25 years, Reis has developed expertise in collecting, screening and organizing volumes of data into its
proprietary databases. Each quarter, a rotating sample of building owners, leasing agents, and managers are
surveyed to obtain key building performance statistics including, among others, occupancy rates, rents, rent
discounts, free rent allowances, tenant improvement allowances, lease terms and operating expenses. All survey
responses are subjected to an established quality assurance and validation process. At the property level, surveyors
compare the data reported by building contacts with the previous record for the preperty and question any unusual
.changes in rents and vacancies. Whenever necessary, follow-up calls are placed to building contacts for verification
or clarification of the results. All aggregate market data at the neighborhood (subrnarket) and city (market) levels
are also subjected to comprehensive quality controls.

In addition to the core property database, Reis maintains a new construction database that monitors projects that are
being added to the covered markets. The database reports relevant criteria such as project size, property type and
location for planned and proposed projects, projects under construction, and projects nearing completion.

Finally, Reis also maintains a sales comparables database that captures information such as buyer, seller, purchase
price, capitalization rate and financing details, where available, for each transaction over $2,000,000 in our covered
markets.

Products and Services

Reis SE, available through the www.reis.com web site, serves as a delivery platform for the thousands of reports
containing Reis’s primary research data and forecasts. Access to the core system is by secure password only and can
be customized to accommodate the needs of various customers. For example, the product can be tailored to provide
access 1o all or only certain markets, property types and report combinations. The Reis SE interface has been refined
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over the past seven years to accommodate real estate professionals who need to perform market-based trend and
forecast analysis, property specific research, comparable property analysis, and generate valuation and credit
analysis estimates at the single property and portfolio levels.

On a quarterly basis, Reis updates thousands of neighborhood and city level reports that cover historical trends,
current observations and, in a majority of its markets, five year forecasts on all key real estate market indicators.
These updates are supported by property, city, and neighborhood data gathered during the prior quarter.

Reports are retrievable by street address, property type (office, apartment, retail, and industrial) or market/
submarket and are available as full color presentation quality documents or in spreadsheet formats. These reports
are used by Reis’s customers 1o assist in due diligence and to support commercial real estate transactions such as
loan originations, underwriting, acquisitions, risk assessment (including loan loss reserves and impairment
analyses), portfolio monitoring and management, asset management, appraisal and market analysis.

Other significant elements of Reis SE include:

 real estate news stories chosen by Reis analysts to provide information relevant to a particular market and
property type;

_ * customizable email alerts that let users receive proactive updates on only those reports or markets that they
are interested in;

* property comparables that allow users to identify buildings with similar rents, sales or new construction
projects to their own; -

¢ quarterly “first glance” reports that provide an early assessment of the office, apartment, and retail sectors
across the U.S. and preliminary commentary on new construction activity; and

+ the “quarterly briefing” — a conference call during which Reis provides an analysis of its latest findings.

Reis is continuously enhancing Reis SE by developing new products and applications. Examples of recently
released enhancements include:

* coverage of an additional 52 apartment markets in April 2007 with a further addition of 35 apartment
markets in August 2007, bringing the total number of apartment markets covered to 169;

* publication of property construction updates on a weekly basis (August 2007);

» introduction of a property construction search capability that allows users to identify new construction
projects near a specific address (August 2007); and

* the introduction of Reis SE version 4.0 in February 2008. This release introduced enhanced mapping and
filtering capabilities around rent, sales and new construction comparables databases. Clients now benefit
from the integration of Reis data with Microsoft’s Virtual Earth mapping software, and from live display of
group summary statistics pertaining to structural characteristics, performance and sales.

Cost of Service and Renewal Rates

Reis’s data is available for sale in four primary ways: (1) annual and multi-year subscriptions to Reis SE; {2) capped
subscriptions allowing customers to purchase a limited number of reports; (3) online credit card purchases; and
(4) custom data requests, Annual subscription fees range from $1,000 to over $500,000, depending on the
combination of markets, property types and reports subscribed to, and allow the client to download an unlimited
number of reports over a 12-month period. Capped subscriptions generally range from $1,000 to $25,000 and allow
clients to download a fixed number of reports over a 12-month period. Credit card sales typically range from $150 to
3695 per report and are available 10 anyone who visiis Reis’s retail web site or contacts Reis via telephone, fax or
email. However, certain reports are only available by a subscription or capped subscription account. Finally, custom
data deliverables range in price from $1,000 for a specific data element to hundreds of thousands of dollars for
custom portfolio valuation and credit analysis.




Subscription renewal rates are an important measure of customer satisfaction. Over the past five years, Reis has
renewed an average of 94% of its subscription revenue.

Customer Service and Training

Reis focuses heavily on proactive training and customer support. Reis’s dedicatec: customer service team offers
customized on-site training and web-based and telephonic support, maximize product knowledge, and solicit
customer input for future product enhancements and promote usage. The corporate training team meets regularly
with a large proportion of Reis’s customers to identify opportunities for product adoption and increased usage.
Additional points of customer contact include mid-year service reviews, a web-based customer feedback program
and account manager visits.

Proprietary Rights

To protect our proprietary rights, we rely upon a combination of:
- trade secret, copyright, trademark, database protection and other laws at thz Federal, state and local level;
+ nondisclosure, non-competition and other contractual provisions with employees, vendors and consultants;
* restrictive license agreements with customers; and
= other technical measures.

We protect our software’s source code and our database as either trade secrets or under copyright law. We license
our services under license agreements that restrict the disclosure and use of our proprietary information and prohibit
the unauthorized reproduction, re-engineering or transfer of the information in the products and/or services we
provide.

We also protect the secrecy of our proprietary database, our trade secrets and our proprietary information through
confidentiality and noncompetition agreements with our employees, vendors and consultants. Our services also
include technical measures designed to deter and detect unauthorized copying of our intellectual property.

We have filed trademark applications to register our most prominent trademarks, including “Reis,” the Reis lago
and “Your Window Onto the Real Estate Market”.

Competition

Real estate transactions involve multiple participants who require accurate historical and current market infor-
mation. Key factors that influence the competitive position of commercial real estate information vendors include:
the depth and breadth of underlying databases; price; ease of use, flexibility and functionality of the software; the
ability to keep the data up to date; scope of coverage by geography and property type; customer training und
support; adoption of the service by industry leaders; consistent product innovation and recognition by business trade
publications.

Reis’s senior management believes that, on a national level, only a small number of firms serve the property
information needs of commercial real estate investors. Reis competes directly and indirectly for customers with
online services or web sites targeted to commercial real estate professionals such as Costar Group Inc., Real Capital
Analytics Inc., Torto Wheaton Research, Property and Portfolio Research, Inc. and Loopnet, Inc., as well as with in-
house real estate research departments,

Wellsford’s Historic Business

_ The Company was originally formed on January 8, 1997 as a corporate subsidiary of Wellsford Residential Property

Trust (which we refer to as the Residential Trust). On May 30, 1997, Residential Trust merged (which we refer to as
the EQR Merger) with Equity Residential, or EQR, at which time Residential Trust contributed certain of its asiets
to the Company and the Company assumed certain liabilities of Residential Trust and distributed to its comnion
stockholders all of its outstanding shares of the Company. Prior to the adoption of the Company’s Plan of
Liquidation, which we refer to as the Plan (see below), the Company was operating as a real estate merchant
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banking firm which acquired, developed, financed and operated real properties and invested in private and public
real estate companies. The Company’s primary operating activities immediately prior to the Merger were the
development, construction and sale of its three residential projects and its approximate 23% ownership interest in
Private Reis. The Company continues to develop, construct and sell these remaining residential projects.

Residential Development Activities

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s residential development activities and other investments were comprised
primarily of the following:

* The 259 unit Gold Peak condominium development in Highlands Ranch, Colorado, which we refer to as
Gold Peak. Sales commenced in January 2006 and 185 Gold Peak units were sold through December 31,
2007.

* The Orchards, a single family home development in East Lyme, Connecticut, upon which the Company
could build 161 single family homes on 224 acres, which we refer to as East Lyme. Sales commenced in
June 2006 and 19 homes were sold through December 31, 2007.

» The Stewardship, a single family home development in Claverack, New York, which is subdivided into 48
developable single family home lots on 235 acres, which we refer to as Claverack.

Additional Segment Financial Information

See Footnote 3 of the consolidated financial statements included in this filing for additional information regarding
all of the Company’s segments.

Merger with Private Reis

On October 11, 2006, the Company announced that it and Reis Services entered into a definitive merger agreement
with Private Reis to acquire Private Reis and that the Merger was approved by the independent members of the
Company’s board of directors, which we refer to as the Board. The Merger was approved by the stockholders of both
the Company and Private Reis on May 30, 2007 and was completed later that day. The previously announced Plan of
the Company was terminated as a result of the Merger and the Company returned to the going concern basis of
accounting from the liquidation basis of accounting. For accounting purposes, the Merger was deemed to have
occurred at the close of business on May 31, 2007 and the statements of operations include the operations of Reis
Services, effective June 1, 2007.

The merger agreement provided for half of the aggregate consideration to be paid in Company stock and the
remaining half to be paid in cash to Private Reis stockholders, except Wellsford Capital, the Company’s subsidiary
which owned a 23% converted preferred interest and which received only Company stock. The Company issued
4,237,074 shares of common stock to Private Reis stockholders, other than Wellsford Capital, used $25,000,000 of
the cash consideration (which was funded by a $27,000,000 bank loan facility (the “Bank Loan™), the commitment
for which was obtained by Private Reis in October 2006 and was drawn upon immediately prior to the Merger), and
approximately $9,573,000 provided by the Company. The per share value of the Company’s common stock, for
purposes of the exchange of stock interests in the Merger, had been previously established at $8.16 per common
share.

The value of the Company’s stock for purposes of recording the acquisition was based upon the average closing
price of the Company’s stock for a short period near the date that the merger agreement was executed of $7.10 per
commaon share, as provided for under relevant accounting literature.

Upon the completion of the Merger and the settlement of certain outstanding loans, Lloyd Lynford and Jonathan
Garfield, both executive officers and directors of Private Reis, became the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Vice President, respectively, of the Company and both became directors of the Company. The Company’s former
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Jeffrey Lynford, remained Chairman of the Company. Lloyd Lynford and
Jeffrey Lynford are brothers. The merger agreement provided that the outstanding loans to Lloyd Lynford and
Mr. Garfield aggregating approximately $1,305,000 be simultaneously satisfied with 159,873 of the Company’s
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shares received by them in the Merger. Immediately following the consummation of the Merger, the Private Reis
stockholders owned approximately 38% of the Company.

As the Company is the acquirer for accounting purposes, the acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase by the
Company. Accordingly, the acquisition price of the remainder of Private Reis acquired in this transaction combin:zd
with the historical cost basis of the Company’s historical investment in Private Reis has been allocated to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on respective fair values.

Plan of Liguidation and Return to Going Concern Accounting

On May 19, 2005, the Board approved the Plan, and on November 17, 2005, the Company’s stockholders ratified the
Plan. The Plan contemplated the orderly sale of each of the Company’s remaining assets, which are either ownzd
directly or through the Company’s joint ventures, the collection of all outstanding loans from third parties, the
orderly disposition or completion of construction of development properties, the discharge of all outstanding
liabilities to third parties and, after the establishment of appropriate reserves, the distribution of all remaining cash
to stockholders. The Plan also permitted the Board to acquire additional Private Reis shares and/or discontinue the
Plan without further stockholder approval. An initial liquidating distribution of §14.00 per share was made on
December 14, 2005 to stockholders of record on December 2, 2005. Upon consummation of the Merger, the Plan
was terminated. Consequently, it was necessary to recharacterize $1.15 of the $14.00 per share cash distribution
from what may have been characterized at that time as a return of capital for Company stockholders to taxable
dividend income.

For all periods preceding stockholder approval of the Plan on November 17, 2005, the Company’s financial
statements were presented on the going concern basis of accounting. As required by Generally Accepted.
Accounting Principles, or GAAP, the Company adopted the liquidation basis of accounting as of the close of
business on November 17, 2005. Under the liquidation basis of accounting, assets are stated at their ¢stimated net
realizable value and liabilities are stated at their estimated settlement amounts, which estimates have been
periodically reviewed and adjusted as appropriate.

The Company’s net assets in liquidation at May 31, 2007 (prior to the Merger and the return to going concern
accounting), and at December 31, 2006 were:

May 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Net assets in liquidation .. ...... ... ... . . .. i il $ 51.922,617 3§ 57,595,561
Per SharE . . o ot e e e e e $ 776 % 8.67
Common stock outstanding . . ........... e 6,695,246 6,046,738

The reported amounts for net assets in liquidation presented development projects ai estimated net realizable values
at each respective date after giving effect to the present value discounting of estimated net proceeds therefrom. All
other assets were presented at estimated net realizable vatue on an undiscounted basis. The amount also inclucied
reserves for future estimated general and administrative expenses and other costs and for cash payments on
outstanding stock options during the liquidation. The primary reasons for the decline in net assets in liquidation of
approximately $5,673,000 from December 31, 2006 to May 31, 2007 are the increase in the reserve for stock
options due to the increase in the price of the Company’s stock from $7.52 to $11.00 per share, representng
approximately $4,636,000 of the decrease, and the decline in the value of real estate assets under development.

The Company has returned to the going concern basis of accounting effective at the close of business on May 31,
2007,

Corporate Information

The Company’s executive offices are located at 530 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10036; telephone:
(212) 921-1122; web site: www.reis.com; email: investorrelations@reis.com. ’

To access investor relations information and the Company’s other documents filed with the SEC, visit www.reis.com.
Copies of our most recent annual report on Form 10-K, any later filed quarterly report on Form 10-Q and curient

g




reports on Form 8-K, as well as any amendments thereto, are available on our website, as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Please note that information on the
Company’s web site is not part of this Form 10-K filing. '

On a consolidated basis, the Company had 137 employees as of December 31, 2007.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Company makes forward-looking statements in this annual report on Form 10-K. These forward-looking
statements may relate to the Company’s or management’s outlook or expectations for earnings, revenues, expenses,
asset quality, or other future financial or business performance, strategies or expectations, or the impact of legal,
regulatory or supervisory matters on our business, operations or performance. Specifically, forward-looking
statements may include:

» statements relating to future services and product development of the Reis Services segment;

* statements relating to future business prospects, potential acquisitions, revenue, income, cash flows and
other business metrics of the Company and its businesses, including EBITDA; and

LT LIS LI

* statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “estimate, project,” “intend,”

“expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “target” or similar expressions.

plan,

LIS

These statements reflect management’s judgment based on currently available information and involve a number of
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
staternents. With respect to these forward-looking statements, management has made certain assumptions. Future
performance cannot be assured. Actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements.
Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:

* revenues may be lower than expected,;

» the possibility of litigation arising as a result of terminating the Plan;

* adverse changes in the real estate industry and the markets in which the Company operates;

* the inability to retain and increase the Company’s customer base;

= competition;

« the inability to attract and retain sales and senior management personnel;

« difficulties in protecting the security, confidentiality, integrity and reliability of the Company’s data;
* legal and regulatory issues;

¢ changes in accounting policies or practices; and

« the risk factors listed under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this annual report on Form 10-K.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of
this annual report on Form 10-K. Except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
update or release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect any events or circumstances after the
date of this annual report on Form 10-K or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following is a discussion of the risk factors that Reis’s management believes are material to Reis at this time.
These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing Reis and there may be additional matters that Reis is
unaware of or that Reis currently considers immaterial. All of these could adversely affect Reis’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. Our commercial real estate information services business is our
primary business segment. However, our residential development and sales activities significantly impact our
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows,
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Risk Factors Relating to Reis Generally

Our common stock is thinly traded and therec may continue to be little or no liquidity for shares of our cors-
mon stock.

Historically, our common stock has been thinly traded and an active trading market for our common stock may not
develop. In the absence of an active public trading market, investors trying to sell their shares may find it difficult to
find buyers for their shares at prices quoted in the market or at all.

Our Board may effect a transaction such as a reverse stock split, or an odd lot or other share repurchase program,
with respect to our common stock. Wellsford effected an odd lot share repurchase program in 1999, strategically
repurchased shares between 1999 and 2001, and executed a reverse stock split in 2000. All decisions regarding any
such transaction will be at the discretion of our Board and will be evaluated from time to time by the Board in light
of the price per share of our common stock, the number of shares of our common stock outstanding, applicable
NASDAQ rules, applicable law and other factors that our Board deems relevant. If we effect any such transaction,
the liquidity of our common stock could be adversely affected by the reduced number of shares that would e
outstanding after the transaction. In addition, effecting a share repurchase program would cause a reduction in our
total market capitalization and would require the payment of cash by Reis to stockkolders, which couid adversely
impact our liquidity. If we effect a reverse stock split, there can be no assurance that the market price per share of our
common stock after the reverse stock split will rise or remain constant in proportion to the reduction in the number
of shares of our common stock outstanding before the reverse stock split.

Our executive officers and directors own a significant percentage of our stock and have significant control
of our management and affairs, and they may take actions which may not be in: the best interest of other
stockholders. :

The executive officers and directors of Reis beneficially owned approximately 24.2% of Reis’s outstanding
common stock as of December 31, 2007. Of this total, Lloyd Lynford (7.0%), Jonathan Garfield (6.7%) and Jeffrzy
Lynford (5.2%) beneficially owned an aggregate of 18.9%. This significant concentration of share ownership may
adversely affect the trading price of our common stock because investors may perceive disadvantages in owning
stock in companies where management holds a significant percentage of the voting power. Consequently, this
concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, including a merger,
consolidation or other business combination involving Reis, or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a
tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control, even if such a change of control would benefit Reis’s
stockholders other than the group of directors and officers described above.

Our success depends on retaining key executive officers and personnel and attracting and retaining capable
management and operating personnel.

Reis’s business plan with respect to its commercial real estate information services business was developed, in large
part, by Reis’s President and Chief Executive Officer, Lioyd Lynford, Reis’s Executive Vice President, Jonathan
Garfield, and Reis Services’ Chief Operating Officer, William Sander. The continued implementation and
development of Reis’s business plan, and our business generally, requires their skills and knowledge. Reis may
not be able to offset the impact of the loss of the services of Lloyd Lynford, Mr. Garfield, Mr. Sander or other kzy
officers or employees because its business requires skilled management, as well as technical, product aad
technology, and sales and marketing personnel, who are in high demand and are often subject to competing
offers. Competition for qualified employees is intense in the information industry, and the loss of a substant:al
number of qualified employees, or an inability to attract, retain and motivate additional highly skilled employees
could have a material adverse impact on Reis.

Our real estate operations depend greatly on the services of Jeffrey H. Lynford, our Executive Chairman. Jeffray
Lynford was Chairman of Wellsford’s Board since Wellsford's formation in 1997 through the May 2007 merger, axd
was Wellsford's President and Chief Executive Officer from April 2002 through the May 2007 merger. In additicn,
our real estate operations rely on David M. Strong, our Senior Vice President — Development, specifically with
respect to the Gold Peak project. The loss of the services of either Jeffrey Lynford or Mr. Strong could have: a
material adverse effect on our business, operations, and financial condition, including the terms and conditions
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under which we conduct our residential development and sales activities related to our assets and continued
availability of construction loans. Furthermore, Jeffrey Lynford’s contract provides that he is no longer required to
devote substantially all of his time, attention and energies during business hours to our business activities. He may
now perform services for and engage in business activities with other persons so long as such services and activities
do not prevent him from fulfilling his fiduciary responsibilities to Reis. Reis’s business operations could be
negatively impacted if we are unable to retain the services of Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Strong, as well as other key
personnel, or hire suitable replacements.

Although Reis uses various incentive programs to retain and attract key personnel, these measures may not be
sufficient to either attract or retain, as applicable, the personnel required to ensure our success. Our existing equity
incentive compensation plan expired in March 2008. If our stockholders do not approve a new equity incentive plan
at Reis’s 2008 annual stockholders meeting, our ability to attract and retain key personnel may be adversely
impacted. If a new equity incentive plan is adopted, issuances pursuant to that plan would result in dilution to Reis
stockholders.

We may be subject to litigation as a result of our termination of the Plan.

Historically, extraordinary corporate actions, such as terminating the Plan, have occasionally led to securities class
action lawsuits being filed against a company. In addition, as a consequence of terminating the Plan, it was
necessary [o recharacterize $1.15 of the December 14, 2005 cash distribution of $14.00 per share from what may
have been characterized at that time as a return of capital for our stockholders to taxable dividend income. This
recharacterization may cause some of our stockholders to be subject to additional taxation and/or regulatory action
if they fail to report it properly. We are not currently aware of any pending or threatened lawsuits relating to the Plan
ot its termination. However, if such litigation should occur, it is likely to be expensive and, even if we ultimately
prevail, the process will be time consuming and will divert management’s attention from operating our business. We
cannot predict the outcome or the amount of expenses and damages, but the amounts could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our governing documents and Maryland law contain anti-takeover provisions that may discourage
acquisition bids or merger proposals, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Reis’s articles of amendment and restatement contain provisions designed to discourage attempls to acquire control
of Reis by merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or removal of incumbent management without the approval of our
Board. These provisions may make it more difficult or expensive for a third party to acquire control of Reisevenif a
change of control would be beneficial to the interests of its stockholders. These provisions could discourage
potential takeover attempts and could adversely affect the market price of Reis’s common stock. Reis’s governing
documents:

* provide for a classified board of directors, which could discourage potential acquisition proposals and
could delay or prevent a change of control; and

+ authorize the issuance of blank check stock that could be issued by Reis’s Board to thwart a takeover
attemnpt.

In addition, under Maryland law, certain “business combinations” (including certain issuances of equity securities)
between a Maryland corporation and any person who beneficially owns 0% or more of the voting power of the
corpoeration’s shares or an affiliate thereof are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the
interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Reis’s Board has exempted from the Maryland statute any
business combinations with Jeffrey Lynford or Edward Lowenthal or any of their affiliates or any other person
acting in concert or as a group with any of such persons and, consequently, the five-year prohibition and the
supermajority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between such persons and Reis.

Increases in interest rates could materially increase our interest expense.

As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $37,633,000 of variable rate debt outstanding. We may incur
additional variable rate indebtedness in the future. Accordingly, if interest rates increase, so will our interest costs,




which may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.
We have limited our exposure to significant interest rate increases on some of our existing variable rate debt by
purchasing interest rate caps. In purchasing interest rate caps, we attempt to protect against significant increases in
interest rates, weighing the cost of such caps against the protection afforded. Based on the December 31, 2007 debt
balances and the notional amount of the interest rate caps, a 1% increase in the base interest rates of our variable rate
debt would result in approximately $324,000 of additional interest being incurred on an annualized basis. The effect
of a 1% increase in the base interest rates of our variable rate debi, without considering the interest rate caps, would
result in approximately $376,000 of additional interest being incurred on an annualized basis.

Our ability to use the net operating loss carryforwards of the historic Wellsford business will be subject to
limitation and, under certain circumstances, may be eliminated. .

Generally, a change of more than 50% in the ownership of a corporation’s stock, by value, over a three-year period
constitutes an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we
refer to as the Code. In general, Section 382 imposes an annual limitation on a corporation’s ability 1o use its net
operating losses, or NOLs, from taxable years or periods ending on or before the date of an ownership change to
offset 1.S. Federal taxable income in any posi-change year. The historic Wellsford business experienced such an
ownership change as a result of the May 2007 merger; as a result, we are subject to the limitation under Section 332
with respect to pre-change NOLS of the historic Wellsford business. Section 382 imposes significant limitations on
the use of historic Wellsford’s NOL carryforwards. The annual limitation on our use of NOLs through 2027, as a
result of the ownership change, is approximately $2,779,000 per year.

Moreover, if a corporation experiences an ownership change and does not satisfy the “continuity of business
enterprise” requirement (which generally requires that the corporation continue its historic business or use a
significant portion of its historic business assets in a business for the two-year pericd beginning on the date of tae
ownership change), it cannot, subject to certain exceptions, use any NOL from a pre-change period to offset taxatle
income in post-change years. Although there can be no assurance that this requirement will be met with respect to
the ownership change effected by the May 2007 merger, our management belizves that we will satisfy this
requirement.

We have NOL carryforwards, for Federal income tax purposes, resulting from Wellsford’s merger with Value
Property Trust in 1998 and operating losses in 2004, 2006 and 2007 (prior to the Merger). Assuming we are able to
satisfy the continuity of business enterprise requirement described above, we expect that we could only potentially
utilize $38,100,000 of the remaining NOLs existing at December 31, 2007, based on the new $2,779,000 annual
limitation and expirations. Approximately $9,958,000 of this amount expires in 2008 and 2010. The actual ability to
utilize the tax benefit of any existing NOLs will be subject to future facts and circumstances with respect to meetiag
the above described “continuity of business enterprise” requirements at the time NOLs are being utilized on a tax
return and when there are realized losses on sales of assets.

Reis Services has existing NOLSs, expiring in the years 2019 through 2026, aggregating approximately $11,800,000.
These losses may be utilized against consolidated taxable income, subject to a $5,300,000 annual limitation.

Risk Factors Relating to Qur Commercial Real Estate Information Services Business

A failure to attract and retain customers, and any failure to increase the number of customers, could harra
our business.

Our customers include subscribers to our flagship product, Reis Subscriber Edition, or Reis SE. In addition to
subscribers who typically pay for their annual service in advance, customers also include those who purchase cur
service on an ad hoc and pay as you go basis. Either category of customer may decids not to continue to use Reis SE
because of budget or other competitive reasons. If subscribers choose not to renew their contracts or decrease th2ir
use of our information, or if we are unable to attract new subscribers, our revenues and profitability could be
adversely affected.

To grow the business, we must convince prospective subscribers and existing custoniers to expand their use of Rzis
SE and our other products. Prospective customers may not be familiar with our service and may be accustomed to
using other methods of conducting commercial real estate market research and property valuations. There can be no
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assurance that we will be successful in continuing to acquire additional customers. Moreover, it is difficult to
estimate the total number of active, prospective customers in the U.S. during any given period. If we reach the point
at which we have attempted to sell'our services to a significant majority of commercial real estate professionals in
the U.S., the ability to increase our customer base could be limited.

Our revenues are concentrated among certain key customers.

Our commercial real estate information services business has approximately 730 customers at December 31, 2007,
but derives approximately 33% of its revenues from 25 customers. If we were to experience a reduction or loss of
business from a number of these 25 largest customers, it could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and,
depending on the significance of the loss, our financial condition, cash flows and profitability. In addition, although
we generally impose contractual restrictions limiting our immediate exposure to revenue reductions due to mergers
and consalidations and our pricing model is based on projected usage, we may be impacted by consolidation among
our customers and potential customers, as a result of their reduced usage or greater bargaining power. The largest
customer accounted for 2.4% of Reis Services revenues for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007.

We may be unable to compete successfully with our current or future competitors.

We have competition from both local companies that prepare commercial reat estate research with respect to their
specific geographic areas and national companies that prepare national commercial real estate research. Specif-
ically, certain of our products compete with those of Torto Wheaton Research, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CB
Richard Ellis, Property and Portfolio Research, a subsidiary of the Daily Mail Group, and Costar Group, Inc. Some
of our competitors, either alone or with affiliated entities, may have greater access to resources than we do.
Competition could negatively impact our revenues and profitability.

We may not be able to sustain revenue growth in our commercial real estate information services business
and future financial performance may be difficult to assess.

Although our commercial real estate information services business was formed it 1980, it first offered services
online in 1996. Although profitable since fiscal 2004, our commercial real estate information services business
experienced losses in 1996 through fiscal 2003 from the introduction of online services. We may incur additional
expenses, such as marketing and product development expenses, with the expectation that revenues will grow in the
future. However, such expectations may not be realized.

We must continue to obtain information from multiple sources.

The quality of Reis SE depends substantially on information provided by a large number of commercial real estate
brokers, agents, and property owners. If a significant number of these sources choose not to continue providing
information to us, our product could be negatively affected, potentiaily resulting in an increase in customer
cancellations and a failure to acquire new customers.

Our revenues, expenses and operating results could be affected by general'economic conditions or by
changes in commercial real estate markets, which are cyclical,

Qur business is sensitive to trends in the general economy and trends in local, regional and national commercial real
estate markets, which are unpredictable. Therefore, operating results, to the extent they reflect changes in the
broader commercial real estate industry, may be subject to significant fluctuations. A number of factors could have
an effect on our revenues, expenses, operating results or cash flows, such as:

= periods of economic slowdown or recession in the U.S. or locally;

» inflation;

» flows of capital into or out of real estate investment in the U.S. or various regions of the U.S.;
« changes in levels of rent or appreciation of asset values;

* changing interest rates;
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* tax and accounting policies;

» the cost of capital;

* ¢osts of construction;

» increased unemployment;

* lower consumer confidence;

* lower wage and salary levels;

= war, terrorist attacks or natural disasters; or

« the public perception that any of these conditions may occur.

If our customers choose not to use Reis SE because of economic conditions, and we are not successful in attracting
new customers, our reventes, expenses, operating results, cash flows or stock price could be negatively affected.

A primary source of new customers for us is the commercial real estate professional community, which may
be reluctant to adopt our products and services.

Our success has depended on our ability to convince commercial real estate professionals that Reis SE is superior to
other traditional methods of conducting commercial real estate market research and valuation. Many commercial
real estate professionals are used to conducting market research and valuation through the traditional means of
relying on a network of contacts in a local market. Commercial real estate professicnals may prefer to continue to
use traditional methods or may be slow to adopt our products and services. If we are unable to continue to persuade
commercial real estate professionals that Reis SE is a superior alternative to traditional means of conducting market
research and valuation, our operating results and profitability may be negatively affected.

Our success depends on our ability to introduce new or upgraded services or products.

To continue to attract new customers to Reis SE, we may need to introduce new products or services. We may choose
to develop new products and services independently or choose to license or otherwise integrate content and data
from third parties. The introduction of new products and services could impose costs on our business and require the
use of resources, and there is no guarantee that we will continue to be able to access new content and technologies on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. If customers or potential customers do not recognize the value of our new
services or enhancements to existing services, operating results could be negatively affected. We may incur
significant costs and experience difficulties in developing and delivering these new or upgraded services or
products.

Efforts to enhance and improve the ease of use, responsiveness, functionality and features of our existing products
and services have inherent risks, and we may not be able to manage these product developments and enhancements
successfully or in a cost effective manner. If we are unable to continue to develop new or upgraded services or
products, then customers may choose not to use our products and services. Our growth would be negatively
impacted if we were unable to successfully market and sell any new services or upgrades.

If we fail to protect confidential information against security breaches, or if customers are reluctant to use
products because of privacy concerns, we might experience a loss in profitability.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of use on our web site, as part of our customer registration process, we collect
and use personally identifiable information. Industry-wide incidents or incidents with respect to our web sites,
including theft, alteration, deletion or misappropriation of information, security breaches, computer hackers,
viruses or anything else manifesting contaminating or destructive properties, or changes in industry standards,
regulations or laws could deter people from vsing the Internet or our web site to conduct transactions that involve the
transmission of confidential information, which could harm our business. Under the laws of certain jurisdictions. if
there is a breach of our computer systems and we know or suspect that unencrypted personal customer data has been
stolen, we may be required to inform any customers whose data was stolen, which could harm our reputation and
business.
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Our business could be harmed if we are unable to maintain the integrity and reliability of our data.

Our success depends on our customers’ confidence in the comprehensiveness, accuracy, and reliability of the data
we provide. We believe that we take adequate precautions to safeguard the completeness and accuracy of our data
and that the information is generally current, comprehensive and accurate. Nevertheless, data is susceptible to
electronic malfeasance including, theft, alteration, deletion, viruses and computer hackers. If we cannot maintain
the quality of our data, demand for our services could diminish and we may be exposed to lawsuits claiming
damages resulting from inaccurate data.

We may be unable to enforce or defend our ownership or use of intellectual property.

Our business depends in large measure on the intellectual property utilized in our methodologies, software and
database. We rely on a combination of trademark, trade secret and copyright laws, registered domain names,
contracts which include non-disclosure provisions, work-for-hire provisions, and technical security measures to
protect our intellectual property rights. However, we do not hold Federal registrations covering all of our trademarks
and copyrightable materials. We also do not own any patents or patent applications. Our business could be
significantly harmed if we do not continue to protect our intellectual property. The same would be true if claims are
made against us alleging infringement of the intellectual property rights of others. Any intellectual property claims,
regardless of merit, could be expensive to litigate or settle, and could require substantial amounts of time and
expenditures.

If our web site or other services experience system failures or malicious attacks, our customers may be dis-
satisfied and our operations could be impaired.

Our business depends upon the satisfactory performance, reliability and availability of our web site. Problems with
the web site could result in reduced demand for our services. Furthermore, the software underiying our services is
complex and may contain undetected errors. Despite testing, we cannot be certain that errors will not be found in our
software. Any errors could result in adverse publicity, impaired use of our services, loss of revenues, cost increases
or legat claims by customers.

Additionally, our services substantially depend on systems provided by third parties, over whom we have little
control. Interruptions in service could result from the failure of data providers, telecommunications providers, or
other third parties, including computer hackers. We depend on these third-party providers of Internet communi-
cation services to provide continuous and uninterrupted service. We also depend on Internet service providers that
provide access to our services. Any disruption in the Internet access provided by third-party providers or any failure
of third-party providers to handle higher volumes of user traffic could harm our business.

Our internal network infrastructure could be disrupted or penetrated, which could materially impact both
our ability to provide services and customers’ confidence in our services.

Our operations depend upon our ability to maintain and protect our computer systems, most of which are redundant
and independent systems in separate locations. While we believe that our systems are adequate to support our
operations, our systems may be vulnerable to damage from break-ins, unauthorized access, computer viruses,
vandalism, fire, floods, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorism, acts of war, and other
similar events. Although we maintain insurance against fires, floods, and general business interruptions, the amount
of coverage may not be adequate in any particular case. Furthermore, any damage or disruption could materially
impair or block our ability to provide services, which could significantly impact our business.

Experienced computer programmers, or hackers, may attempt to penetrate our network security from time to time.
Although we have not experienced any security breaches to date and we maintain a firewall, a hacker who
penetrates network security could misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in our services, We
might be required to further expend significant capital and resources to protect against, or to alleviate, probems
caused by hackers. We also may not have a timely remedy against a hacker who is able to penetrate our network
security. In addition to purposeful security breaches, the inadvertent transmission of computer viruses or anything
else manifesting contaminating or destructive properties could expose us to litigation or 1o a material risk of loss,
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Any of these incidents could materially impact our ability to provide services as well as materially impact the
confidence of our customers in our services, either of which could significantly and adversely impact our business.

We may be subject to regulation of advertising and customer solicitation or other newly-adopted laws and
regulations.

As part of our customer registration process, our customers agree to receive emails and other communications from
us. However, we may be subject to restrictions on our ability to communicate with customers through email and
phone calls. Several jurisdictions have proposed or adopted privacy-related laws that restrict or prohibit unsolicit:d
email or spam. These laws may impose significant monetary penalties for violations. In addition, laws or
regulations that could harm our business could be adopted, or reinterpreted so as to affect our activities, by tae
government of the U.S,, state governments, regulatory agencies or by foreign governments or agencies. This could
include, for example, laws regulating the source, content or form of information provided on our web site, tae
information or services we provide or our transmissions over the Internet. Violations or new interpretations of these
laws or regulations may result in penalties or damage our reputation or could increase our costs or make our services
less attractive.

Our revenue, expenses, operating results and cash flows are subject to fluctuations.

Our revenues, expenses, operating results and cash flows have fluctuated in the past and are likely to continue to do
5o in the future. These fluctuations could negatively affect our results of operations during that period and future
periods. Our revenues, expenses, operating results and cash flows may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to
factors including, among others, those described below:

« obtaining new customers and retaining existing customers;
* changes in our marketing or other corporate strategies;
* our introduction of new products and services or changes to existing products and services;
+ the amount and timing of our operating expenses and capital expenditures;
« costs related to acquisitions of businesses or technologies; and
* other factors outside of our control.
The Bank Loan documents contain financial and operating restrictions that limit Reis Services’s access to

credit. If Reis Services fails to comply with the covenants in the Bank Loan documents, Reis Services may
be required to repay the indebtedness on an accelerated basis.

Provisions in the Bank Loan impose restrictions on Reis Services’s ability to, among other things:
« incur additional debt;
« amend its organizational documents;
« pay dividends and make distributions;
e redeem or repurchase outstanding equity;
¢ make certain investments;
+ create certain liens;
» enter into transactions with stockholders and affiliates;
» undergo a change of control; and
» make certain fundamental changes, including engaging in a merger or consolidation,

The credit agreement also contains other customary covenants, including covenants which require Reis Services to
meet specified financial ratios and financial tests. If Reis Services were not able to comply with these covenants in
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the future, the failure to do so may result in the declaration of an event of default and cause Reis Services to be
unable to borrow on the $2,000,000 undrawn portion of the Bank Loan. Furthermore, certain events, such as the
delisting of our common stock from a national stock exchange or the voluntary or involuntary filing by Reis under
any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law (which is not stayed or dismissed within certain time periods), will cause
an event of default. In addition, an event of default, if not cured or waived, may result in the acceleration of the
maturity of indebtedness outstanding under these agreements, which would require Reis Services to pay all amounts
outstanding. If an event of default occurs, Reis Services may not be able to cure it within any applicable cure period,
if at all. If the maturity of this indebtedness is accelerated, Reis Services or Reis may not have sufficient funds
available for repayment or may not have the ability to borrow or obtain sufficient funds to replace the accelerated
indebtedness on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Furthermore, the Bank Loan is secured by Reis Services’s assets
and, therefore, these assets will not be available to secure additional credit.

We may be subject to tax audits or other procedures concerning our tax collection policies.

We do not collect sales or other similar taxes in states other than New York, However, one or more states (other than
New York) may seek to impose sales tax collection obligations on out-of-state companies, such as Reis, which
engage in online commerce. A successful assertion that we should collect sales, use or other taxes on the sale of
merchandise or services into these states could harm our business.

If we are not able to successfully identify or integrate future acquisitions, our business operations and
Jfinancial condition could be adversely affected, and future acquisitions may divert our management’s atten-
tion and consume significant resources.

We may in the future attempt to further expand our markets and services in part through acquisitions of other
complementary businesses, services, databases and technologies. Mergers and acquisitions are inherently risky, and
we cannot assure you that future acquisitions, if any, will be successful. The successful execution of any future
acquisition strategy will depend on our ability to identify, negotiate, complete and integrate such acquisitions and, if
necessary, obtain satisfactory debt or equity financing to fund those acquisitions. Any such acquired businesses
would generally be subject to the risks described in “Risk Factors Relating to Our Commercial Real Estate
Information Services Business” in this section,

Failure to manage and successfully integrate acquired businesses could harm our business. In addition, if we finance
or otherwise complete acquisitions by issuing equity or convertible debt securities, existing stockholders’ own-
ership may be diluted.

Risk Factors Relating to Our Residential Development Activities

We are subject to the risks that generally affect real estate investors and developers.

The value of our real estate assets is subject to certain risks applicable to our assets and inherent in the real estate
industry. In fact, in recent months, real estate values across the United States have declined rapidly. In addition, the
availability of credit for both developers and buyers has significantly decreased. Deteriorating market conditions,
among other factors, have resulted in Reis recording impairment charges of approximately $3,149,000 in December
2007 with respect to the historic Wellsford real estate assets, and future events could cause further impairment
charges to be recorded. These factors, which, if they persist, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition, include:

» downturns in the national, regional and local economies where our properties are located;
* macroeconomic, as well as specific regional and local market conditions;

+ decreases in the availability of debt or other financing, for Reis or for potential purchasers of Reis’s real
estate assets;

» competition from other for-sale housing developments;
» local real estate market conditions, such as oversupply of, or reduction in demand for, residential homes

and condominium units;
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+ increased operating and construction costs, including insurance premiums, utilities, building materials,
labor and real estate taxes:

* increases in interest rates; and

» the cost of complying with environmental, zoning, and other laws.

The market for construction and development of real estate is highly competitive.

Developers and builders compete for, among other things, desirable properties, finar.cing, raw materials and skilled
labor. We compete with large homebuilding companies, many of which have substantially greater financial,
marketing, and sales resources than we do and with smaller local builders. The consclidation of some homebuilding
companies may create additional competitors that have greater financial, marketing, and sales resources than we do
and thus are able to compete more effectively against us. In addition, there may be new entrants in the markets in
which we currently conduct business.

Our development and construction activities expose us to risks associated with the sale of residential units,

We are subject to risks associated with the sale of residential properties, including the sale of condominium units,
single family homes or lots; some of these risks currently exist. These risk factors, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition if they materialize or persist, inclucle:

* a lack of demand by prospective buyers;

*» the inability to find qualified buyers;

» the inability of buyers to obtain satisfactory financing;

*» the inability to close on sales of properties under contract;

» dissatisfaction by purchasers with the homes purchased from us, which may result in litigation costs,
remediation costs or warranly expenses;

* the failure to sell a number of units or homes at any particular project which is sufficient to provide for fill
funding of homeowners’ association dues;

+ dissatisfaction by homeowners and homeowners’ associations with the construction of condominiums,
homes and amenities by us in a condominivm andfor subdivision development, which may result in
litigation costs, remediation costs or warranty expenses; and

+ reduced sales or sales of lower priced condominium units, single family homes or lots, due to increases in
interest rates, which makes it more expensive for buyers to obtain financing.

We currently intend to continue to develop our residential projects at East Lyme and Claverack through the
subdivision, construction and sale of single family homes or lots, and to complete the sale of condominium units at
our Gold Peak project {(where we have substantially completed construction). However, if a determination were
made by our Board to accelerate the sale of the East Lyme project or the Claverack project in a bulk disposition, as a
result of a prolonged period of negative market factors related to construction, development, financing or the
inability to sell residential units (as described above), that could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We are subject to risks associated with construction and development.

We currently intend to continue to develop our residential projects at East Lyme and Claverack through the
subdivision, construction and sale of single family homes or lots, and to complete the sale of condominium units at
our Gold Peak project (where we have substantially completed construction). Alternatively, or in combination, e
may sell the East Lyme project or the Claverack project to another developer, thus foregoing potential development
profits associated with these properties. Our development and construction activities give rise to additional risk:s,
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which, if they materialize, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition and include:

» the possibility that we may discontinue development opportunities after expending significant resources to
determine feasibility, to perform infrastructure construction, or te build, in certain instances;

* the possibility that we may not obtain construction financing on reasonable terms and conditions, or be able
to refinance or extend existing financing on similar terms or at all;

« the possibility that development, construction, and the sale of our projects, may not be completed on
schedule resulting in increased interest expense, construction costs and general and administrative
expenses; '

» the inability to obtain, or costly delays in obtaining, zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and other
required governmental permits and authorizations, which could delay or prevent commencement of
development activities or delay completion of such activities;

+ the fact that properties under development or acquired for development usually generate little or no cash
flow until completion of development and sale of a significant number of homes, condominium units or lots
and may experience operating deficits-after the date of completion and until such homes or condominium
units are sold;

* increases in the cost of construction materials; and

« the inability to obtain proceeds from borrowings on terms financially advantageous to us or to raise
alternate equity capital.

Current increasingly restrictive credit market conditions, along with the downturn in residential home sales, have
made it more difficult to obtain bank financing for our residential development and construction activities, We
cannot make any assurances as to our ability to obtain financing for our Claverack project or to extend our existing
financing with respect to our East Lyme project.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our debt service obligations related to our resi-
dential development activities.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal or interest on our indebtedness obligations related to our
residential development activities will depend on our future performance, which, to a certain extent, is subject to
general economic conditions, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, political, business, and other factors.
We believe that cash on hand and cash generated by our business will be sufficient to enable us to make our debt
payments as they become due. However, if the sales of condominium units, single family homes or lots do not
generate sufficient cash flow, or if future borrowings are not available in an amount sufficient to enable us to service
our indebtedness or to fund its other liquidity needs, we may not be able to fulfill our debt service obligations.

Neither our organizational’documents nor those of our subsidiaries contain any limitation on the amount of debt that
may be incurred. Accordingly, we and such subsidiaries could incur significant amounts of debt, resulting in
increases in debt service payments which could increase the risk of default on indebtedness.

Some of our development projects have incurred, and may incur, debt, in which case a third party lender
would be entitled to cash flow generated by such investments until that debt is repaid.

As aresult of our borrowings, we are subject to certain risks normally associated with debt financing which, if they
materialize, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition,
including the risk that cash flow from sales of condominium units, single family homes or lots will be insufficient to
meet required payments of principal and interest, the risk that existing debt will not be able to be refinanced, and the
risk that the terms of such refinancings will not be as faverable to us. In addition, we may not be able to obtain
modifications to extend the terms of existing financing and/or increase borrowing capacity on existing construction
loans. Such borrowings will increase the risk of loss on an investment which utilizes borrowings. If we default on
secured indebtedness, the lender may foreclose and we could lose our entire investment in the security for such loan.
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In addition, a lender may choose to offset a portion of the loan balance with the cash we have on deposit with tke
lender. ’

The restrictive covenarits associated with our outstanding indebtedness under construction and developmen:!
loans may limit our ability to operate our business.

Our debt obiigations require us to comply with a number of financial and other covenants on an ongoing basis. Some
of those obligations may restrict our ability to incur additional debt or take other actions. In other cases, failure to
comply with covenants may limit our ability to borrow funds or cause a default under one or more of our then
existing loans, possibly requiring us to either prepay a portion of the outstanding principal or provide additional
cash collateral.

Increased insurance costs and reduced insurance coverage may affect our results of operations and increase
our potential exposure to liability.

Partially as a result of the September 11 terrorist attacks, the cost of insurance has risen, deductibles and retentiors
have increased, and the availability of insurance has diminished. Significant increases in our cost of insurance
coverage or significant limitations on coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations from such increased costs or from liability for significant uninsurable or
underinsured claims.

In addition, there are some risks of loss for which we may be unable to purchase insurance coverage. For exampl,
losses associated with landslides, earthquakes, and other geologic events may not be insurable, and other losses,
such as those arising from terrorism, wars, or acts of God may not be economically insurable. A material uninsured
loss to any of our properties or assets could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition and we may nevertheless remain obligated for any mortgage debt or other financial obligations related to
that property or asset.

We are subject to environmental laws and regulations, and our properties may have environmental or other
contamination.

We are subject to various Federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning protection of
public health and the environment. These laws may impose liability on property owners or operators for the costs of
removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on real property, without regard to whether the owner or
operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The presence of, or the
failure to properly remediate, such substances may adversely affect the value of a property, as well as our ability to
sell the property or individual condominium units or apartments, or to borrow funds using that property as collateral.
Costs associated with the foregoing could be substantial and in extreme cases could exceed the value of the
contaminated property. Environmental claims are generally not covered by our insurance programs.

The particular environmental laws that apply to any given homebuilding site vary according to the site’s location, i's
environmental condition, and the present and former uses of the site, as well as those of adjoining properties.
Environmental laws and conditions may result in delays, may cause us to incur substantial compliance and other
costs, and can prohibit or severely restrict homebuilding activity in environmentally sensitive regions or areas,
which could negatively affect our results of operations. In addition, applicable environmental laws create liens on
contaminated sites in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs in connection with a contamination,
The one environmental condition affecting our properties of which we are aware relates to a portion of the East
Lyme project. This land requires remediation of pesticides used on the property when it was an apple orchard at a
cost of approximately $1,000,000. Remediation costs were considered in the value of the property and is recognized
as a liability at December 31, 2007.
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Qur properties are subject to various Federal, state and local regulatory requirements, such as state and
local fire and life safety requirements and the Americans with Disabilities Act.

If we fail to comply with regulatory requirements, we could incur fines or be subject to private damage awards.
Compliance with requirements may require significant unanticipated expenditures by us. Such expenditures could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2, Properties.

The Company, through our Residential Development Activities segment, owns or has ownership interests in the
following residential development projects at December 31, 2007:

Number
Year o{j[l;;)tlssl ' Encumbrance at December 31,
Property/Location Acquired Zoned Type 2007(A) 2006(A)

Gold Peak/Denver, CO(B)...... 1999 259 Condominiums $ 6,417,000 $ 9,550,000
The Orchards/East Lyme,

CTCy ..o 2004 101 Single family homes % 6,966,000 $ 10,579,000
East Lyme Land/East Lyme,

CTD) ...t 2005 60  Single family home lots N/A N/A
The Stewardship/Claverack, : ‘

NYE).........ooooh 2004 4%  Single family home lots N/A N/A
Fordham Tower/Chicago, IL(F) .. 2004 (F)  Highrise condominiums N/A N/A

(A} For a description of encumbrances on the Company’s development properties, see the disclosure in “Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

(B} At December 31, 2007, 185 units were sold and 20 units were under contract. Initial unit deliveries commenced in
January 2006.

(C) At December 31, 2007, 19 homes were sold and three homes were under contract. Home sales commenced in June
2006.

(D) The East Lyme Land is contiguous to The Orchards.

(E)  The Company is completing the required infrastructure and constructing two model homes with the intent to sell lots
to individual buyers. Financing for certain costs is expected to be obtained during 2008.

(F}  In September 2004, Clairborne Fordham obtained title to the remaining unsold compenents of Fordham Tower. The
final remaining unit was sold in Janvary 2008.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are presently a party to, and none of their respective properties are
subject to, any material litigation.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

Not applicable.
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PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Commeon Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

Effective November 30, 2007, the Company’s common shares commenced trading on the NASDAQ under tae
symbol “REIS”. Prior to that date, the Company’s common shares were traded on the AMEX under the symtol
“WRP”. As of December 31, 2007, there were approximately 400 holders of record of our.common stock. This
number represents the actual record holders as shown on the securities holder list obtained from our transfer agent.
These record holders held 3,438,078 shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2007, an additior.al
7,546,439 shares of our common stock were held in participant accounts through The Depository Trust Compary,
and are not reflected in the count of record holders.

The high and low closing sales prices per share for the common shares for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 are as follows:

2007 206 ]

Quarter High Low High Low
First ............ $ 794 % 739 % 791 % 5.55
Second .......... $ 11.02 % 775 $ 805 % 7.06
Third. .. ......... $ 1023 % 740 % 770 % 6.71
Fourth........... $ 768 § 636 3 760 § 6.47.

Common Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Reis’s (formerly Wellsford) common
stock, which is represented below by “REIS,” for the period commencing December 31, 2002 through December 21,
2007, with the cumulative total return on the Russell 2000 Index, which we refer to as the Russell 2000, and the S&:P
500 Index, which we refer to as the S&P 500, for the same period. Reis has chosen the Russell 2000 based on the
market capitalization of the issuers contained in that index. Reis has not identified a peer group, given the fact that
Wellsford was in liquidation prior to the May 2007 Merger, the change in Reis’s business following the Merger and
the limited number of issuers of similar size in businesses similar to ours. Total return values were calculated baszd
on cumulative total return assuming (1) the investment of $100 in the Russell 2000, the S&P 50 and in Reis
(Wellsford) common stock on December 31, 2002, and (2) reinvestment of divideads, which in the case of Reis
includes the December 14, 2005 initial liquidating distribution of $14.00 per share. The total return for Reis
common stock from December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2007 was approximately 65.7% versus approximately
112.9% for the Russell 2000 and 82.8% for the S&P 500.
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The Company did not declare or distribute any dividends during 2007 or 2006.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Pursuant to the Plan, the Company was permitted to repurchase its common shares, Upon termination of the Plan, there
are no formal authorizations to repurchase the Company’s stock. No repurchases were made during 2007 or 2006.

Other Security Information

In December 2006, the Board amended the Company’s charter to reclassify all of the authorized but unissued shares of
series A 8% convertible redeemable preferred stock, class A-1 common stock, and to the extent such shares remained
classified, class A common stock, as shares of common stock of the Company. For additional information concerning
the Company’s capitalization, see Note 9 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Calculation of Aggregate Market Value of Non-Affiliate Shares

For purposes of calculating the aggregate market value of those common shares of the Company held by non-
affiliates, as shown on the cover page of this annual report on Form 10-K, it has been assumed that all of the
outstanding shares were held by non-affiliates except for shares held by directors and officers of the Company.
However, this should not be deemed to constitute an admission that all of such directors and officers are, in fact,
affiliates of the Company, or that there are not other persons who may be deemed to be affiliates of the Company.
For further information concerning shareholdings of officers, directors and principal stockholders, see “Item 12,
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.”
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following tables set forth selected historical consolidated financial data for the Company and should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes related to those financial statements starting at
page F-1 and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included
herein. The Company adopted the liquidation basis of accounting effective as of the close of business cn
November 17, 2005 which was utilized until May 31, 2007 upon completion of the Merger and termination of
the Plan. Effective with the close of business on May 31, 2007, the Company returned to the going concern basis of
accounting. Information prior to November 17, 2005 is also presented on the going concern basis of accountiny.

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Net assets in liquidation —~ beginning of
period . .. ... ...
Distributions to stockholders (B). . . ... ..
Changes in net real estate assets under
development, net of minority interest and
estimated income taxes. . . ... ... ...
Provision for option cancellation reserve . . .
Change in option cancellation reserve . ...
Exercise of stockoptions . . . . ... ... ..
Operating income . . . .............

(Decrease) increase in net assets in
liquidation . ..................

Net assets in liquidation — end of period . .

" Revenues. .....................

Costs and expenses. . . .. ...........
Impairment ioss on real estate assets under

development (C}. . . .............
Income (loss) from joint

ventures (E) (F)(G). . ............
Interest income on cash and investments . . .
Interest expense. . .. ..............
Minority interest (expense) benefit . . . ...

(Loss) income before income taxes,
Convertible Trust Preferred Securities and
discontinued operations. . . .........

Income tax (benefit) expense (G} . . . . ...

Convertible Trust Preferred Securities
distributions (D} . . .. ............

(Loss) income from continuing operations . .
Discontinued operations, net of taxes (H) . .

Net (loss) income. . . ..............

Per share amounts, basic:
(Loss) income from continuing
operations . ... ..... .. ... ...,
Discontinued operations (H}. . . .. .. ..

Net(loss)income . . .............

Per share amounts, diluted:
(Loss) income from continuing
OpErations . ... ........c. ...
Discontinued operations (H}. . . ... ...

Net (lossyincome . ..............
Cash dividends per common share (B) . . . .

Weighted average common shares
outstanding:
Basic.......... ... .. ... . ...

Diluted. . .....................

Summary
Consolidated
Statement of

Operations Data
{Going Concern
Basis) (A)

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Net Assets
(Liquidation Basis) (A)

Summary Consolidated Statement of
Operations
Data (Going Concern Basis) (A)

For the Period For the Period  For the
June 1 to January 1 to  Year Ended November 13 to Jnnuary 1 to

For the Period For the Period

For the Years Ended

December 31

December 31, May 31, December 31, December 31, No -
2007 2007 2006 2005 2005 2004 2003

$ 5159 § 56569 5 146889

— — {90,597)

(1,805) 1,552 —

— (4.227) —

(4,636) 926 —

— 1,008 56

768 1,768 21

(5.673) 1,007 (90,320)

§ 51923 § 57596 5 56569
$ 36367 § 12641 § 25655 % 2672
(34.873) (18,141) (29.332)  (31.3:0)
(3,149) _ _ _
) 11,850 @3715)  (34,419)
711 2,069 1,994 880
(1,003) (5.482) (8348)  (6.513)
an 172 s 15
(2,029) 3,109 (33.558)  (36,645)
(739) 91 130 7,135
_ - — 2.009)
(1,290) 3018 (33428) (458 '9)

_ T 725

$ (1290) I 3018 § (32,7008 (458.9)
$ (012 i 047 5 (5.IM (LD
= — 0.11 -
$ (012 § 047§ (506)S ()
$ (028 i 047 $ (51N (10
— — 0.11 o
5 (08 T
s — 3 — 3 = $ 1400 i — 5 —3 -
10,984 6,468 6,460 6454
11,197 6470 6,460 6.4:i4
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Selected Financial Data (continued) . S

Summary

Consolidated

Balance Sheet Consolidated Net Summary
Data Assels Consolidated -

(Going Concern in Lignidation Balance Sheet Data
Basis) (Liquidation Basts) (Going Concern Basis)
December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Cash and cash eqUIVvalenls . . . .. ... ... .oooviteei $ 2328 0§ 9005 410075 65845 55378

Real estate assels, aLCOSt. . . . o\ v v i e e SR 26,772 — — 151,275 147,357

Accumulated depreciation .. .. ... ... ... L — ) — —_ {21,031) (16,775)

Real estate assets under development, at estimated value . . . ... ..... ..., — 41,159 44,233 — -

Goodwill and other intangible assets . . .. ... . ... ... . ... ... 80,178 - = - — —

Notes receivable . . . ... ... e e — - 158 1,190 3,096

Assets held forsale (A). . ... ... ... ..., ........... e _— — — —_ 2,335

OVESUTEAt i0 REIS . . . - .« .+ .ot ST — 0000 20000 6,790 6,790

Investment in joint ventures . . .. .......... e 102 423 453 7,195 46,970

Investments in U.S. Government securities . . . . . A - - —  nssL 21506

Total assets, BLCOSL . . .. o\t e e e 144,848 — — 254,637 285,827

Total assets, at estimated value . .......... .. ...t iiininean. — 108,477 126,670 - —_

Reserve for estimated costs during the liquidation peried . . .. . .......... — 18,302 24,057 - —

Reserve for option liability . . .......... S 527 2,633 e - —

Construction loans, mortgage notes payable and all other debt. . .. .. ... ... 38211 20,129 19,250 108.853 109,505

Deferred revenue. . . . .. .. .o e 13,262 — — - —

Debentures (D). . . ... oo — — - 15,775 —

Convenible Trust Preferred Securities (D). ... ......... ... vt — — — — 25,000

Total stockholders’ equity .. ............ [ 79,699 - - 98783 131274

Net assets in liguidation . ........... ... .. i — 57,596 56,569 - —_

Other balance sheet information:

Common shares outstanding ... ....... ... ... ... ... . .. ... 10,985 6,647 6471 6,467 6,456
Equity pershare. .. .. ... ... $ 7.26 ' $ 15288 201
Net assets in liquidation pershare . . ... ............ ... ... ... S 8.67 5 8.74

(A}  See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ for significant changes
in revenues and expenses.

(B) Initial and only liquidating distribution, declared December 2, 2005 and paid December 14, 2005,

(C} InDecember 2007, the Company recorded aggregate impairment charges of approximately $3,149 related te East Lyme
and the East Lyme Land. These charges were the result of continuing deteriorating market conditions in the fourth quarter
of 2007 and management’s expectations for the future. The Company utilized assumptions in its discounted cash flow
model that reflected the negative impact of the current market conditions and the negative effects on sales revenue, sales
velocity, costs and the development plan.

(D)  During the first quarter of 2004, the Company de-consolidated the entity that issued the convertible trust preferred
securities as required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R, which we refer to as FIN 46R.
Accordingly, the Company presented the $25,775 of debentures instead of $25.000 of convertible trust preferred
securities on its balance sheet at December 31, 2004. The expense for the debentures of approximately $824 and $2,100 is
included with interest expense as a component of costs and expenses for the period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005
and the year ended December 31, 2004, respectively, instead of as distributions, net of tax benefit as it had been presented
for the year ended December 31, 2003. In April 2005, the Company completed the redemption of the debentures,

(E)  During 2005, the Company realized income of 311,148 from its then existing commercial office joint venture investment,

which we refer to as Wellsford/Whitehall, including a $5,986 gain on redemption of its interest in September 2005 and
approximately $6,000 from its share of net gains from property sales,
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(F)

()

(H)

The loss in the 2004 period is primarily atiributable to (1) a $9,000 impairment charge recorded by the Company at
September 30, 2004 related to the sale of its interest in a debt business, which we refer to as Second Holding, (2} the
Company’s net $6,606 share of a write-down of one of Second Holding’s investments during the first quarter of 2004 and
{3} the Company’s share of losses aggregating 310,437 from Wellsford/Whitehall,

During the fourth quarter of 2003, Wellsford/Whitehall recorded an impairment charge of approximately $114,700
related to 12 assets in the portfolio. The Company’s share of this impairment charge was approximately $37,377 in 2003
and as a result, the Company wrote-off related unamortized warrant costs on the Company’s books of approximately
$2,644 related to Wellsford/Whitehall and determined at that time that it was not appropriate to carry the balance of the
net deferred tax asset attributable to NOL carryforwards and recorded a valuation allowance of $6,680 in the fourth
quarter of 2003.

Relates to the classification of two propertics as a discontinued operation effective as of June 30, 2003.

26




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with “Item 6. Selected Financial Data” and the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Organization

Reis, Inc., the “Company” or “Reis” (formerly Wellsford Real Properties, Inc.), is a Maryland corporation. The
name change from Wellsford to Reis occurred in June 2007 after the completion of the merger of Private Reis with
and into Reis Services, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wellsford.

Business
Private Reis’s Historic Business

Private Reis was founded in 1980 as a provider of commercial real estate market information and today is a leader in
that field. Reis maintains a proprietary database containing detailed information on commercial properties in
neighborhoods and metropolitan markets throughout the U.S. The database contains information on apartment,
retail, office and industrial properties and is used by real estate investors, lenders and other professionals to make
informed buying, selling and financing decisions, In addition, Reis data is used by debt and equity investors 1o
assess and quantify the risks of default and loss associated with individual mortgages, properties, pertfolios and real
estate backed securities. Reis currently provides its information services to many of the nation’s leading lending
institutions, equity investors, brokers and appraisers.

Reis’s flagship product is Reis SE, which provides online access to information and analytical tools designed to
facilitate both debt and equity transactions. In addition to trend and forecast analysis at neighborhood and
metropolitan levels, the product offers detailed building-specific information such as rents, vacancy rates and lease
terms, property sale information, new construction listings and property valuation estimates. Reis SE is designed to
meet the demand for timely and accurate information to support the decision-making of property owners,
developers and builders, banks and non-bank lenders, and equity investors, all of whom require access to
information on both the performance and pricing of assets, including detailed data on market transactions, supply
and absorption. This information is critical to all aspects of valuing assets and financing their acquisition,
development, and construction.

Reis’s revenue model is based primarily on annual subscriptions that are paid in accordance with contractual billing
terms. Reis recognizes revenue from its contracts on a ratable basis; for example, one-twelfth of the value of a one-
year contract is recognized monthly.

Reis continues to develop and introduce new products, expand and add new data, and find new ways to deliver
existing information to meet and anticipate client demand.

Wellsford’s Historic Business

The Company was originally formed on January 8, 1997 as a corporate subsidiary of the Residential Trust. On
May 30, 1997, the Residential Trust merged with Equity Residential, or EQR, at which time the Residential Trust
contributed certain of its assets to the Company and the Company assumed certain liabilities of the Residential Trust
and distributed to its commeon stockholders all of its outstanding shares of the Company. Prior to the adoption of the
Plan, the Company was operating as a real estate merchant banking firm which acquired, developed, financed and
operated real properties and invested in private and public real estate companies. The Company’s primary operating
activities immediately prior to the Merger were the development, construction and sale of its three residential
projects and its approximate 23% ownership interest in Private Reis. The Company continues to develop, construct
and sell these remaining residential projects.
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Residential Development Activities

At Décember 31, 2007, the Company’s residential development activities and other investments were comprised

primarily of the following:

* The 259 unit Gold Peak condominium development in Highlands Ranch, Colorado, which we refer to as Gold
Peak, Sales commenced in January 2006 and 185 Gold Peak units were sold through December 31, 2007,

* The Orchards, a single family home development in East Lyme, Connecticut, upon which the Company could
build 161 single family homes on 224 acres. Sales commenced in June 2006 an¢ 19 homes were sold through
December 31, 2007. ‘

* The Stewardship, a single family home development in Claverack, New York, which is subdivided into 48
developable single family home lots on 235 acres, which we refer to as Claverack.

Merger with Private Reis

On October 11, 2006, the Company announced that it and Reis Services entered into a definitive merger agreement
with Private Reis to acquire Private Reis and that the Merger was approved by the independent members of the
Company’s board of directors, which we refer to as the Board. The Merger was approved by the stockholders of both
the Company and Private Reis on May 30, 2007 and was completed later that day. The previously announced Plan of
the Company was terminated as a result of the Merger and the Company returned to the going concern basis of
accounting from the liquidation basis of accounting, For accounting purposes, the Merger was deemed to have
occurred at the close of business on May 31, 2007 and the statements of operations include the operations of Reis
Services, effective June 1, 2007.

The merger agreement provided for half of the aggregate consideration to be paid in Company stock and the
remaining half to be paid in cash to Private Reis stockholders, except Wellsford Capital, the Company’s subsidiary
which owned a 23% converted preferred interest and which received only Company stock. The Company issued
4,237,074 shares of common stock to Private Reis stockholders, other than Wellsford Capital, used $25,000,000 of
the cash consideration (which was funded by a $27,000,000 bank loan facility (the “Elank Loan™), the commitment
for which was obtained by Private Reis in October 2006 and was drawn upon immediately prior to the Merger), and
approximately $9,573.000 provided by the Company. The per share value of the Company’s common stock, for
purposes of the exchange of stock interests in the Merger, had been previously established at $8.16 per common
share.

The value of the Company’s stock for purposes of recording the acquisition was based upon the average closing
price of the Company’s stock for a short period near the date that the merger agreement was executed of $7.10 per
common share, as provided for under relevant accounting literature.

Upon the completion of the Merger and the settlement of certain outstanding loans, Lloyd Lynford and Jonathan
Garfield, both executive officers and directors of Private Reis, became the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Vice President, respectively, of the Company and both became directors of the Company. The Company’s former
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Jeffrey Lynford, remained Chairman of the Company. Lloyd Lynford and
Jeffrey Lynford are brothers. The merger agreement provided that the outstanding loans to Lloyd Lynford ani
Mr. Garfield aggregating approximately $1,305,000 be simultaneously satisfied with 159,873 of the Company’s
shares received by them in the Merger. Immediately following the consummation of the Merger, the Private Reis
stockholders owned approximately 38% of the Company.

As the Company is the acquirer for accounting purposes, the acquisition has been acccunted for as a purchase by the
Company. Accordingly, the acquisition price of the remainder of Private Reis acquired in this transaction combine:]
with the historical cost basis of the Company’s historical investment in Private Reis has been allocated to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on respective fair values,

Plan of Liquidation and Return to Going Concern Accounting

On May 19, 2003, the Board approved the Plan, and on November 17, 2005, the Company s stockholders ratified the
Plan. The Plan contemplated the orderly sale of each of the Company’s remaining assets, which are either owned
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directly or through the Company’s joint ventures, the collection of all outstanding loans from third parties, the
orderly disposition or completion of construction of development properties, the discharge of all outstanding
liabilities to third parties and, after the establishment of appropriate reserves, the distribution of all remaining cash
to stockholders. The Plan also permitted the Board to acquire additional Private Reis shares and/or discontinue the
Plan without further stockholder approval. An initial liquidating distribution of $14.00 per share was made on
December 14, 2005 to stockholders of record on December 2, 2005, Upon consummation of the Merger, the Plan
was terminated. Consequently, it was necessary to recharacterize $1.15 of the $14.00 per share cash distribution
from what may have been characterized at that time as a return of capital for Company stockholders to taxable
dividend income.

For all periods preceding stockholder approval of the Plan on November 17, 2005, the Company’s financial
statements were presented on the going concern basis of accounting. As required by Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, or GAAP, the Company adopted the liquidation basis of accounting as of the close of
business on November 17, 2005. Under the liquidation basis of accounting, assets are stated at their estimated net
realizable value and liabilities are stated at their estimated settlement amounts, which estimates have been
periodically reviewed and adjusted as appropriate.

The Company’s net assets in liquidation at May 31, 2007 (prior to the Merger and the return to going concern
accounting), and at December 31, 2006 were:

May 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Net assets in liquidation . ......... ... ... .. ... o vino. . $ 51,922,617 § 57,595,561
Per share . ... et e e s $ 176 % 8.67
Common stock outstanding . ... ..., ... i 6,695,246 6,646,738

The reported amounts for net assets in liquidation presented development projects at estimated net realizable values
at each respective date afier giving effect to the present value discounting of estimated net proceeds therefrom. All
other assets were presented at estimated net realizable value on an undiscounted basis. The amount also included
reserves for future estimated general and administrative expenses and other costs and for cash payments on
outstanding stock options during the liquidation. The primary reasons for the decline in net assets in liquidation of
approximately $5,673,000 from December 31, 2006 to May 31, 2007 are the increase in the reserve for stock
options due to the increase in the price of the Company’s stock from $7.52 to $11.00 per share, representing
approximately $4,636,000 of the decrease, and the decline in the value of real estate assets under development.

The Company has returned to the going concern basis of accounting effective at the close of business on May 31,
2007.

Selected Significant Accounting Policies

Management has identified the following accounting policies, which it believes are significant in understanding the
Company’s activities, financial position and operating results.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-cwned
and controlled subsidiaries. Investments in entities where the Company does not have a controlling interest were
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. These investments were initially recorded at cost and were
subsequently adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of the investment’s income (loss} and additional
contributions or distributions preceeding and then subsequent to the dates of reporting under the liquidation basis of
accounting. Investments in entities where the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence
are accounted for under the cost method. All significant inter-company accounts and transactions among the
Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation,
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Intangible Assets, Amortization and Impairment
Web Site Development Costs’ '

The Company follows Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-2, “Accounting for Web Site Devel--
opment Costs,” which requires that costs of developing a web site should be accounted for in accordance witht
AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed for Internal Use”
(SOP 98-1). The Company expenses all internet web site costs incurred during the preliminary project stage. All
direct external and internal development and implementation costs are capitalized and amortized using the straight-
line method over their remaining estimated useful lives, not exceeding three years. The Company capitalizec
approximately $473,000 during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 related to Web Site Developmen!
costs, . '

The value ascribed to the web site development intangible asset acquired at the time of the Merger is amortized on 2
straight-line basis over three years and is charged to product development expense.

Database Costs

The Company capitalizes costs for the development of its database in connection with the identification anc
addition of new real estate properties and sale transactions which provide a future economic benefit. Amortization is
calculated on a straight-line basis over a three or five year period, The Company capitalized approximately
$550,000 during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 related to the database. Costs of updating anc
maintaining information on existing properties in the database are expensed as incurred.

The value ascribed to the database intangible asset acquired at the time of the Merger is amortized on g straight-line:
basis over three or five years and is charged to cost of sales.

Customer Relationships

The value ascribed to customer relationships acquired at the time of the Merger is amortized over 15 years on an
accelerated basis and is charged to sales and marketing expense.

Lease Value

The value ascribed to the below market terms of the office lease existing at the time of the Merger is amortized over
the remaining term of the acquired office lease which was approximately nine years. Amortization is charged to
general and administrative expenses.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or after a triggering event has occtured requiring such &
calculation in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). Goodwill is not deductibie for income tax purposes. An
impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value.

SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives that arose from the acquisition be:
amortized over their respective estimated useful lives using a method of amortizaticn that reflects the pattern in
which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used up, and also that the carrying;
amount of amortizable intangible assets be reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Account-
ing for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (*SFAS No. 144™),

Real Estate, Other Investments, Depreciation and Impairment

Costs directly related to the acquisition, development and improvement of real estate are capitalized, including
interest and other costs incurred during the construction period. Costs incurred for significant repairs ancl
maintenance that extend the usable life of the asset or have a determinable useful life are capitalized. Ordinary
repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred, The Company expensed all lease turnover costs for its residentia.
units such as painting, cleaning, carpet replacement and other turnover costs as such costs were incurred.
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Depreciation was computed over the expected useful lives of depreciable property on a straight-line basis,
principally 27.5 years for rental residential buildings and improvements and two to twelve years for furnishings
and equipment. Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $3,887,000 for the period January 1,
2005 to November 17, 2005 prior to the adoption of liquidation accounting and the sale of related residential assets.

The Company has historically reviewed its real estate assets, investments in joint ventures and other investments for
impairment (i) whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not
be recoverable for assets held for use and (ii) when a determination is made to sell an asset or investment. Under the
liquidation basis of accounting, the Company evaluated the fair value of real estate assets owned and under
construction and made adjustments to the carrying amounts when appropriate. The Company recorded downward
valuation adjustments aggregating approximately $11,101,000 related to two residential development projects
during the liquidation period, including approximately $8,361,000 at December 31, 2006 and $2,740,000 at May 31,
2007. Under SFAS No. 144 and the going concern basis of accounting, if estimated cash flows on an undiscounted
basis are insufficient to recover the carrying amount of an asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the
carrying amount over estimated fair value is recognized. The Company recorded additional impairment charges
aggregating approximately $3,149,000 in December 2007, which is reflected as a component of cost of sales on the
statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition and Related Items
Reis Services

The Company’s subscription revenue is derived principally from subscriptions to its web-based services and is
recognized as revenue ratably over the related contractual period, which is typically one year, but can be as long as
36 months. Revenues from ad-hoc and custom reports are recognized as completed and delivered to the customers,
provided that no significant Company obligations remain.

Deferred revenue represents the portion of a subscription billed or collected in advance under the terms of the
respective contract, which will be recognized in future periods. If a customer does not meet the payment obligations
of a contract, any related accounts receivable and deferred revenue are written off at that time and the net amount,
after considering any recovery of accounts receivable, is charged to cost of sales.

Cost of sales of subscription revenue principally consists of salaries and related expenses for the Company’s
researchers who collect and analyze the commercial real estate data that is the basis for the Company’s information
services. Additionally, cost of sales includes the amortization of database technology.

Real Estate Activities

Sales of real estate assets, including condominium units and single family homes, and investments are recognized at
closing subject to receipt of down payments and other requirements in accordance with applicable accounting
guidelines. The percentage of completion method is not used for recording sales on condominium units as down
payments are nominal and collectibility of the sales price from such a deposit is not reasonably assured until closing.
Residential units were leased under operating leases with typical terms of six to fourteen months and such rental
revenue was recognized monthly as tenants were billed. Interest revenue is recorded on an accrual basis. Fee
revenues were recorded in the period earned, based upon formulas as defined by agreements for management
services or upon asset sales and purchases by certain joint venture investments.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred income
tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between financial reporting, including the
liguidation basis of accounting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax
rates and laws that are estimated to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances
with respect to deferred income tax assets are recorded when deemed appropriate and adjusted based upon periodic
evaluations.
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In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48™),
This interpretation, among other things, creates a two step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions.
Recognition (step one} occurs when an enterprise concludes that a tax position, based solely on its technical merits,
is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the amount of
benefit that more-likely-than-not will be realized upon’ settlement. Derecognition of a tax position that was
previously recognized would occur when a company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets
the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained. FIN 48 specifically prohibits the use of a valuation allowance
as a substitute for derecognition of tax positions, and it has expanded disclosure requirements. FIN 48 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, in which the impact of adoption should be accounted for as a
cumulative-effect adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. There was no financial stateme:t
impact upon the adoption of FIN 48, effective January 1, 2007.

Liquidation Basis of Accounfing

With the approval of the Plan by the stockholders, the Company adoptéd the liquidation basis of accountirg
effective as of the close of business on November 17, 2005. The liquidation basis of accounting was used through
May 31, 2007 when the Merger was completed and at the same time the Plan was terminated.

Under the liquidation basis of accounting, assets are stated at their estimated net realizable value and liabilities are
stated at their estimated settlement amounts, which estimates will be periodically reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate. The Statement of Net Assets in Liquidation and a Statement of Changes in Net Assets in Liquidaticn
are the principal financial statements presented under the liquidation basis of accounting. The valuation of assets at
their net realizable value and liabilities at their anticipated settlement amounts represented estimates, based c¢n
present facts and circumstances, of the net realizable values of assets and the costs associated with carrying out the
Plan and dissolution based on the assumptions set forth below. The actual values and costs associated with carrying
out the Plan were expecied to differ from the amounts shown herein because of the inherent uncertainty and would
be.greater than or less than the amounts recorded. In particular, the estimates of the Company’s costs vary with tte
length of time it operated under the Plan. In addition, the estimate of net assets in liuidation per share, except for
projects under development, did not incorporate a present value discount.

Under the liquidation basis of accounting, sales revenue and cost of sales are not separately reported within tke
Statements of Changes in Net Assets as the Company has already reported the net realizable value of each
development project at the applicable balance sheet dates.

Critical Business Metrics of the Reis Services Business

Management considers certain metrics in evaluating the performance of the Reis Services business which are
revenue, revenue growth, EBITDA (which is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amos-
tization), EBITDA growth and EBITDA margin. Following is a presentation of these historical metrics for the Reis
Services business (for a reconciliation of GAAP net income to EBITDA for each of the periods presented here, see
below}. The pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2005 and the three months ended
December 31, 2006 are presented as if the Merger had been consummated, the proceeds from the Bank Loan had
been received, and the Plan had been terminated as of January 1, 2006. This pro forma information is not necessarily
indicative of what the actual results would have been had the Merger been consummated, the proceeds from the
Bank Loan had been received and the Plan terminated as of January 1, 2006, nor does it purport to represent future
results.

{amounts in thonsands, excluding percentages)

For the Three Months Ended

December 31, Percentage
2007 2006 (Pro Forma) Increase Increase
Revenue .. ... i $ 6,398 $ 5,104 $ 1,294 25.4%
EBITDA . ... o e .. 3 2,575 3 1,772 b 803 45.3%
EBITDAmargin .. ....................v.. 40.2% 34.7%
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For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  September 30, Percentage
007 2007 Increase Increase
ReVenUE . .t v e e $ 6,398 % 6343 § 55 (A) 0.9%
EBITDA. ... .ot $ 2575 $ 2557 $ 18(B) 07%
EBITDA margin............ .. oiiiiine s 40.2% 40.3%

(A)  Revenue from special project and consniting work that was performed and earned in the third quarter was approximately
$200 greater than the amount in the fourth quarter. If we compared total revenue in the aggregate for these two periods
without the variance related to revenue from special project and consulting work, the increase period to period would
have been $255, or 4.0%, representing growth in our primary subscription business. Generally, this type of special project
and consulting work is not a substantial amount in any given period.

(B) EBITDA growth between the third and fourth quarters of 2007 was $18. This is impacied by the explanation in (A) above,
as well as the impact of additional annual expenses that were accrued in the fourth quarter of 2007.

For the Seven
Months Ended

December 31,
_2007(A)
Revenue . ......... ..o iiiiiinnnrenns $ 14,615
EBITDA. ... ... ... i, $ 5,820
EBITDA margin. ...............cvvvan. 39.8%

(A) ' This information is presented consistent with the period presented in our consolidated financial statements under the -
p p
going concern basis of accounting. Comparable information for this period is not disclosed. We have included full year
pro forma comparisoas below.

Pro Forma for the Years Ended

December 31, Percentage
2007 2006 Increase Increase
Revenue............coiniin. $ 23,668 $ 19,288 $ 4,380 22.7%
EBITDA ....................... 3 8,508 $ 6,136 $ 2,372 38.7%
EBITDA margin. ................. 359% 31.8%
For the Fiscal Y
Ended October 31, (A) Increase Percentage
2006 2005 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Revenue ... ... .. . ... iiiiiinininn $ 18,802 h 16,515 $ 2,287 13.8%
EBITDA ........ ... ... ... ... ...... 3 4599B) $ 4,817 3 (218) (4.5)%

EBITDAmargin .................... 24.5% 29.2%

{A) This presentation reflects results of Private Reis and its fiscal years ended October 31. See table below.

(B} Includes $1,245 of non-recurring losses associated with vacating Private Reis’s former office space. Excluding this non-
recurring item, EBITDA for the period would have been $5,844, representing an increase of $1,027 or 21.3% over the
corresponding 2005 period.
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For additional information regarding the historic operating performance of Private. Reis, we have presented Condense ]
Operating Data of Private Reis for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2006 and 2005. This information is presented on
a fiscal year basis ending October 31 as derived from Private Reis historical audited financial statements.

For the Fiscal Years Ended

Dctober 31,
2006 2005
Subscription revenue . . ....... ... .. o $° 18,801,565 $ 16,514,593
Costofsales . ......... .. i, T 3,475,513 3,269,468
Grossprofit. . ... ... i e 15,326,052 13,245,125
Total operating exXpense . . . .. ... ..o ieiien e rnann, (11,329,536) (9,869,869)
Other (expenses) income, net {A). . ... .. viennennns (1,026,271) 120,860
Income before income taxes. . . ... ...t e 2,970,445 3,496,116
Income tax (expense) benefit (B) .. .......... ... ..... (1,241,415) 4,687,118
Netincome . ...ttt e v $ 1,729,030 3 8,183,234

(A)  Includes $1,245 of non-recurring losses associated with vacating Private Reis’s former office space in the 2006 perioc..

(B)  The 2005 period included a net tax benefit reflecting the recognition of Private Reis’s deferred tax asset based upon thz
determination of the expected future usability of Private Reis’s NOLs.

Reconciliation of Net Income to EBITDA

EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Although EBITDA is not 2
measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP, senior management uses EBITDA to measurs:
operational and management performance. Management believes that EBITDA is an appropriate metric that may b2
used by investors as a supplemental financial measure to be considered in addition to the reported GAAP basis
financial information to assist investors in evaluating and understanding the Company’s business from year to year
or period to period, as applicable. Further, EBITDA provides the reader with the ability to understand our
operational performance while isolating non-cash charges, such as depreciation and amortization expenses and
stock based compensation, as well as other non-operating items, such as interest income, interest expense ami
income taxes. Management also believes that disclosing EBITDA will provide better comparability to other
companies in Reis Services’s type of business. However, investors should not consider this measure in isolation or
as a substitute for net income, operating income, or any other measure for determining operating performance that i3
calculated in accordance with GAAP. In addition, because EBITDA is not calculated in accordance with GAAP, it
may not necessarily be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other companies, Reconciliations of
EBITDA to the most comparable GAAP financial measure, net income, follows for each identified period:

(amounts in thousands)

Residential
Development
Reconciliation of Net Income to EBITDA Activities
for the Three Months Ended December 31, 2007 Reis Services and Other* Consolidated
Net (1085 « oo ettt e $ 244D
Income tax (benefit) .. ... ... ... ... . . . ... ... (1,073}
Income (loss) before income taxes . .. .................... $ 1,008 % (4,614) (3,5155)
Add back: :

Depreciation and amortization expense. . . ... ............ 1,024 64 1,083
Impairment loss on real estate assets under development. . . . . — 3,149 3,149
Interest expense (income), net . ....................... 453 (354) 949
Stock based compensation expense, net ... .............. — 297 297
EBITDA . ... e e $ 2575 % (1,458 § L1117




Residential

Development
Reconciliation of Net Income to EBITDA Activities
for the Period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 Reis Services and Other* Consolidated

NEt (1SS « ot e ettt e $ (1,290)
Income tax (benefit) .. ... ... .. .. ... ... (739
Income (loss) before income taxes. . . ......... . ovrenannn. $ 2331 § {4,360) (2,029)
Add back:

Depreciation and amortization exXpense. . .. .............. 2,248 149 2,397

Impairment loss on real estate assets under development. . . . . — 3,149 3,149

Interest expense (income), net ... ... .ov v i nnnieennan. 1,241 (949) 292

Stock based compensation benefit, net . .. ........... ..., — (888) ) (888)
EBI DA . . e e $ 5820 § (2,899 § 2,921

Residential
Development
Reconciliation of Pro Forma Net Income to Pro Forma EBITDA Activities
for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 Reis Services and Other* Consolidated

Proformanet {loss). ... oot ittt e e $ (12,154)
Income tax (benefit). . .. ... ...t e (1,142)
Income (loss) before income taxes .. ............c...v... 3 1944 % (15,240) (13,296)
Add back:

Depreciation and amortization expense , . . .. ........... 4,301 256 4,557

Impairment loss on real estate assets under development . . . — 5,889 5,889

Interest expense (income), net . ..................... 2,263 (1,406} 857

Stock based compensation benefit, net .. ... ........... — (875) {(875)
Proforma EBITDA . . ... ... ... ... . . i $ 8,508 3% (11,376) 3% (2,868)

Residential
Development
Reconciliation of Pro Forma Net Income to Pro Forma EBITDA Activities
for the Year Ended December 31, 2006 Reis Services and Other* Consolidated

Proforma net (10S8) . . . oo ot it e e e b (13,152)
Income tax (benefit) . . ... ... .. e e e (876)
{Loss) before InCOmMe taXES . . . v v v v vt v e vt ee it e e iie e enanens $ (573)8 (13,455) (14,028)
Add back: '

Depreciation and amortization expense . ... .................. 4,415 229 4,644

Impairment loss on real estate assets under development . ........ — 8,361 8,361

{Income) from discontinued operations .. .................... — (760} (76

Interest expense (income), net. . ........ ... .. ... ... ..... 2,294 (974) 1,320

Stock based compensation expense, net. .. ................... — 1,245 1,245
Pro forma EBITDA . . ... ... e $ 61368 (5,354)% 782
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Residential

Development
Reconciliation of Net Income to EBITDA Activities
for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2007 Reis Services and Other* Consolidat:d
Nt MCOMME . .. ..ottt ittt e e e 3 3is
Income tax eXpense . .. .. ... . it e 332
Income (loss) before INCOME taXes . . ... vt e ittt $ 1,016 $ (368) 648
Add back:
Depreciation and amortization eXpense . . ... ....ovie i ienrana.. 932 64 995
Interest expense (income), net ... ... oL 609 (520) 87
Stock based compensation benefit, net . . ........ ... .. .. ... ... ... — (132) (132)
EBIT DA . e e e e e 3 2,557 § (956)% 1,601
Residential
Development
Reconciliation of Pro Forma Net Income to Pro Forma EBITDA Activities
for the Three Months Ended December 31, 2006 Reis Services and Other* Consolidat:d
Pro forma net (JoSs) . ... it i i e e $ (8,28%)
Income tax (benefit) . . . ....... ... . e (498)
Income (loss) before income taxes .......... ... ... .. $ 54 $ (8,841) (8,787
Add back:
Depreciation and amortization eXpense . . ... ... .. ... ... 1,148 66 1,214
Impairment loss on real estate assets under development . ............ — 8,361 8,361
~Loss from discontinued operations. . . ......... ... o . il — 43 43
Interest expense (INCOME), NEL. . . .. . oo vt rv it ie v inertenrinrss 570 (253) 317
Stock based compensation expense, net . .. .. ... .. ... ... — 311 311
Pro forma EBITDA . .. .. .. e et e e $ 1,772 % (313 $ 1459
* Includes Palomino Park, East Lyme, the Company’s other developments and corporaie level income and expenses.

The following reconciliation of net income to EBITDA is presented to provide the EBITDA of Private Reis for the
fiscal years ended October 31, 2006 and 2005.

For the Fiscal Years Ended

ts in th d October 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2006 7005

Reconciliation of GAAP net income to EBITDA

Net iNCOME . . . ..ttt e e e e $ 1,729(1) $ 8,183

Add back:
Depreciation and amortization expense. . .. .. ............ 1,848 1,442
Interest (income) expense, NEt. . . . . ... oo i ie i nunan 219) (12D
Income tax expense (benefi), net .. ................... 1,241 (4,687)
EBITDA. .. ......... e e e e e $ 4,599 s 4817

(1)  Net income of $1,729 for the year ended October 31, 2006 includes $1,245 of non-recurring losses associated with
vacating Private Reis’s former office space. Excluding this non-recurring item, EBITDA for the peried would have been
$5.844.
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Results of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

Results of operations for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007

The results of operations for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 reflect the operations of the Company on
& going concern basis and include the operating resuits of the Reis Services segment.

Subscription revenues and related cost of sales were approximately $14,615,000 and $2,920,000, respectively, for
the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 resulting in a gross profit for the Reis Services segment of
approximately $11,695,000. Amortization expense included in cost of sales during this penod was approximately
$1,025,000.

Revenue and cost of sales of residential units were approximately $21,752,000 and $18,651,000, rcspectively,'for
the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 from the sale of 46 condominium units at the Gold Peak developmem
and 10 sales at East Lyme during the period.

In December 2007, the Company recorded aggregate impairment charges of approximately $3,149,000 related to
East Lyme and the East Lyme Land. These charges were the result of continuing deteriorating market conditions in
the fourth quarter of 2007 and management’s expectations for the future. The Company utilized assumptions in its
discounted cash flow model that reflected the negative impact of the current market conditions and the negative
effects on sales revenue, sales velocity, costs and the development plan. Further deterioration in market conditions
or other factors may result in additional impairment charges in future periods.

Sales and marketing expenses and product development expenses were approximately $3,350,000 and $971,000,
respectively, for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 and solely represent costs of the Reis Services
segment. Amortization expense included in sales and marketing expenses and project development expenses during
this period were approximately $445,000 and $299,000, respectively.

Property operating expenses of $746,000 for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 represent the non-
capitalizable project costs and other period expenses related to the Company’s residential development projects.

General and administrative expense of $8,180,000 for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 includes
current period expenses and accruals of $8,441,000 and depreciation and amortization expense of $627,000 for
lease value and furniture, fixtures and equipment, offset by a net reduction of approximately $888,000 of non-cash
compensation costs. This net reduction is comprised of an approximate $1,847,000 decrease in the reserve for
option liability due to a decrease in the market price of the Company’s common stock from $11.00 per share at
May 31, 2007 to $7.68 per share at December 31, 2007 and options settled at an amount less than $11.00 per share
during the period, offset by additional compensation expense from 2007 equity awards of approximately $359,000.

Interest and other income of $711,000 primarily reflects interest earned on cash for the period June 1, 2007 to
December 31, 2007.

Interest expense of $1,003,000 for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 includes interest and cost
amortization on the Bank Loan of $1,325,000, non-capitalized interest from residential development activities of
$75,000 and interest from other debt of $28,000, offset by the effect of the capitalization of interest of $425,000
from the Bank Loan to residential developments in accordance with existing accounting rules.

The income tax benefit during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 of $739 000 primarily reflects the tax
benefit of the loss during the period.

Changes in net assets in liguidation for the period January 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007

During the period January 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007, net assets in liquidation decreased approximately $5,673,000.
This decrease is the net result of (i} an increase to the option cancellation reserve of approximately $4,636,000 due
" to the increase in the market price of Wellsford’s stock from $7.52 per share at December 31, 2006 to $11.00 per
share at May 31, 2007 and (ii) sales of real estate assets under development and other changes in net real estate
assets under development from the updating of cash flow valuation calculations during the period of approximately
$1,805,000, offset by (iil) operating income of approximately $768,000 which primarily consisted of interest
income eamed from cash and cash equivalents during the period.

37




Changes in net assets in liquidation for the year ended December 31, 2006

During the yéar ended December 31, 2006, net assets in liquidation increased $1,027,000. This increase is primarily
attributable to (1) operating income of approximately $1,768,000 which primarily represents interest income earned
from cash and cash equivalents, (2) amounts recognized for real estate assets under development of $1,552,000
which resulted from the net effect of sales of condominiums and homes and value adjustments to the development
projects, (3} cash proceeds of approximately $1,008,000 from the exercise of stock options by an officer in
November 2006 and (4) a decrease in the option cancellation reserve of $926,000 which primarily reflects the
changes in the market price of Wellsford’s common stock between March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2006, offsqt
by a $4,227,000 provision upon the adoption by the board of directors of modifications in the terms of Wellsford's
stock option plans during the first quarter of 2006. The provision resulted from the modification to allow for cash
payments that would be made to option holders, at their election, as consideration for the cancellation of ther
options in the amount of the fair value of Wellsford common stock in excess of the adjusted exercise prices of
outstanding options as of March 31, 2006.

Changes in net assets in liquidation for the period November 18, 2005 to December 31, 2005

During the period from November 18, 2005 through December 31, 2005, Wellsford realized operating income of
$221.600 which primarily represents interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents offset in part by
operating costs of properties under development.

On November 22, 2005, Wellsford completed the sale of its major asset, the three residential rental phases of the
Palomino Park development for $176,000,000, before closing and other costs. At this time, Wellsford retired debt of
approximately $94,035,000 and paid interest and debt prepayment costs of approximately $5,012,000.

On December 14, 2005, Wellsford made the initial liquidating distribution of $14.00 per common share, aggre-
gating approximately $90,597,000, to its stockholders.

Results of operations for the period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005

Wellsford had net income of $3,018,000, or $0.47 per share for the period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2004,
The results for the 2005 period were positively impacted by Wellsford's share of income from the sale of properties
by Wellsford/Whitehall during the second quarter of 2005 and the gain of approximately $5,986,000 from the
redemption of Wellsford’s interest in Wellsford/Whitehall.

Wellsford sold its residential rental assets in November 2005 and thereby ceased all rental operations, eliminating
all rental income and property operating expenses, management, real estate taxes, clepreciation and certain other
costs for these assets. Property operating expenses of $9,867,000 represent all of the operating expenses, including
depreciation and amortization expense of $3,887,000, related to the Palomino Park residential rental assets prior to
their sale and the adoption of the liquidation basis of accounting.

The final two Silver Mesa condominium units were sold during the 2005 period. Revenue from these sales and the
associated cost of sales were $488,000 and $386,000, respectively, during the 2005 period.

Wellsford recognized income of $1 1,850,000 during the 2005 period from its joint venture investments as follows:

For the Period
January 1 to
November 17, 2005
Wellsford/Whitehall (A) .. ... . i i 5 11,148,000
Clairborne Fordham (B) .. ....... ... ... ... . i . 702,000
Income (loss) from joint ventures .. ...............ccouuvnu... 5 11,850,000

(A} Reflects an aggregate gain of approximately $5,986,000 upon redemption of Wallsford’s 35.21% equity interest
during September 2005 (for approximately $8,300,000 of proceeds) and receipt of $141,000 of additional proceecs
in December 2005. Fifteen properties were sold during the 2005 period for a net gain of which Wellsford’s share
was approximately $6,000,000.

(B} Reflects the Company’s 10% share of operating results and sales of Fordham Tower units in the 2007 period.
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Interest and other income of $2,069,000 was comprised of interest income on cash and investments of $1,492,000,
$518,000 of fee revenue from the Wellsford/Whitehall joint venture and $59,000 of interest from debt investments.

Interest expense of $5,482,000 was comprised of interest on mortgage notes and construction loans payable (net of
amounts capitalized) of $4,658,000 and interest on debentures of $824,000 through their redemption in April 2005.

Income tax expense of $91,000 in the 2005 period is net of a net deferred tax credit of $109,000. The current taxes
relate to minimum state and local taxes based on capital.

Income Taxes

Private Reis had NOL carryforwards aggregating approximately $11,800,000 at May 30, 2007 expiring in the years
2019 to 2026. These losses may be utilized against consolidated taxable income, subject to a $5,300,000 annual
limitation.

The Company separately has NOLs which resulted from the Company’s merger with Value Property Trust (“VLP”)
in 1998 and its operating losses in 2004, 2006 and 2007 (prior to the Merger). There is an annual limitation on the
use of such NOLs after an ownership change, pursuant to the Code. As a result of the Merger, the Company has
experienced such an ownership change which has resulted in a new annual limitation on the ability to utilize the
Company’s NOLs, which is estimated to be $2,779,000. As a result of the new annual limitation and expirations, the
Company expects that it coutd only potentially utilize approximately $38,100,000 of these remaining NOLs at
December 31, 2007. Of such amount, approximately $4,400,000 will expire in 2008 and approximately $5,558,000
will expire in 2010. A further requirement of the tax rules is that after a corporation experiences an ownership
change, it must satisfy the “continuity of business enterprise” requirement {which generally requires that a
corporation continue its historic business or use a significant portion of its historic business assets in its business for
the two-year period beginning on the date of the ownership change) to be able to utilize its NOLs. There can be no
assurance that this requirement will be met with respect to the Merger ownership change. If the Company fails to
satisfy this requirement, the Company would be unable to utilize any of its NOLs; however, there would be no such
limitation on the Private Reis NOLs.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes including at December 31, 2006 the liquidation basis beginning in 2005
and the amounts used for income tax purposes.

The net deferred tax liability was approximately $1,314,000 at December 31, 2007 and is reflected as a non current
liability in the accompanying balance sheet. The significant portion of the deferred tax liability relates to the
intangible assets recorded at the time of the Merger in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141. The
Company’s net deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2006 are reported in accrued expenses and other liabilities in
the Statement of Net Assets in Liquidation at December 31, 2006. The deferred tax assets and labilities at
December 31, 2006 take into consideration the recordation of assets at estimated net realizable value. During 2007,
the Company determined that the December 31, 2006 deferred tax assets and the valuation allowance shoutd have
included the tax impact of the Company’s stock option cancellation liability. Accordingly, the December 31, 2006
amounts have been adjusted with no impact on the carrying amount of the net deferred tax liability at that date.

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the
evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Accordingly, management has determined that valuation allowances of approximately $20,500,000 and
$31,114,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are necessary. The reduction in the valuation allowance
during 2007 results primarily from the expiration of NOLs during 2007, the reduction of the available NOLs to the
calculated maximum potential usage arising from the new annual limitation described above and the change from
the liquidation basis of accounting to the going concern basis in 2007 and the related elimination of the reserve for
future costs, offset in part by an increase in the allowance related to real estate impairments. In addition, the
Company recorded the tax benefits of certain tax assets of approximately $2,378,000 as part of the purchase price
allocation in the Merger. The allowance at December 31, 2007 and 2006 relates primarily to existing NOLs of the
Company, AMT credits and the excess of a portion of the tax basis of certain real estate development assets over
their respective financial statement basis. The 2006 amount also includes an allowance for a portion of estimated
future liquidation costs.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements such as current operating and capitalizabie
costs, near-term product development and enhancements of the web site and databases, the current portion of long-
term debt, operating and capital leases, construction and development costs, other capital expenditures, cancellaticn
of outstanding stock options, debt repayments or additional collateral for construction loans, generally through the
use of available cash, cash generated from the operations of Reis Services (restricted. to use for obligations of Reis
Services), sales of condominium units, single family homes and land, the sale or realization of other assets, releases
from escrow reserves and accounts, distributions from Clairborne Fordham, interest revenue, the availability of
$2,000,000 for working capital purposes of Reis Services under the Bank Loan, and proceeds from constructicn
financings, refinancings, modifications to borrowing capacity and covenant terms on existing construction loans
and the ability to extend maturity dates on existing construction financings through the use of available extensicn
options and negotiated loan modifications.

The Company expects to meet its long-term liquidity requirements such as future operating and capitalizable costs,
product development and enhancements of the web site and databases, the non-currznt portion of long-term dekt,
operating and capital leases, construction and development costs, other capital expenditures and debt repayments or
additional collateral for construction loans generally through the use of available cash, cash generated from the
operations of Reis Services (restricted to use for obligations of Reis Services), sales of condominium units, sing.e
family homes and land, interest revenue, the availability of $2,000,000 for working capital purposes of Reis
Services under the Bank Loan, and proceeds from construction financing, refinancings, modifications to terms and
borrowing capacity and covenant terms on existing construction loans and the ability to extend maturity dates cn
existing construction financings through the use of available extension options and negotiated loan modifications.

Cash and cash equivalents aggregated approximately $23,238,000 at December 31, 2007. Management conside:s
such amount to be adequate and expects it to continue to be adequate to meet cperating and lender liquidivy
requirements both in the short and long terms.

Reis Services Bank Loan

In connection with the Merger agreement, Private Reis entered into an agreement, dared October 11, 2006, with the
Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as administrative agent and BMO Capital Markets, as lead arranger, which
provides for a term loan of up to an aggregate of $20,000,000 and revolving loans up o an aggregate of $7,000,000.
Loan proceeds were used to finance $25,000,000 of the cash portion of the Merger consideration and the remaining
$2,000,000 may be utilized for future working capital needs of Reis Services. The loans are secured by a security
interest in substantially all of the assets, tangible and intangible, of Reis Services and a pledge by the Company of its
membership interest in Reis Services. The Bank Loan restricts the amount of payments Reis Services can make 1o
the Company each year. The balance of the Bank Loan was $24,250,000 at December 31, 2007.

Reis Services is required to (1} make principal payments on the term loan on a quarterly basis commencing cn
June 30, 2007 in increasing amounts pursuant to the payment schedule provided in the credit agreement, and
{2} permanently reduce the revolving loan commitments on a quarterly basis commencing on March 31, 2010. The
final maturity date of all amounts borrowed pursuant to the credit agreement is September 30, 2012,

At December 31, 2007, the interest rate was LIBOR + 2.50% (LIBOR was 4.60% at December 31, 2007). LIBOR
spreads are based on a leverage ratio, as defined in the credit agreement. Interest spreads could range from a high of
LIBOR + 3.00% (if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 4.50 to 1.00} to a low of LIBOR + 1.50% (if the
leverage ratio is less than 2.75 to 1.00). Reis Services also pays a fee on the unused $2,000,000 portion of the
revolving loan of 0.50% per annum, as well as an annual administration fee of $25,000. The Bank Loan requires
interest rate protection in an aggregate notional principal amount of not less than 50% of the outstanding balance of
the Bank Loan. The term of any interest rate protection must be for a minimum of three years. An interest rate cep
was purchased for $109,000 in June 2007, which caps LIBOR at 5.50% on $15,000,000 trom June 2007 to Jure
2010. The fair value of the cap was approximately $19,000 at December 31, 2007. The change in the fair value of
approximately $90,000 was charged to interest expense during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007,
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In connection with obtaining the Bank Loan, Reis Services paid fees and incuorred third party costs aggregating
approximately $501,000 which are amortized over the term of the loan. Such costs are included as other assets in the
accompanying financial statements.

Residential Development Debt

In April 2005, the Company obtained development and construction financing for Gold Peak in the aggregate
amount of approximately $28,800,000, which we refer to as the Gold Peak Construction Loan. The Gold Peak
Construction Loan bears interest at LIBOR + 1.65% per annum, matures in November 2009 and has additional
extensions at the Company’s option upon satisfaction of certain conditions being met by the borrower. Borrowings
occur as costs are expended and principal repayments are made as units are sold. The balance of the Gold Peak
Construction Loan was approximately $6,417,000 and $9,550,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The outstanding balance on the development portion of the loan was repaid during 2006 and the related
commitment was terminated in February 2007. The Company has a 5% LIBOR cap expiring in June 2008 for
the Gold Peak Construction Loan.

In December 2004, the Company obtained development and construction financing for East Lyme in the aggregate
amount of approximately $21,177,000, which we refer to as the East Lyme Construction Loan. The East Lyme
Construction Loan bears interest at LIBOR + 2.15% per annum and matured in December 2007 with two one-year
extensions at the Company’s option upon satisfaction of certain conditions being met by the borrower. Borrowings
occur as costs are expended and principal repayments are made as homes are sold. The Company did not meet the
minimum home sale requirement condition and, accordingly, is negotiating extension and covenant terms with the
lender. The lender extended the December 2007 maturity date to April 15, 2008 with no changes to the terms of the
loans while negotiations for an extension continue. There can be no assurance that a further extension, renewal or
refinancing will be granted on favorable terms, or at all. The balance of the East Lyme Construction Loan was
approximately $6,966,000 and $10,579,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Company had a 4%
LIBOR cap which expired in July 2007 for a portion of the East Lyme Construction Loan.

The East Lyme Construction Loan and Gold Peak Construction Loan require the Company to have a minimum
GAAP net worth, as defined, of $50,000,000. The Company may be required to make an additional $2,000,000 cash
collateral deposit for the East Lyme Construction Loan and a $2,000,000 paydown of the Gold Peak Construction
Loan if net worth, as defined, is below $50,000,000. The Company is required to maintain minimum liquidity levels
at each quarter end for the East Lyme and Gold Peak Construction Loans, the most restrictive of which is
$10,000,000. '

The lender for the East Lyme Construction Loan has also provided a $3,000,000 letter of credit to a municipality in
connection with the construction of public roads at the East Lyme project. The Company has posted $1,300,000 of
restricted cash as collateral for this letter of credit. During January 2008, the letter of credit requirement was
reduced to $1,750,000 by the municipality.

Material Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes material contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007:

(amounts in thousands)

Payments Duoe
For the Years Ended December 31,
Contractual Obligations 2008 2009 and 2010 2011 and 2012 Thereafter Aggregate
Principal payments for all debt
obligations . ..................... $ 15,059 $ 10,207 $ 12,945 $ — % 38,211
Operating leases for offices. . .......... 1,680 2,749 2,859 5,542 12,830
Total contractual obligations ... ........ $ 16,739 $ 12956 % 15804 § 5542 % 51,041
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Other Items Impacting Liquidity
Palomino Park

The Company has been the developer and managing owner of Palomino Park, a five phase, 1,707 unit multifamily
residential development in Highlands Ranch, a southern suburb of Denver, Colorado. Three phases (Blue Ridge,
Red Canyon and Green River) aggregating 1,184 units were operated as rental properties until they were sold in
November 2003, as described below. The 264 unit Silver Mesa phase was converted into condominiums (sales
commenced in February 2001 and by August 2005 the Company had sold ail 264 urits). The Gold Peak phase is
under construction as a 259 unit for-sale condominium project.

Gold Peak

In 2004, the Company commenced the development of Gold Peak, the final phase of Palomino Park. Gold Peak i3
259 condominium units on the remaining 29 acre land parcel at Palomine Park. Gold Peak unit sales commenced in
January 2006. At December 31, 2007, there were 20 Gold Peak units under contract with nominat down payments.
The following table provides information regarding Gold Peak sales:

For the Years Ended

December 31 Project
2007 2006 Total
Number of units sold. . .......... 77 108 185
Gross sales proceeds . ........... $ 24,226,000 $ 31,742,000 $ 55,968,000
Principal paydown on Gold Peak
Construction Loan . . .. ........ $ 15,681,000 $ 24,528,000 $ 40,209,000

Palomino Park Transactions

On September 30, 2007, the Company purchased EQR’s remaining 7.075% interest in the corporation that owns the
remaining Palomino Park assets for $1,200,000.

In September 2006, the Company sold its Palomino Park telecommunication assets, service contracts and
operations and in November 2006 it received a net amount of approximately $988,000. At that time, the buyer
held back approximately $396,000, of which approximately $208,000, including $16,000 of accrued interest, was
received by the Company in September 2007 with the remaining receivable of approximately $204,000 expected to
be released in September 2008. The Company believes the remaining balance will ke collected and has recorded
such amount at full value at December 31, 2007.

In November 2005, the Company sold the Blue Ridge, Red Canyon and Green River rental phases for $176,000,000)
to a national financial services organization and realized a gain of approximately $57,202,000 after EQR’s interest,
specific bonuses paid to executives of the Company related to the sale and estimated state and Federal taxes. This
amount is reflected in the adjustment to net realizable value of $72,485,000 on the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Net Assets in Liquidation at November 17, 2005. The Company repaid an aggregate of approximatel;y
$94,035,000 of mortgage debt and paid approximately $4,600,000 of debt prepayment. costs from the sale proceeds,
among other selling costs.

East Lyme

The Company has a 95% ownership interest as managing member of a venture which originally owned 101 singtz
family home lots situated on 139 acres of land in East Lyme, Connecticut upon which it is constructing houses fcr
sale. The Company purchased the land for $6,200,000 in June 2004.

After purchasing the land, the Company executed an agreement with a homebuilder to construct the homes for this
project. The homebuilder is a 5% partner in the project and receives other consideration.
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During the fourth quarter of 2005, the model home was completed and home sales commenced in June 2006. At
December 31, 2007, three East Lyme homes were under contract for which deposits of 10% of the contract sales
price were provided by the buyer. The following table provides information regarding East Lyme sales:

For the Years Ended

December 31, Project
2007 2006 Total
Number of homes sold . ... ........ 14 5 19
Gross sales proceeds . . ............ h 9,797,000 $ 3,590,000 $ 13,387,000
Principal paydown on East Lyme
Construction Loan. . . ........... $ 8,785,000 $ 3,246,000 3% 12,031,000

At the time of the initial land purchase, the Company executed an option to purchase a contiguous 85 acre parcel of
land which can be used to develop 60 single family homes (the “East Lyme Land”™) and subsequently acquired the
East Lyme Land in November 2005 for $3,720,000, including future costs which were the obligation of the seller.
The East Lyme Land requires remediation of pesticides used on the property when it was an apple orchard at a cost
estimated by management to be approximately $1,000,000. Remediation costs were considered in evaluating the
value of the property. for liquidation basis purposes at May 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. This estimate
continues to be recognized as a liability in the going concern balance sheet at December 31, 2007. This estimate
could change in the future as plans for the remediation are finalized. An expected time frame for the remediation has
not been established as of the date of this report.

In December 2007, the Company recorded aggregate impairment charges of approximately $3,149,000 refated to
East Lyme and the East Lyme Land. These charges were the result of continuing deteriorating market conditions in
the fourth quarter of 2007 and management’s expectations for the future. The Company utilized assumptions in its
discounted cash flow model that reflected the negative impact of the current market conditions and the negative
effects on sales revenue, sales velocity, costs and the development plan.

Other Developments
Claverack

Through November 2007, the Company had a 75% ownership interest in a joint venture that owned two land parcels
aggregating approximately 300 acres in Claverack, New York. The Company acquired its interest in the joint
venture for $2,250,000 in November 2004. One land parcel was subdivided into seven single family home lots on
approximately 65 acres. The remaining 235 acres, known as The Stewardship, which was originally subdivided into
six single family home lots, now is subdivided into 48 developable single family home lots.

During July 2006, the initial home on one lot of the seven lot parcel was completed and in October 2006, the home
and a contiguous lot were sold for approximately $1,200,000 and the related outstanding debt of approximately
$690,000 was repaid to the bank. In February 2007, Claverack sold one lot to the venture partner, leaving four lots of
the criginal seven lots available for sale. In November 2007, the joint venture partner’s interest in the joint venture
was redeemed in exchange for the remaining four lots, representing the remaining approximate 45 acres of the
original 65 acre parcel. This resulted in the Company being the sole owner of The Stewardship. The Company
recorded a loss of approximately $54,000 in the fourth quarter of 2007 from this redemption transaction.

Stock Option Plans

At March 31, 2006, the Company determined that it was appropriate to record a provision during the first quarter of
2006 aggregating approximately $4,227,000 to reflect the' modification permitting an option holder to receive a net
cash payment in cancellation of the holder’s option based upon the fair value of an option in excess of the exercise
price. The reserve is adjusted at the end of each reporting period to reflect the settlement amounts of the liability,
exercises of stock options and the impact of changes to the market price of the stock at the end of each reporting
period, The change in the liability is reflected in the statement of changes in net assets in liquidation through May 31,
2007.
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During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company made cash payments aggregaling approximately $668,000
related to 237,426 options cancelled for option holders electing this method. The remaining reserve for option
cancellations reported at December 31, 2006 on the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets in Liquidation was
approximately $2,633,000 and was calculated based upon the difference in the closing stock price of the Company
at December 31, 2006 of $7. 52 and the individual exercise prices of all outstanding “in-the-money” options at that
date.

At May 31, 2007, the liability for options which could be settled in cash was approximately $7,269,000 based uport
the difference in the closing stock price of the Company of $11.00 per share and the individual exercise prices of al.
outstanding “in-the-money” options at that date. No cash payments were made during the five months endec!
May 31, 2007.

During the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007, an aggregate of 278,571 options were settled with net cash
payments aggregating approximately $1,580,000. In addition, in a series of transactions in June 2007, Jeffrey
Lynford tendered certain shares of common stock he owned as payment of the exercise price for 891,949 options.
Further, he reduced the number of shares he would ultimately receive in this exercise transaction to satisfy his tax
obligation of approximately $2,072,000 in cash (which was retained by the Company to pay for his applicable
withholding taxes and was treated as an option cancellation payment). As a result, he received a net of
212,070 shares of the Company’s common stock upon the completion of this exercise. Pursuant to his option
agreements, Jeffrey Lynford received “reload™ options to purchase 243,931 shares of the Company’s common stock:
which have an exercise price of $10.67 per option reflecting the market value of the Company’s stock at the time o
the grant. These reload options expired on December 31, 2007, did not have a net cash settlement feature and were:
treated as an equity award, In May 2007, 48,508 options were exercised for which the Company received proceeds
of approximately $282,000.

At December 31, 2007, the option liability was approximately $527,000 based upon the difference in the closing
stock price of the Company at December 31, 2007 of $7.68 per share and the individual exercise prices of the
outstanding 178,124 “in-the-money” options that are accounted for as a liability award at that date. The Company
recorded a compensation benefit for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 ir General and Administrative
expenses in the statement of operations of approximately $1,847,000, as a result of the stock price declines during
the period. Changes in the settlement value of option awards treated under the liability method as defined by
SFAS No. 123R are reflected as income or expense in the statemerits of operations under the going concern basis of
accounting.

The estimate for option cancellations could change from period to period based upon (1) an option holder eithe:
(a) exercising the options in a traditional manner or (b) electing the net cash settlement alternative and (2) changes
in the market price of the Company’s common stock. At each period end, an increass in the Company’s common
stock price would result in an increase in compensation expense, whereas a decline in the stock price would reduce
compensation expense.

The Effects of Inflation/Declining Prices and Trends

Condominium and Home Sales

As the softening of the national housing market continues, the Company’s operations relating to residential
development and the sale of homes have been negatively impacted in markets where the Company owns property.
Demand at certain of the Company’s projects and sales of inventory are lower than expected resulting in price
concessions and/or additional incentives being offered, a slower pace of construction, building only homes which
are under contract and the consideration of selling home lots either individually or in bulk instead of building
homes. The East Lyme project experienced an increase in sales activity and construction of single family homes
being built for contract during the second and third’ quarters of 2007, primarilvy driven by a multinational
pharmaceutical firm'’s relocation of its employees to a local research facility. This increase in construction and
sales activity for this project has not been sustained.

The continuing increases in energy costs and construction materials (such as concrete, lumber and sheetrock) could
adversely impact our home building business. As costs increase, our products become more expensive to build and
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profit margins could deteriorate. In order to maintain profit margin levels, we may need to increase sale prices of our
condominiums and homes if such increases can be sustained in the current market conditions. A continuing rise in
energy costs, the uncertainty as to the United States economy in general and more specific to the local economies
where our residential activities are located, as well as increasing illiquidity in the residential mortgage market may
negatively impact our marketing efforts and the ability for buyers to afford and/or finance the purchase of one of our
homes or lots, which could result in the inability to meet targeted sales prices or cause us to offer sale price
reductions. The Company has limited its exposure from the effects of increasing interest on its construction loans
and a portion of the Bank Loan by purchasing interest caps.

The number and timing of future sales of any residential units by the Company could be adversely impacted by the
availability of credit to potential buyers and the inability of potential home buyers to sell their existing homes.

Reis Services

The Company monitors commercial real estate industry and market trends to determine their potential impact on its
products and product development initiatives. To date, neither the recent volatility in the U.S. housing and
residential mortgage markets or the credit markets in general, nor the slowdown in commercial real estate market
activity has materially affected the marketability of the Company’s products or the renewal rates of its subscription
services. During historical periods of economic and commercial real estale market volatility, Private Reis
experienced stable demand for current information on changing market conditions and an increase in demand
for its portfolio products as mortgage lenders place greater emphasis on assessing portfolio risk. There is no
assurance that the level of demand for Reis Services’s products will continue through future market volatility,

Chaﬁges in Cash Flows

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2007 to the year ended December 31, 2006

‘Cash flows combined for the period Janvary 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007 and for the period June 1, 2007 to
December 31, 2007 and for the year ended December 31, 2006 are summarized as follows:

For the
2007 Ened
January 1 to June 1 to January 1 to December 31,
December 31 December 3 May 31 2006
Combined Going Concern Liquidation Liquidation
Basis Basis Basis
Net cash provided by (used in) .
operating activities. ......... $ 6,754,893 § 6,627,325 $ 127568 % (2,598,223)
Net cash (used in} investing ‘
activities .. ............... (12,503,631 (11,895,464) (608,167) (726,021)
Net cash (used in) provided by
financing activities .. ........ (10,063,105) (8,059,951) (2,003,154) 1,347,491
Net (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents. .. ............. $ (15,811,843 § (13,328,090 $ (2,483,753) § (1,976,753)

Cash flows from operating activities changed $9,353,000 from $2,598,000 used in the 2006 period to $6,755,000
provided in the 2007 period. The significant components of this change related to cash provided by the continuing
construction activities and the operating results of the Reis Services segment.

Cash flows from investing activities changed $11,778,000 from $726,000 used in the 2006 period to $12,504,000
used in the 2007 period. The significant components of this change related to the use of cash for the Private Reis
Merger consideration, net of cash acquired of $6,527,000, the payment of Merger costs for investment banking,
legal and accounting fees and other Merger costs of $2,659,000, the purchase of EQR’s remaining interest in
Palomino Park for $1,200,000 and investments in other real estate assets, web site and database development and
furniture, fixtures and equipment aggregating $2,238,000, offset by the return of capital from the Company’s
investment in Clairborne Fordham of $120,000. The investing activity in the 2006 period was comprised of cash
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proceeds from the January 2006 sale of the Beekman assets for $1,297,000, offset by $2,023,000 paid for Merger
costs in that period.

Cash flows from financing activities changed $11,410,000 from $1,347,000 provided by the 2006 period to
$10,063,000 used in the 2007 period primarily from the net effect of borrowings and repayments. Borrowings on the
East Lyme, Gold Peak and Claverack construction loans aggregated $29,343,000 during the 2006 period as
compared to $17,719,000 in the 2007 period, primarily from fewer buildings under construction in the 2007 period
as we are nearing completion of the construction phase for the Gold Peak project. During the 2006 period.
approximately $24,528,000 was repaid on the Gold Peak Construction Loan from 108 condominium sales,
$3,246,000 was repaid on the East Lyme Construction Loan from five home sales and $690,000 was repaid on the
then existing Claverack loan from the sale of one home and a contiguous lot. During the 2007 period, approximately
$15,681,000 was repaid on the Gold Peak Construction Loan from 77 condominium unit sales and approximately
$8,785,000 was repaid on the East Lyme Construction Loan from 14 home sales. During the 2007 period, $750,00C
was repaid on the Bank Loan and $109,000 was used to purchase an interest rate cap. Other debt repayments in the
2007 period aggregated $107,000. Payments for option cancellations aggregated $2,632,000 in the 2007 period as
compared to $668,000 during the 2006 period. Proceeds received from the exercise of options by option holders
were $282,000 in 2007 as compared to $1,008,000 in the ;006 period.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2006 to the year ended December 31, 2005

Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 and combined for the period January 1, 2005 to November 17,
2005 and for the period November 18, 2005 to December 31, 2005 are summarized as follows:

For the
o 2005
December 31, January 1 to November 18 to January 1 to
2006 Decemnber 31 December 31 November 17
Liguidation Combined Liquidation Going Concern
Basis Basis Basis
Net cash (used in) operating
activities ... ...... ... ... 3 (2,598,223) % (21,014,213} § (4,418,378) § (16,595,835)
Net cash (used in) provided by
investing activities .......... (726,021) 206,175,796 169,462,078 36,713,718
Net cash provided by (used in) _
financing activities . . ... ..... 1,347,491 (209,998,287) - (183,560,741} (24,437,546)
Net (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents. . ... ........... $ (1,976,753) % (24836,704) $ (20,517,041) $ (4,319,663)

Cash flows used in operating activities changed $18,416,000 from $21,014,000 used in the 2005 period to
$2,598,000 used in the 2006 period. The significant components of this change related to significant amounts o:
cash aggregating $26,922,000 spent on the three development projects in 2005 without any sales activity. During;
2006, Wellsford began to close sales on the projects, particularly Gold Peak where 108 condominium units were:
sold, resulting in an overall decline in the balance of real ‘estate assets under development. During 2006 there were:
reductions in the reserve for estimated costs during the liquidation period from expenditures aggregating
$5,755,000 compared to $710,000 in the 2005 period.

Cash flows from investing activities changed $206,902,000 from $206,176,000 provided in the 2005 period to
$726,000 used in the 2006 period. The significant components of the 2005 amounts related to (1) the sale of the:
rental operations in Denver, Colorado in November 2005 for net proceeds of $166,912,000, (2) the redemption of
$27,550,000 of U.S. Government securities in 2005 (whereas there were no redemptions in the 2006 period as all of
these securities were fully redeemed in the fourth quarter of 2005), (3) the return of capital and redemption proceeds
from investments in joint ventures of $12,793,000 (primarily from sales of assets by Welisford/Whitehall during the:
2005 period and the redemption of our interest in that venture in September 2005) and the repayment of a not:
receivable of $1,032,000 in September 2005, offset by the October 2005 purchase of half of EQR’s minority interest
in the Palomino Park project for $2,087,000. During the 2006 period, the investing activities included the January
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2006 sale of the Beekman assets for $1,297,000, offset by deferred merger costs paid during the period of
$2,023,000.

Cash flows from financing activities changed $211,345,000 from $209,998.000 used in the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2005 1o $1,347,000 provided in the comparable 2006 period. During the year ended December 31, 2005,
Wellsford’s cash used in financing activities was primarily to pay the initial liquidating distribution of $14.00 per
common share to stockholders (aggregating approximately $90,597,000) on December 14, 2003, the retirement of
approximately $134,267,000 of debt and $4,080,000 of distributions for minority interest. The 2005 debt repay-
ments were primarily comprised of (1) $95,347,000 of principal payments on mortgages collateralized by the three
residential villages in the Palomino Park sale in November 2005, (2) the redemption of $25,775,000 of debentures
in May 2005 and (3) the redemption of $12,680,000 of Palomine Park bonds during the year. Borrowings on the East
Lyme, Gold Peak and Claverack construction loans aggregated $29,343,000 during the 2006 period as compared to
$18,890,000 in the 2005 period as a result of continuing construction activities at these projects. During the 2006
pertod, approximately $24,528,000 was repaid on the Gold Peak Construction Loan from 108 condominium unit
sales, $3,246,000 was repaid on the East Lyme Construction Loan from five home sales and $690,000 was repaid on
the then existing Claverack loan from the sale of one home and a contiguous lot. The 2006 period also reflects the
use of cash for the payment of option cancellations of $668,000 and the receipt of cash of $1,008,000 from the
exercise of stock options.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company’s primary market risk exposure has been to changes in interest rates. This risk is generally managed
by limiting the Company’s financing exposures, to the extent posmble by purchasing interest rate caps when
deemed appropriate.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company's only exposure to interest rates was variable rate based debt. This
exposure was minimized in certain circumstances through the use of interest rate caps. The following table presents
the effect of a 1% increase in the applicable base rates of variable rate debt at December 31, 2007:

(amounts in thousands)

Notional
Amount of
Interest Rate
Balance at Caps at LIBOR at Additional
December 31, December 31, LIBOR December 31, Interest
2007 2007 Cap 2007 Incurred

Variable rate debt:
With interest rate caps:

Gold Peak Construction Loan . ..... 3 6417 S
Bank Loan ,................... 24250 § 15,000 5.50% 4.60% 228 (A)
— 30,667 254
Without interest rate caps:
East Lyme Construction Loan . . .. ., 6,066 % — —3 4.60% 70 (CYB)
$ 37,633 $ I

(A) Reflects additional interest which could be incurred on the loan balance amount in excess of the notional amount at
December 31, 2007 for the effect of a 19 increase in LIBOR, plus any increase from the December 31, 2007 LIBOR to
the LIBOR cap if less than 1%.

(B)  An increase in interest incurred would result primarily in additional interest being capitalized into the basis of this
project. ‘

{C)  The East Lyme interest rate cap of LIBOR at 4.00% expired in July 2007.
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The following table presents the effect of a 1% increase in the applicable base rates of variable rate debt at
December 31, 2006:

(amounts in thousands)

Noticnal
Amount of
Interest Rate
Balance at Caps at - LIBOR at Additional.
December 31, December 31, LIBOR  December 31, Interest
2006 ‘ 2006 Cap 2007 Incurred
Construction loans payable:
With interest rate caps:
Gold Peak Construction Loan ... ... $ 9,550 % 17,500 5.00% 5.32% b —(A)}B)
East Lyme Construction Loan . . .. .. 10,579 7,400 4.00% 5.32% " 32(A)XB)
20,129 32
Without interest rate caps:
Claverack Construction Loan. .. .. .. - — —% 5.32% - —(O)
$ 20,129 $ 32

(A)  Reflects additional interest which could be incurred on the loan balance amount in excess of the notional amount at:
December 31, 2006 for the effect of 2 1% increase in LIBOR.

(B) An increase in interest incurred would result primarily in -additional interest being capitalized into the basis of this
project.

{C)  The Claverack Construction Loan could have been drawn upon up to approximately $1,310 at December 31, 2006. The:
effect of a 1% increase in LIBOR on thi$ loan if the entire balance was outstanding svould have been $13 per year.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The response to this Item 8 is included as a separate section of this annual report on Form 10-K starting at page F-1
and is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2007, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participatior.
of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(¢) or Rule 15d-15(¢) under the Securities Exchange:
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™)). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007 were
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company files o
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specifiec!
in the SEC rules and forms, and to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth
quarter of 2007. ‘
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Internal
control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and
effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal contro! system was
designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and
fair presentation of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems
‘determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation
and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework”. Based
upon this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial
reporting is effective in accordance with those criteria. Management’s assessment as of December 31, 2007 did not
include internal controls of Reis Services, LLC (“Reis Services™), a subsidiary of the Company, which is included in
the 2007 consolidated financial statements of the Company, due to the fact that Reis Services (which had no prior
operations) acquired the business of Reis, Inc., a Delaware corporation, in May 2007. This exclusion is considered
appropriate using guidance provided by the SEC in “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports.” Reis Services constitutes 67.3% of
consolidated assets as of December 31, 2007 and 40.2% and 106.4% of consolidated revenues and net income,
respectively, for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007.

Emst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which is on page F-3 of this annual
report on Form 10-K.

Item 98. Other Information.

None.
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PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,

The executive officers and directors of the Company, their ages and their positions are as follows:

Name Age Positions and Offices Held

, Jeffrey H. Lynford................. 60 Chairman of the Board and Director*

Lloyd Lynford. .. ................. 52 Chief Executive Officer, President and
Director*

Jonathan Garfield ................. 51 Executive Vice President and Director*
James J.Burns ........ ... ... L 68 Vice Chairman and Secretary
David M. Strong . ................. 49  Senior Vice President of Development
Mark P. Cantaluppi . ............... 37 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
William Sander .. . .......... JUN 40 Chief Operating Officer, Reis Services
Bonnie R. Cohen. ................. 65 Director**
Douglas Crocker Il . ............... 67 Director*
Michael J. Del Giudice ............. 64 Director*
Meyer S. Frucher. .. ............... 61 Director**
Mark S. Germain., .. .......... . ... 57 Director*
Edward Lowenthal ................ 63 Director***
M. Christian Mitchell .............. 53 Director*

*  Term expires during 2008.
**  Term expires during 2009.
**% Term expires during 2010.

The information contained in the sections captioned “*PROPOSAL 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS — Nom-
inees for Election as Directors,” “— Other Directors,” *— Executive Officers,” “— Board Committees — Audit
Committee,” “— Board Committees — Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee,” “— Code of Busi-
ness Conduct and Ethics” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” of the Company”s

defintive proxy statement for the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders is incorporated herein by reference,

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information contained in the sections captioned “PROPOSAL 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS — Ex-
ecutive Compensation” and “— Compensation of Directors” of the Company’s defiritive proxy statement for the
2008 annual meeting of stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12, SecurityIO\mership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information contained in the sections captioned “PROPOSAL 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS — Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” and “— Securities
Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” of the Company’s defiritive proxy statement for the
2008 annual meeting of stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information contained in the section captioned “PROPOSAL 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS — Board of
Directors Meetings,” “— Board Committees” and “— Certain Relationships and Other Related Transactions™ of the
Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information contained in the section captioned “Principal Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Fees and Services” of the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders i3
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) (1) Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheet (going concern basis) at December 31, 2007
Consolidated Statement of Net Assets in Liquidation (liquidation basis) at December 31, 2006

Consclidated Statements of Operations (going concern basis) for the Period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007
and for the Period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets in Liquidation (liquidation basis} for the Period January 1,
2007 to May 31, 2007, for the Year Ended December 31, 2006 and for the Period November 18, 2005 to
December 31, 2005

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity {going concern basis) for the Period June 1, 2007 to
December 31, 2007 and for the Period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 (going concern basis),
for the Period January 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007, for the Year Ended December 31, 2006 and for the Period
November 18, 2005 to December 31, 2005 (liquidation basis) and for the Period January 1, 2005 to
November 17, 2005 (going concemn basis)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
III. Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation.

All other schedules have been omitted because the required information of such other schedules is not present, is not
present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule or is included in the consolidated financial statements.

(3) Exhibits

Exhibit
. Description

2.1 Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. Plan of Liquidation (terminated as of May 31, 2007) (incorporated by

reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on
October 11, 2005)

22 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Wellsford, Reis Services, LLC and Reis, Inc. dated as of
October 11, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on October 11, 2006)

2.3 Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 30, 2007, to the Merger Agreement dated as of October 11, 2006, by

and among Reis, Inc., Wellsford and Reis Services, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
.Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 3, 2007)

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Wellsford filed on May 30, 1997 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Forin S-11 (File No. 333-32445) filed on July 30, 1997)

3.2 Articles Supplementary of Wellsford (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on December 21, 2006)

33 Articles of Amendment of Wellsford (changing the Company’s name to “Reis, Inc.”") (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2007}

34 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Amended

Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on December 6, 2007)

4.1 The rights of the Company’s equity security holders are defined in Articles Vand VI of Exhibit 3.1 above.
4.2 Specimen certificate for Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on November 29, 2007)
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10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 30, 2007 among Wellsford, Lloyd Lynford and Jonathan
Garfield (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to the Schedule 13D filed by Jonathan Garfield with
respect to the Company on June 8, 2007)

Lock-Up Agreement dated as of May 30, 2007 among Wellsford and certain stockholders of Reis, Inc. (a
Delaware corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Schedule 13D filed by Jonathar
Garfield with respect to the Company on June 8, 2007)

Voting Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2006, by and among Wellsford and certain stockhoelders of Reis,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 11, 2006)

Escrow Agreement among Wellsford, Eloyd Lynford, Jonathan Garfield and "The Bank of New York, datec!
as of May 30, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.1 to Exhibit 2.2 above)

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2006, among Reis, Inc. (a Delaware corporation), as Borrower,
the Lenders listed therein, as Lenders, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as Administrative Agent, ancl
BMO Capital Markets, as Lead Arranger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to Amendment No. 1
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-139715) filed on March 9, 2007)

Development Loan Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2005, by and between Gold Peak at Palomino Park:
LLC and Key Bank Nationa} Association (incorporated by reference to Exkibit 10.60 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 11, 2005)

Promissory Note for the $8,800,000 Development Loan, dated as of April 6, 2005, by Gold Peak a:
Palomino Park LLC as Maker to Key Bank National Association as Payee (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.61 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 11, 2005)

Payment Guaranty for the $8,800,000 Development Loan, dated as of April 6, 2005, by Wellsford as
Guarantor to and for the benefit of Key Bank National Association as lender {incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.62 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 11, 2005)

Construction Loan Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2005, by and between Gold Peak at Palomino Park LLC
and Key Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the Company’s Curren:
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 11, 2005)

Promissory Note for the $20,000,000 Construction Loan, dated as of April 6, 2005, by Gold Peak at
Palomino Park LLC as Maker to Key Bank National Association as Payee (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.64 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 11, 2005)

Payment Guaranty for the $20,000,000 Construction Loan, dated as of April 6, 2005, by Wellsford as
Guarantor to and for the benefit of Key Bank National Association as lender (incorporated by reference ta
Exhibit 10.65 to'the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 11, 20035)

Purchase and Sale Contract, dated as of August 26, 2005, for Palomino Park, Douglas County, Colerado,
between Park at Highlands LLC, Red Canyon at Palomino Park LLC, Green River at Palomino Park LLC
and Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Scptember 30, 2005)

Commercial Revolving and Construction Loan Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2004, between East
Lyme Housing Ventures, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.56 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Promissory Note dated as of December 23, 2004, between East Lyme Housing Ventures, LLC and
Wachovia Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Unconditional Guaranty dated as of December 23, 2004, by and among Wzllsford, East Lyme Housing
Ventures, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Revolving Promissory Note dated as of December 23, 2004 between East Lyme Housing Ventures, LLC
and Wachovia Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2006, between Wellsford and Beckman Acquisition
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2005)
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10.17 Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. 1997 Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.29 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on
May 21, 1997} A)

10.18 Amended and Restated Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. 1998 Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006)(A)

10.19  Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. Rollover Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on May 21, 1997)(A)

10.20  Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2007, among Wellsford, Reis
Services, LLC and Jeffrey H. Lynford (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2007)(A)

10.21 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2006, among Wellsford, Reis Services, LLC, and Lloyd
Lynford (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-139705) filed on December 28, 2006)(A)

10.22  First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of May 17, 2007, among Wellsford, Reis Services,
LLC and Lloyd Lynford (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2007)(A)

1023 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2006, among Wellsford, Reis Services, LLC, and
Jonathan Garfield (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form $-4 (File No. 333-139705) filed on December 28, 2006)(A)

10.24  First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2007, among Wellsford, Reis Services,
LLC and Jonathan Garfield (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2007)(A)

10.25 Employment Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2007, between Wellsford and Mark P. Cantaluppi
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 18, 2007)(A)

10.36 Letter Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2006, between Wellsford and James J. Burns (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 24, 2006)(A)

10.37 Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2004, between Wellsford
and David M. Strong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on October 22, 2004)(A)

10.38 Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of March §, 2006, between
Wellsford and David M. Strong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2006)(A)

10.39 . Employment Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2007, between Reis Services, LLC and William Sander
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,33 to the Company’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
for the year ended December 31, 2006)(A)

14.1 Reis, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors, Senior Financial Officers, Other Officers
and All Other Employees

21.}  Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP — Reis, Inc.

232 Consent of Emst & Young [.1.P — Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries

31.1  Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2  Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1  Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(A)  This document is either a management contract or compensatory plan.

(b) Those exhibits listed in Item 15(a)(3) above and not indicated as “incorporated by reference” are filed as
exhibits to this Form 10-K.

{c)  Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

REIS, INC.

By: /s/ Mark P. Cantaluppi

Mark P. Cantaluppi
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 10, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Jeffrey H. Lynford Chairman of the Board and Director March 10, 2008
Jeffrey H. Lynford
/s/ Lloyd Lynford Chief Executive Officer, President and March 10, 2008
Lloyd Lynford Director {Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Jonathan Garfield Executive Vice President and Directer March 10, 2008
Jonathan Garfield
s/ Mark P. Cantaluppi Vice President, Chief Financial Officer March 10, 2008
Mark P. Cantaluppi (Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer)
fs/ Bonnie R. Cohen Director March 10, 2008
Bonnie R. Cohen
/s/ Douglas Crocker II Director March 10, 2008

Douglas Crocker II

/sf Michael J. Del Giudice Director March 10, 2008
Michael J. Del Giudice

/s/ Meyer S. Frucher Director ' March 10, 2008
Meyer S. Frucher

fs/ Mark 8. Germain Director March 10, 2008
Mark 8. Germain

/s/ Edward Lowenthal Director March 10, 2008
Edward Lowenthal

fs/ M. Christian Mitchell Director March 10, 2008
M. Christian Mitchell
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The following is a list of subsidiaries of the Registrant, Reis, Inc. (formerly Wellsford Real Properties, Inc.)
with the respective state of organization as of December 31, 2007:

Subsidiary State
Reis Services, LLC . . ... . L e e Maryland .
Wellsford Capital .. ... ..ooorneeane e, P Maryland
Wellsford Capital Properties, LL.C. ...... ... . ... .. o i, Delaware
Wellsford Finance, LLL.C. . ... .. it i et it c e eenn e Delaware
Wellsford CRC Holding Corp. ... i Maryland
Clairborne Fordham Tower, LLC .. ... ... . .. ... .. .. i Delaware
Creamer Vitale Wellsford LL.C................... e Delaware
Wellsford Fordham Tower, LL.C. ... .. ... .. . . i Delaware
Wellsford Park Highlands Corp. ......... .. .. .. . . i, Colorado
Park at Highlands L.1.C. ... .. .. . .. .. Colorado
Red Canyon at Palomino Park LL.C. ....... .. ... ... .. ot Colorado
Silver Mesa at Palomino Park LL.C. ............. .. e Colorado
Green River at Palomino Park LL.C. .., ... ... ... . . . i Colorado
Gold Peak at Palomino Park LL.C. ... ... ... ... oo i . Colorado
Palomino Park Telecom LL.C. . ... ... ... .. ... . i it ‘Colorado
Parkside Café at Palomino Park, Inc. . . ... ... ... ... ..o ool Colorado
Palomino Park Owners Association . ... ......uurtinee e s Colorado
Palomino Park Public Improvements Corp. ......... ... ... v Colorado
Wellsford Commercial Properties Trust .. ......... ... .. ... ... ... Maryland
Wellsford/Whitehall Group, LL.C. ... ... ... .. .. i Delaware
Wellsford Ventures, Inc. . ........ ... . i Maryland
Wellsford Mantua LLC . . ... ... .. .. e Delaware
East Lyme Housing Ventures, LLC . .. ..... ... ... .. . i, Delaware
Claverack Housing Ventures, LLC . . .. ... .. ... . i Delaware

Orchards IT Ventures LLC . ... ... ... 0 i et nr i Delaware




Exhibit 23,1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S$-8 No. 333-80539) of
Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. now known as Reis, Inc. (the *Company”), pertaining to the Company’s Roilover
Stock Option Plan, 1997 Management Incentive Plan and 1998 Management Incentive Plan and the Registratior.
Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-134785) pertaining to the Rollover Stock Option Plan and 1997 Management:
Incentive Plan of our reports dated March 10, 2008 with respect to the consolidaled financial statements and.
schedule of Reis, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Reis, Inc., included in the
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

fs/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 10, 2008




Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-80539) of
Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. now known as Reis, Inc. (the “Company”), pertaining to the Company’s Rollover
Stock Option Plan, 1997 Management Incentive Plan and 1998 Management Incentive Plan and the Registration
Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-134785) pertaining to the Rollover Stock Option Plan and 1997 Management
Incentive Plan of our report dated January 31, 2006 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consol-
idated statements of operations, changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2005, which report appears in the December 31, 2007 Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Reis, Inc.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 10, 2008




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
17 CFR 240.13a-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lloyd Lynford, Chief Executive Officer of Reis, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Reis, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating t the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting 1o be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
pertod covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control aver financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internat
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internat
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal contro) over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2008

By: /s/ Lloyd Lynford

Lloyd Lynford
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
17 CFR 240.13a-14(a),
. AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Mark P. Cantaluppi, Chief Financial Officer of Reis, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Reis, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent function);

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal centro! over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2008

By: /s/ Mark P. Cantaluppi

Mark P. Cantaluppi
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32,1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Reis, Inc. (the “Company™) for the year ended
December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), we,
Lloyd Lynford, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mark P. Cantaluppi, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, each certify, to the best of our knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that;

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Lloyd Lynford

Lloyd Lynford
Chief Executive Officer
Reis, Inc.

/s/ Mark P. Cantaluppi

Mark P. Cantaluppi
Chief Financial Officer
Reis, Inc.

March 14, 2008

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will
be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Reis, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet (going concern basis) of Reis, Inc. (the “Company™)
{formerly Wellsford Real Properties, Inc.) as of December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statemeitts of
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows (going concern basis}) for the period from June 1, 2007 to
December 31, 2007, and the period from January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005, We have also audited the
consolidated statement of net assets in liquidation (liquidation basis) of the Company as of December 31, 2006 and
the related consolidated statements of changes in net assets in liquidation and cash flows for the period from
January 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007, the year ended December 31, 2006, and the period from November 18, 2005 to
December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the schedule listed in the Index. These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted ocur audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overatl
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note | to the consolidated financial statements, the stockholders of the Company approved a plan of
liquidation on November 17, 2005 and the Company commenced liquidation shortly thereafier. As a result, the
Company changed its basis of accounting for periods subsequent to November 17, 2005 from the going concern
basis to a liquidation basis. The plan of liquidation of the Company was terminated effective May 31, 2007, at which
time the Company returned to the going concern basis of accounting.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position (going concern basis) of the Company at December 31, 2007, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows (going concern basis) for the period from June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 and the
period from January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005, and its consolidated net assets in liguidation (liquidation basis)
at December 31, 2006 and the related changes in consolidated net assets in liquidation and cash flows for the period
from January 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007, the year ended December 31, 2006, and the period from November 18, 2005
to December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles applied on the bases
described in the preceding paragraph. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects
the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), Reis, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sporsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and ocur report dated March 10, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 10, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Reis, Inc.

We have audited Reis, Inc.’s (formerly Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. (the “Company™)) internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {the COSO
criteria), The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management’s Assessment of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evalvating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circemstances, We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. '

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Assessment of Internal Control over Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not
include the internal controls of the privately held company, Reis, Inc. acquired in May 2007 and merged into Reis
Services, LLC (“Reis Services”), a subsidiary of the Company, which is included in the 2007 consolidated financial
statements of the Company and constituted 67.3% of total assets as of December 31, 2007, and 40.2% and 106.4%
of revenues and net income, respectively, for the period from June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control
over financial reporting of Reis Services.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the 2007 consolidated financial statements of the Company and our report dated March 10, 2008
expressed an unqualifted opinion thereon.

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

Chicago, llinois
March 10, 2008




REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(GOING CONCERN BASIS)

December 31,
2007

ASSETS
Current asseis:

Cash and cash equivalents . .. ... ... .ottt ity $ 23,238,490

Restricted cash and INVeStmEntS . . . . o vt it i e et et et e e 3,663,789

Receivables, prepaid and other assets . . . ... ... .. .. . i 8,068,675

Real estate assets under development . . ... ... ... ... ... i i 20,731,762
B 0171 BT 0y gt 1 X =1 55,702,716
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net ... ... ... . . i e e 2,257,045
Other 18al BSTALE @SSELS .+ v 4 v v v e o e et ettt ettt e e e e e e 6,040,204
Intangible assets, net of accurnulated amortization of $1,967.608 . .................... 25,353,030
GoodwWill . . . e e e e e e 54,824,648
01 =1 T3 1I-J 670,829
TOtAl ASS OIS . - & v ot vttt et e e e e e e e e $ 144,848 472
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Current portion of loans and otherdebt .. ... ... ... .. ... ... ... . i $ 175,610

Current portion of Bank Loan . .. ........ .. ... . i 1,500,000

Construction payables . . . .. .. v e 2,791,896

Construction loans payable .. ... ... . ... . e 13,382,780

Accrued expenses and other liabilities .. .......... ... ... . i 8,629,376

Reserve for option lability. . ... ... o 527,034

Deferred revenue . . .. .. . e e e 13,262,114
Total current Habilities . ... ..o\ttt et e e 40,268,810
Non-current portion of Bank Loan. .. ........ . ... ... . . . o i 22,750,000
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . ..o ottt i e 816,741
Deferred tax liability, Nt .. ... ... oottt e 1,313,580
Total Habilities . ... .. e e e 65,149,131
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $.02 par value per share, 101,000,000 shares authorized,

10,984,517 shares issued and outstanding . .. ...... ... ... i e 219,690
Additional paid incapital. . ... .. ... e 98,936,084
Retained earnings (deficit) . . ... ... ... .. . L {19,456,433)

Total stockholders’ equity . .. ... vttt i e e e 79,699,341
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .. ... ....... .. it $ 144,848,472

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REIS, INC,
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS IN LIQUIDATION

(LIQUIDATION BASIS)
December 31,
2006

ASSETS
Real estate assets under development. . .. .. ... ... . e $ 41,159,400
Investment in Private Reis. .. .. ottt i et e et i e 20,000,000
Investments in JOINE VEMIUTES . . . oo v vt o e i ea i c i is e 423,000
Total real estate and INVESHMENLS . . .. . . ..ottt i it e eanm e ca e 61,582,400
Cash and cash equivalents. . ... ... ... . e 39,050,333
Restricted cash and INVESHMEIES. . . . o v oo oottt it i m i e et e 2,936,978
Receivables, prepaid and other assets. . . ... ... ..oiunin i 2,230,008
Deferred MEIZer COSIS . . . o« v vt v ettt i ia it et e 2,677,764
TOLAl ASSBES . « « o v vt vttt e e e e e e e 108,477,483
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS IN LIQUIDATION
Liabilities:

Construction loans payable . ... ... ... . it e 20,129,461

Construction payables . .. .. ... .. s 2,987,502

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (including merger costs of $654,860) ......... 5,151,288

Reserve for estimated costs during the liquidation period ....................... 18,301,885

Reserve for option liability . . ... ..o vt 2,633,408
Total Habilities . . .. oot et ittt e e 49,203,544
Minority interests at estimated value ... .. ... ... ... 1,678,378
Total liabilities and Minorty INETESt . . . ... .. i ittt i i e 50,881,922
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets in BQUIdAtion .. .. ... . it e $ 57,595,561

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REIS, INC,
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(GOING CONCERN BASIS)

For the Period For the Period
June I, 2007 to  January 1, 2005 to

December 31, November 17,
2007 2005
Revenue:
Subscription revenue . ............ i it $ 14,615,126 3 —
Revenue from sales of residential units . .. ..................... 21,751,781 488,075
Rental revenue . . . ... .. i e e — 12,153,235
Total TEVENUE . . . ittt et e e 36,366,907 12,641,310
Cost of sales:
Cost of sales of subscription revenue .. ....................... 2,920,286 —
Costofsales ofresidential units . . . ... ....... . i enn.nn. 18,651,033 385,631
Impairment loss on real estate assets under development ... ........ 3,148,932 —
Total cost of Sales. . . ..t e e 24,720,251 385,631
Gross Profit. . . .. .. e e 11,646,656 12,255,679
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing . . . . ... ... ... e . 3,349,804 —
Product development .. ......... ... ... it 971,058 —
Property operating expenses (including depreciation and amortization
expense of $3,886,889, for real estate in 2005) . ... ............ 746,122 9,867,372
General and administrative expenses (net of reduction attributable to
stock based liability amounts of $1,847,391 in the 2007 period). . . . 8,130,348 7,887,820
Total operating expenses. ... ........ . cviriirenane.nn e 13,247,332 17,755,192
Other income (expenses):
(Loss) income from joint ventures. .. .............ccviuununn.. (5,106) 11,849,733
Interest and other income . . . .. e e 710,954 2,069,165
Interest EXPeNSe . . . ..ot e (1,003,144) (5,482,269)
Loss on redemption transaction. ... .......c.uveetvn it vannn (54,427 —
Minority interest (expense) benefit . ... ... ... ... oL {16,777) 172,176
Total other incOme (EXPENSES). . . . i1 v vt it v e i nen e {428,500) 8,608,805
(Loss) income before income taxes . .............ciimniininean.. (2,029,176} 3,109,292
Income tax (benefit) expense . ........ ... ... . L i s, (739,000) 91,000
Net (10SS) INCOME . o oottt i it ettt e e e e et e e $ (1,290,176) $ 3,018,292
Net (loss} income per common share; _
BaSiC . - .. it e e e e $ {0.12) $ $0.47
Diluted .. ... e e 3 0.28) $ $0.47
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
BaSiC . . .t e e e e 10,983,526 6,467,639
DHluted . . e e 11,197,146 6,470,482

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS IN LIQUIDATION
(LIQUIDATION BASIS)

For the Period For the For the Period
January 1, 2007 to Year Ended November 18, 2005 to
May 31, 2007 December 31, 2006  December 31, 2005

Stockholders’ equity — November 17, 2005 (going
concern basis) .. ... ... ... $ 101,817,561

Adjustments relating to adoption of liquidation basis
of accounting:

Adjustment of real estate investments and other
assets to net realizable value, net of liability

forincome taxes . ... ..o v inivnnens 72,485,014
Accrual of estimated costs of liquidation and

erHNAtiON « v v v vt e e e e e - (24,767,375)
Adjustment of carrying amounts of minority

IIEIESES o o it i e e v r et e e e (2,646,198)

Net assets in liquidation — beginning of period . ..... 3 57,595,561 $ 56,569,414 146,889,002

Operating income. .. .. ... .. oo iii i nns 767,534 1,767,467 220,942

Exercise of stock options . .. ............... ..., —_ 1,008,035 56,074

Changes in net real estate assets under development,
net of minority interest and estimated income

BAXES v v et e et et e e e e (1,804,889) 1,551,640 —_
Provision for option cancellation reserve........... — (4,226,938) —
Change in option cancellation reserve .. ... ......... (4,635,589) 925,943 —
Distributions to stockholders. . . ................. _— — (90,596,604)
Increase (decrease) in net assets in liquidation. . .. ... (5,672,944) 1,026,147 (90,319,588)
Net assets in liquidation ——end of period .. ........ 51922617 $ 57,595,561 $ 56,569,414

Adjustments relating to the change from the
liquidation basis of accounting to the going concern
basis of accounting:

Adjustment of real estate investments, investment in
Private Reis and other assets from net realizable
value to lower of historical cost or market value . . . (17,764,502)

Reversal of previously accrued liquidation costs, net
of accrued liabilities . .. ....... ... .. ... 14,667,431

Stockholders’ equity — May 31, 2007 (going concern
basis) (simultaneous to Merger) ............... $ 48,825,546

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REIS, INC.

(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(GOING CONCERN BASIS)

FOR THE PERIOD JUNE 1, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND
FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2005 TO NOVEMBER 17, 2005

. Retained Total
Common Shares Paid in Earnings Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital** {Deficit) Equity

Balance, January 1, 2005 .. .... 6,466,523 $ 129,331 $ 156,599,624 $ (57.945,686) $ 98,783,269
Director share grants ......... 1,116 2 15,978 —_ 16,000
Net income for the period

January 1, 2005 to

November 17,2005. .. ... ... -— — — 3,018,292 3,018,292
Balance, November 17, 2005. . .. 6467639 % 129,353 § 156,615,602 $ (54,927.394) § 101,817,561
Balance, June 1, 2007

(simultaneous to Merger). . . .. 6,005,246 § 133905 $ 66,857,898 $ (18,166,257) $ 48,825,546
Stock issuance for Merger

Consideration, net, . ........ 4,077,201 81,544 28,697,109 — 28,778,653
Options exercised. ........... 212,070 4,241 2,258,546 — 2,262,787
Issuance of stock options and

restricted stock units . .. .. ... — — 1,122,531 — 1,122,531
Net (loss) for the period June 1, :

2007 to December 31, 2007. . . — — — {1,290,176) (1,250,176)
Balance, December 31, 2007 . . .. 10,984,517 $ 219690 $ 98936084 $ (19456,433) § 79,699,341

*  Includes 169,903 class A-1 common shares which were converted to regular common shares in January 2006.

**  Net of shares held in the deferred compensation trust and treated as treasury stock during the period June 1,
2005 to November 17, 2005,

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
2007 Liguidation 2005
Going Concern Liquidation Basis Liquidation  Going Concern
Basis Basis For the Basis Basis
June 1 to January 1 to Year Ended November 18 to January 1 to
December 31 May 31 December 31, 2006 December 31 November 17
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES:
Change in net assets in liquidation from:
Interest and other income and expense, net, . . $ 767,534 5 1,767,467 % 220942
Operating activities of real estate assets under
development, net . .. ........ .. ... ... (2.086,720) 1,551,640 —
(1,319,186} 3,319,107 220,942
Net (loss) income (periods subseguent and prior
to liquidation accounting) . . . ... ... ... $ (1,290,176) — — — 3 3,018,292
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Loss (gain) on redemption of joint venture
INETESL . o oottt e i e 54,427 — - — (5,986,396)
Deferred tax (credit) provision. . .. ....... (785,000) — — — (61,0000
Impairment loss on real estate assets under
development. .. .................. 3,148,932 — _ — -
Depreciation ... ...............000s 429,548 — — 11,846 4,160,532
Amortization of intangible assets . . . ... ... 1,967,608 — — — —
Change in fair value of interest rate cap. . . . . 89,689 — — — —
Net amortization of premiums/discounts on
U.S. Government securities . ... ....... — — — 356 898
Stock based compensation charges . . .. .. .. 1,122,531 — — — —
Undistributed minority interest (benefit). . . . . 76,777 363,427 54,530 (11,257) (172,176)
Stock issued for director compensation . . . . . — —_— — —_ 16,000
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash and investments . .. ... .. 193,525 (692,030) 1,295,617 (3,830,272) (688,878)
Residential units available for sale. . ... .. —_ — — — 353,702
Real estate assets under development . . . . . 4,048,151 3,833,599 2,745,288 (4.021,343) {22,900,464)
Receivables, prepaid and other assets . . . . . (3,665,724} 1,082,090 (1,146,401) 347,116 (328,450)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . . . . 1,577,360 (553,153) (1,458,897) (215,741) 1,339,441
Reserve for estimated costs during the
liquidation period . . . ............. — (3,634,454) (5,755,194) (710,296) —_
Reserve for option liability ... ........ (1,847,391) — — — —
Deferredrevenue . . . ............... 2,749,949 — — — —_
Construction payables. . . ............ (1,242,881) 1,047,275 (1,652,273 794,525 3,084,347
Deferred compensation liability. . . ... ... — — — 2,995,746 1,563,317
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
aclivities . . .. .. ... .. i e 6,627,325 127,568 (2,598,223) (4,418,378) (16.,595,835)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES:
Redemption of U.S. Government securities . . . . — — — 2,550,000 25,000,000
Cash portion of Reis merger consideration, ne
ofcashacquired . ... ................ (6,526,981} — _ — —
Web site and database development cosis .. . .. (1,022,488) — — — —_
Furniture, fixtures and equipment additions . . . . (77.711) - — — —
Investments in other real estate assets. . . ... .. (1,137,498) — — — (23,944)
Return of capital and redemption proceeds from
sales and investments in joint ventures . .. .. — 120,000 — e 12,792,662
Repayments of notes receivable. . .. ........ — — — — 1,032,000
Proceeds from sale of realestate . . . .. ... ... — — 1,296,883 166,912,078 —
Merger costS . . ..o vt (1,930,786) {728.167) (2,022,904) — —
Purchase of minority owner's interest in
subsidiary . ... ...... ... .. e (1,200,000} — — — (2,087,000)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing
ACUVILIES . o o it ii e ie e (11,895,464) (608,167) (726,021) 169,462,078 36,713,718
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)
2007 Liquidation 2005
Going Concern Liquidation Basis Liguidation Going Concern
Basis Basis For the Basts Basis

June 1 to Januvary 1 to Year Ended November 18 to  January 1 to
December 31 May 31 December 31, 2006 December 31  November 17

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Borrowings from mortgage notes and construction loans

payable .. .. ... L 11,271,576 6,441,798 29,342,766 2,817,622 16,071,903
Repayments of mortgage notes and construction loans

payable .. .. ... (15,739,272) (8,726,783) (28,463,649) (94,429,482) (14,062,324)
Redemption of Debentvres . . .. ... ........... — - — — {25,775,000)
Repayment of Bank Loan . . . .. .............. (750,000} : - — — —
Repayments on capitalized equipment leases and other

debt - . .. i (H07470) — — — -
Purchase of interest rate cap . . ... ............ {109,000) — — — —_
Proceeds from option exercises. . . . ... ......... — 281.831 1,008,035 56,074 —
Payments for option cancellations . . .. .. ... .. ... {2,631,785) .- (667,587 — —
Minority interest investment . . ............... - — 175,176 — —
Distributions to minority interest. . . .. ... ....... _— — {47,250 (3,408,351} (672,125)
Distributions fo shareholders . . . . .. ... ........ —_ —_— — (90,596,604} —
Ner cash (used in) provided by financing activides . . . . (8.059.951) (2,003,154} 1,347,491 185,560,741) (24.437.546)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents, . . . . ... (13,328,090) (2,483,753) (1,976,753) (20,517,041) (4,319,663)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period , . . . . . 16,566,580 39,050,333 41,027,086 61,544,127 65,863,790
Cash and cash equivalents, end of peried. . ... .. ... b 23,238,490 § 36,566,580 $ 39,050,333 3 41,027,086 § 61,544,127

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:
, Cash paid during the period for interest including
interest on Debentures of $979,688 for the period

January 1 to November 17, 2003, excluding interest .
funded by construction loans . . . ... ......... 3 1,400,467 $ 118715 8 — $ 5016192 § 6,153,093

Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of
refunds (tax refunds in excess of income taxes
Paid). o e 3 2,656 § 185075 § (63,349) § 671,714 § 54,461

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH
INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Release of shares held in deferred compensation

plan. ... $ 5,181,985 $ 633,000 § 100,000
Provision for optien cancellation liability . . ... ... 3 4,226,938
Increase in option cancellation liability . . ....... $ 4635589 3§ 925,943
Nex transfer of deferred compensation assets and
related Hability . . ... ... .. ..., .. . ..., b 14,720,730
Accrual for unpaid mergercosts . ... .. ..., ... 3 1,075,563 & 654,860

Issuance of common stock for merger consideration,
net (see Note | for assets acquired and liabilities

assumed in the Merger) . . . ........0ou. .. $ 28,778,653
Exercise of stock options through the receipt of

tendered shares . . . . . . ... . 5 2,262,787
Redemption of partner’s interest in real estate:

Residential units available forsale. . . .. ... ... $ (634,258)

Minority interest .. ... ... ... L $ 553,062

Accrued expenses and other liabilities . . .. .. .. 5 26,769

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Organization, Business, Merger and Terminated Plan of Ligquidation

Organization and Business

Reis, Inc., the “Company” or “Reis” (formerly Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. (“Wellsford™)), is a Maryland
corporation. The name change from Wellsford to Reis occurred in June 2007 after the completion of the merger
of the privately held company, Reis, Inc. {“Private Reis"') with and into Reis Services, LLC (“Reis Services"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wellsford (the “Merger”}).

Private Reis’s Historic Business

Private Reis was founded in 1980 as a provider of commercial real estate market information. Reis maintains a
pi'oprielary database containing detailed information on commercial properties in neighborhoods and met-
ropolitan markets throughout the U.S. The database contains information on apartment, retail, office and
industrial properties and is used by real estate investors, lenders and other professionals to make informed
buying, selling and financing decisions. In addition, Reis data is used by debt and equity investors to assess and
quantify the risks of default and loss associated with individual mortgages, properties, portfolios and real estate
backed securities. Reis currently provides its information services to many of the nation’s leading lending
institutions, equity investors, brokers and appraisers.

Reis’s flagship product is Reis SE, which provides online access to information and analytical tools designed to
facilitate both debt and equity transactions. In addition to trend and forecast analysis at neighborhood and
metropolitan levels, the product offers detailed building-specific information such as rents, vacancy rates and
lease terms, property sale information, new construction listings and property valuation estimates. Reis SE is
designed to meet the demand for timely and accurate information to support the decision-making of property
owners, developers and builders, banks and non-bank lenders, and equity investors, all of whom require access
to information on both the performance and pricing of assets, including detaited data on market transactions,
supply and absorption. This information is critical to all aspects of valuing assets and financing their
acquisition, development and construction.

Reis’s revenue model is based primarily on annual subscriptions that are paid in accordance with contractual
billing terms. Reis recognizes revenue from its contracts on a ratable basis; for example, one-twelfth of the
value of a one-year contract is recognized monthly.

Reis continues to develop and introduce new products, expand and add new data, and find new ways to deliver
existing information to meet and anticipate client demand.

Wellsford’s Historic Business

The Company was originally formed on January 8, 1997 as a corporate subsidiary of Welisford Residential
Property Trust (the “Residential Trust”). On May 30, 1997, Residential Trust merged (the “EQR Merger™) with
Equity Residential (“EQR™) at which time Residential Trust contributed certain of its assets to the Company
and the Company assumed certain liabilities of Restdential Trust and distributed to its common stockholders
all of its outstanding shares of the Company. Prior to the adoption of the Company’s Plan of Liquidation (the
“Plan”) (see below), the Company was operating as a real estate merchant banking firm which acquired,
developed, financed and operated real properties and invested in private and public real estate companies. The
Company’s primary operating activities immediately prior to the Merger were the development, construction
and sale of its three residential projects and its approximate 23% ownership interest in Private Reis. The
Company continues to develop, construct and sell these remaining residential projects.
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
Organization, Business, Merger and Terminated Plan of Liquidation (continued)

See Note 3 for additional information regarding the Company’s operating activities by segment.

Merger with Private Reis

On October 11, 2006, the Company announced that it and Reis Services entered into a definitive merger
agreement with Private Reis to acquire Private Reis and that the Merger was approved by the independent
members of the Company’s board of directors (the “Board™). The Merger was approved by the stockholders of
both the Company and Private Reis on May 30, 2007 and was completed later that day. The previously
announced Plan of the Company was terminated as a result of the Merger and the Company returned to the
going concern basis of accounting from the liquidation basis of accounting. For accounting purposes, the
Merger was deemed to have occurred at the close of business on May 31, 2007 and the statements of operations
include the operations of Reis Services, effective June 1, 2007,

The merger agreement provided for half of the aggregate consideration to be paid in Company stock and the
remaining half to be paid in cash to Private Reis stockholders, except Wellsford Capital, the Company’s
subsidiary which owned a 23% converted preferred interest and which received only Company stock. The
Company issued 4,237,074 shares of common stock to Private Reis stockholders, other than Wellsford Capital,
used $25,000,000 of the cash consideration (which was funded by a $27,000,000 bank loan facility (the “Bank
Loan™), the commitment for which was obtained by Private Reis in October 2005 and was drawn upon
immediately prior to the Merger), and approximately $9,573,000 provided by the Company. The per share
value of the Company’s common stock, for purposes of the exchange of stock interests in the Merger, had been
previously established at $8.16 per common share.

The Company’s acquisition costs, excluding assumed liabilities, is summarized as follows:

Value of shares of Company stock .. ...... ... .. ... . . . . . i $ 30,083,225
Cash paid for Private Reis shares .. .......... .. ... ... .. .. . .. L 9,573,452
Capitalized merger CoStS . . .. ... e 5,386,717
Historical cost of Company’s 23% interest in Private Rets. .. .................. 6,790,978
Total before officer loan settlement. . . ... ... . ... ... ... ... . . . ..., 51,834,372
Officer loan settlement (see below). . .. ... i i e e e (1,304,572)

Total . e $ 50,529,800

The value of the Company’s stock for purposes of recording the acquisition was based upon the average closing
price of the Company’s stock for a short period near the date that the merger agreemert was executed of $7.10
per common share, as provided for under relevant accounting literature.

Upon the completion of the Merger and the settlement of certain outstanding loans, Lloyd Lynferd and
Jonathan Garfield, both executive officers and directors of Private Reis, became the Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Vice President, respectively, of the Company and both became directors of the Company. The
Company’s former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Jeffrey Lynford, remained Chairman of the
Company. Lloyd Lynford and Jeffrey Lynford are brothers. The merger agreement provided that the
outstanding leans to Lloyd Lynford and Mr. Garfield aggregating approximately $1,305,000 be simulta-
neously satisfied with 159,873 of the Company’s shares received by them in the Mzrger.

As the Company is the acquirer for accounting purposes, the acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase
by the Company. Accordingly, the acquisition price of the remainder of Private Reis acquired in this
transaction combined with the historical cost basis of the Company’s historical investment in Private Reis
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Organization, Business, Merger and Terminated Plan of Liquidation (continued)

has been atlocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on respective
fair values.

The following summarizes management’s allocation of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of the acquisition (May 31, 2007) after the settlement of the officer loans. The Company
finalized the preliminary purchase price allocation in December 2007, which primarily resulted in an increase
to the customer relationships intangible asset and a decrease in goodwill. These adjustments are within the
permitted time period for completing such an assessment under the existing accounting rules.

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents . . . ... .. ... .. .. i $ 3,046,471
Accounts receivable and other current assets .. ... ..... ... ... 3,691,777
Total current assetS. . . . . ... e 6,738,248
Non-current assets:
Furniture, fixtures and equipment ... ..... .. ... ... . ... .. . ... 2,203,803
Leaschold value .. ....... ... . i e e e 2,800,000
Database. . . ... e e 7,693,006
Web Site . e 1,705,144
Customer relationships .. ... ... .. ... ... . 14,100,000
Goodwill .« ... . e e e 54,824,648
L 11 1<) YT 665,803
Total ASSEES . . . oot e e e e e 90,730,652
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses. .. ... ... Lo L e i 1,897,582
Current portion of long termdebt .. ........ ... ... ... . ... ... 1,304,061
Deferted revenue. . ... ... .. e e e 10,512,165
Total current Habilities . . . .. .. ... o 13,713,808
Long term debt:
Bank Loan payable . . . ....... .. .. . e 23,875,000
Other long term debt obligations . .. ........ ... ... . ... ... .. 506,644
Deferred income taxes, NEL . ... .. .o vttt ettt iier e et it 2,105,400
Total Habilities . . . .. ... e e e 40,200,852
Net acquisition Cost . ... ... i i i e e e $ 50,529,800
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
" {Continued)

Organization, Business, Merger and Terminated Plan of Liquidation (continued)

The following unaudited pro forma combined and condensed statements of operations are presented as if the
Merger had been consummated, the proceeds from the Bank Loan had been received, and the Plan had been
terminated as of January 1, 2006. The pro forma combined statements of operations are unaudited and are not
necessarily indicative of what the actual financial results would have been had (1) the Merger been
consummated, (2) the proceeds from the Bank Loan been received and (3) the Plan terminated as of January 1,
2006, nor does it purport to represent the future results of operations.

Unaudlited Pro Forma
For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Revenue;
Subscriptionrevenue ... ..... ... ... ... ... $ 23,667.637 3% 19,287,696
Revenue from sales of residential units. . ... ............ 34222743 36,514,455
Total TeVenUE . . . . ot e e e e e 57,890,380 55,802,151
Cost of sales:
Cost of sales of subscription revenue . .. ............... 5,108,134 4,740,622
Cost of sales of residential units. . . . .................. 29,545,922 31,715,436
Impairment loss on real estate assets under development. . . . 5,889,316 8,361,039
Totalcostofsales ............. ..., 40,543,372 44 817,097
Gross profit . ... ... 17,347,008 10,985,054
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing, . .. ... ... .. ..., 5,984,229 4,890,764
Product development . .. ........ ... ... ... ... . .. ... 1,715,271 1,650,348
Property operating expenses. . . ..........ouviunan... 1,082,102 887,279
General and administrative expenses . ................, 20,357,816 17,356,450
Total operating eXpenses .. ... .....cuvueennnnna.. 29,139,418 24,784,841
Total other income (expenses) . . .. ... .. ... ... ... (1,503,339) (988,512)
{Loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations . . ... ... (13,295,749) (14,788,299)
Incometax benefit .. ........ ... ... .. ... . ... ... . ..., (1,142,000) (876,000)
{Loss) from continuing operations . . . . ..ot (12,153,749) (13,912,299)
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes .. .......... — 760,036
Net (JOSS) . oot e et e e e e $  (12,153,749) §  (13,152,263)
Per share amounts, basic and diluted:
(Loss) from continuing operations . ................... $ (112 § (1.31)
Income from discontinued operations . . ................ — 0.07
NEt (I055) . oottt et e e e $ 112y $ (1.24)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
BasiC. . ..o e 10,880,122 10,578,682
Diluted .. ... e 10,880,122 10,578,682

Plan of Liquidation and Return to Geing Concern Accounting

On May 19, 2005, the Board approved the Plan, and on November 17, 2005, the Company’s stockholders
ratified the Plan. The Plan contemplated the orderly sale of each of the Company’s remaining assets, which are
either owned directly or through the Company’s joint ventures, the collection of all outstanding loans from
third parties, the orderly disposition or completion of construction of development properties, the discharge of
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REIS, INC,
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Organization, Business, Merger and Terminated Plan of Liguidation (continued)

all outstanding liabilities to third parties and, after the establishment of appropriate reserves, the distribution of
all remaining cash to stockholders. The Plan also permitted the Board to acquire additional Private Reis shares
and/or discontinue the Plan without further stockholder approval. An initial liquidating distribution of $14.00
per share was made on December 14, 2005 to stockholders of record on December 2, 2005. Upon consum-
mation of the Merger, the Plan was terminated. Consequently, it was necessary to recharacterize $1.15 of the
$14.00 per share cash distribution from what may have been characterized at that time as a return of capital for
Company stockholders to taxable dividend income.

For all periods preceding stockholder approval of the Plan on November 17, 2005, the Company's financial
statements were presented on the going concern basis of accounting. As required by Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), the Company adopted the liquidation basis of accounting as of the close of
business on November 17, 2005. Under the liquidation basis of accounting, assets are stated at their estimated
net realizable value and liabilities are stated at their estimated settlement amounts, which estimates have been
periodically reviewed and adjusted as appropriate.

The Company’s net assets in liquidation at May 31, 2007 (prior to the Merger and the return to going concern
accounting), and at December 31, 2006 were:

May 31, December 31,

2007 2006
Net assets in liquidation . . . . . .. e $ 51,922,617  $57,595,561
Per share . ... e $ 776 $% 8.67
Common stock outstanding. . .. ........... ... .. .. .. . ... 6,695,246 6,646,738

The reported amounts for net assets in liquidation presented development projects at estimated net realizable
values at each respective date after giving effect to the present value discounting of estimated net proceeds
therefrom. All other assets were presented at estimated net realizable value on an undiscounted basis. The
amount also included reserves for future estimated general and administrative expenses and other costs and for
cash payments on outstanding stock options during the liquidation. The primary reasons for the decline in net
assets in liquidation of approximately $5,673,000 from December 31, 2006 to May 31, 2007 are the increase in
the reserve for stock options due to the increase in the price of the Company’s stock from $7.52 to $11.00 per
share, representing approximately $4,636,000 of the decrease, and the decline in the value of real estate assets
under development.

The Company has returned to the going concern basis of accounting effective at the close of business on
May 31, 2007. ‘
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-
owned and controlled subsidiaries. Investments in entities where the Company does not have a controlling
interest were accounted for under the equity method of accounting. These investments were initially recorded
at cost and were subsequently adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of the investment’s income
(loss) and additional contributions or distributions preceeding and then subsequent to the dates of reporting
under the liquidation basis of accounting. Investments in entities where the Company does not have the ability
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

to exercise significant influence are accounted for under the cost method. All significant inter-company
accounts and transactions among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation,

Variable Interests

During 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued Interpretation No. 46R “Consol-
idation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R”). The Company evaluates its investinents and subsidiaries to
determine if an entity is a voting interest entity or a variable interest entity (“VIE”) under the provisions of
FIN 46R. An eatity is a VIE when (1) the equity investment at risk is not sufficient 10 permit the entity from
financing its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties or (2) equity
holders either (a) lack direct or indirect ability to make decisions about the entity, (b) are not obligated to
absorb expected losses of the entity or (¢) do not have the right to receive expected residual returns of the entity
if they occur. If an entity or investment is deemed to be a VIE, an enterprise that absorbs a majority of the
expected losses of the VIE or receives a majority of the residual returns is considered the primary beneficiary
and must consolidate the VIE. The following table and footnotes identify the Company’s VIEs:
VIE at

December 31, Requires

Entity(a) 2007 2006 Consolidation
Private Reis. ... ... i i i N/A Yes No (b)
Wellsford Mantua, LLC .. ............. Yes Yes Yes (c)
Claverack Housing Ventures, LLC .. .. ... N/A Yes Yes (d)

(a) For additional information regarding these entities, see Note 3.

(b) As a result of the Merger, Private Reis was fully consolidated and was no longer a VIE. Prior to the
Merger, Private Reis was a VIE because as of the last capital event for that entity in 2002 {the triggering
event for VIE evaluation purposes), it was determined that Private Reis did not have sufficient capital to
support its business activities at that time. Consolidation of Private Reis was not required by the
Company as it would not have been the primary beneficiary.

©) Wellsford Mantua, LLC (“Wellsford Mantua™) is a VIE as the venture does not have sufficient equity to
support its operations as the Company provides 100% of the financing to this entity and the owners
have deminimus equity in the entity. The Company is the primary beneficiary and consolidates this
entity,

(d) Unti! November 2007, Claverack Housing Ventures, LLC (“Claverack™), was an entity in which the
Company owned a 75% interest in equity and profits (except if returns exceed 35% per annum as
defined) and was considered a VIE, since the original capital was insufficient to support its contem-
plated activities. Claverack was consolidated, even though the two members shared business decisions
equally, since the Company was the primary beneficiary of profits or absorber of losses, During
November 2007, the other member’s interests were redeemed, the Company is the 100% owner of the
entity and it is no longer a VIE.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all demand and money market accounts and short term investments in government
funds with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash iand cash equivalents,

Real Estate, Other Investments, Depreciation and Impairment

Costs directly related to the acquisition, development and improvement of real estate are capitalized, including
interest and other costs incurred during the construction period. Costs incurred for significant repairs and
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maintenance that extend the usable life of the asset or have a determinable useful life are capitalized. Ordinary
repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The Company expensed all lease turnover costs for its
residential units such as painting, cleaning, carpet replacement and other turnover costs as such costs were
incurred.

Depreciation was computed over the expected useful lives of depreciable property on a straight-line basis,
principally 27.5 years for residential buildings and improvements and two to twelve years for furnishings and
equipment. Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $3,887,000 for the period January 1,
2005 to November 17, 2005 prior to the adoption of liquidation accounting and the sale of related residential
assets.

The Company has historically reviewed its real estate assets, investments in joint ventures and other
investments for impairment (i) whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable for assets held for use and (ii) when a determination is made to sell
an asset or investment. Under the liquidation basis of accounting, the Company evaluated the fair value of real
estate assets owned and under construction and made adjustments to the carrying amounts when appropriate.
The Company recorded downward valuation adjustments aggregating approximately $11,101,000 related to
two residential development projects during the liquidation period, including approximately $8,361,000 at
December 31, 2006 and $2,740,000 at May 31, 2007. Under SFAS No. 144 and the going concern basis of
accounting, if estimated cash flows on an undiscounted basis are insufficient to recover the carrying amount of
an asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount over estimated fair value is recognized.
The Company recorded additional impairment charges aggregating approximately $3,149,000 in December
2007, which is reflected as a component of cost of sales on the statements of operations. See Note 3 for
additional information.

Intangible Assets, Amortization and Impairment

Web Site Development Costs

The Company follows Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF") Issue No. 00-2, “Accounting for Web Site
Development Casts,” which requires that costs of developing a web site should be accounted for in accordance
with AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed for
Internal Use” (SOP 98-1). The Company expenses all internet web site costs incurred during the preliminary
project stage. All direct external and internal development and implementation costs are capitalized and
amortized using the straight-line method over their remaining estimated useful lives, not exceeding three
years. The Company capitalized approximately $473,000 during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007
related to Web Site Development costs.

The value ascribed to the web site development intangible asset acquired at the time of the Merger is amortized
on a straight-line basis over three years and is charged to product development expense.

Database Costs

The Company capitalizes costs for the development of its database in connection with the identification and
addition of new real estate properties and sale transactions which provide a future economic benefit.
Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over a three or five year period. The Company capitalized
approximately $550,000 during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 related to the database. Cosis of
updating and maintaining information on existing properties in the database are expensed as incurred.
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The value ascribed to the database intangible asset acquired at the time of the Merger is amortized on a straight-
line basis over three or five years and is charged to cost of sales.

Customer Relationships

The value ascribed to customer relationships acquired at the time of the Merger is amortized over 15 years on
an accelerated basis and is charged to sales and marketing expense.

Lease Value

The value ascribed to the below market terms of the office lease existing at the time of the Merger is amortized
over the remaining term of the acquired office lease which was approximately nine years. Amortization is
charged to general and administrative expenses.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or after a triggering event has occurred requiring such a
calculation in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™ (“SFAS No. 1427). Goodwill is rot deductible for income
tax purposes. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair
value.

SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives that arose from the acquisition be
amortized over their respective estimated useful lives using a method of amortization that reflects the pattern in
which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used up, and also that the
carrying amount of amortizable intangible assets be reviewed for impairment in accordance with
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 1447).

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of costs incurred to obtain financing or financing commitments. Such costs
are amortized by the Company over the expected term of the respective agreements or, if related to
development assets, is included in the basis of the project to be expensed as homzs/units are sold.

Revenue Recognition and Related Items

Reis Services

The Company’s subscription revenue is derived principally from subscriptions to its web-based services and is
recognized as revenue ratably over the related contractual period, which is typically one year, but can be as
long as 36 months. Revenues from ad-hoc and custom reports are recognized as completed and delivered to the
customers, provided that no significant Company obligations remain.

Deferred revenue represents the portion of a subscription billed or collected in advance under the terms of the
respective contract, which will be recognized in future periods. If a customer does not meet the payment
obligations of a contract, any related accounts receivable and deferred revenue are 'written off at that time and
the net amount, after considering any recovery of accounts receivable, is charged to cost of sales.

Cost of sales of subscription revenue principally consists of salaries and related expenses for the Company’s
researchers who collect and analyze the commercial real estate data that is the basis for the Company’s
information services. Additionally, cost of sales includes the amortization of database technology.
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Real Estate Activities

Sales of real estate assets, including condominium units and single family homes, and investments are
recognized at closing subject to receipt of down payments and other requirements in accordance with
applicable accounting guidelines. The percentage of completion method is not used for recording sales on
condominium units as down payments are nominal and collectibility of the sales price from such a deposit is
not reasonably assured until closing. Residential units were leased under operating leases with typical terms of
six to fourteen months and such rental revenue was recognized monthly as tenants were billed. Interest revenue
is recorded on an accrual basis. Fee revenues were recorded in the period earned, based upon formulas as
defined by agreements for management services or upon asset sales and purchases by certain joint venture
investments.

Share Based Compensation

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” establishes a fair value based method of
accounting for share based compensation plans, including share options. Registrants may have elected to
continue accounting for share option plans under Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB") No. 25, but
were required to provide pro forma net income and earnings per share information “as if” the fair value
approach had been adopted. The Company previously elected to account for its share based compensation
plans under APB No. 25, resulting in no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements through
December 31, 2002.

In December 2002, SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure”
was issued as an amendment to SFAS No. 123, The Company has used the prospective method of transition to
account for stock-based compensation on a fair value basis since January 1, 2003. This method resulted in the
Company applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123 to all 2003 and subsequent grants and, if applicable, to
significant modifications to the terms of previously granted options, by expensing the determined fair value of
the options over the future vesting periods.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123 {revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment,” which is a revision of SFAS No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123R”). SFAS No. 123R requires all share-
based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted share units, both of
which were issued by the Company in connection with the Merger, to be recognized in the income statement
based on their fair values.

The Company had a Rabbi Trust which was available to its employees and officers who could voluntarily
contribute compensation awarded as either (a) shares of the Company’s stock or (b) bonuses paid in cash. The
Rabbi Trust did not permit diversification of Company stock contributed into it and all distributions to
employees were to be made in kind to the employee/beneficiary for such Company stock contributions. The
Company’s stock held by the Rabbi Trust was classified in equity and recorded for accounting purposes in a
manner equivalent to treasury stock. Any changes in the fair value of the stock were not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. Contributions made in cash to the Rabbi Trust were classified as restricted
cash and investments with a corresponding liability within the consolidated balance sheets of the Company. In
January 2006, the Rabbi Trust was acquired by an entity owned by Jeffrey Lynford and Edward Lowenthal (a
director of the Company) and others along with the acquisition of the Beekman asset. In December 2005,
complete distributions were made to all other beneficiaries of the Rabbi Trust other than Jeffrey Lynford and
Mr. Lowenthal.
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Equity Awards

The fair market value as of the grant date of awards of stock, restricted stock units or certain stock options is
recognized as compensation expense by the Company over the respective vesting periods.

Reserve for Option Liability

AtMarch 31, 2006, the Company accrued a liability for cash payments that could be made to option holders for
the amount of the market value of the Company’s common stock in excess of the ad!usted exercise prices of
outstanding options as of March 31, 2006. This liability has been adjusted to reflect (1) the net cash payments
to option holders made during each period subsequent to March 31, 2006, (2) the impact of the exercise of
options and (3) the changes in the market price of the Company’s common stock during those periods. The
reserve for option cancellations was approximately $527,000 and $2,633,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

At December 31, 2007, of the 615,848 outstanding options, 195,848 options are accounted for as a liability as
these awards provide for settlement in cash or in stock at the election of the option holder. The liability for
option cancellations could materially change from period to period based upon (1) an option holder either
(a) exercising the options in a traditional manner or (b) electing the net cash settlement alternative and (2) the
changes in the market price of the Company’s common stock. At cach period end, an increase in the
Company’s common stock price would result in an increase in compensation expense, whereas a decline in the
stock price would reduce compensation expense.

See Note 10 for activity with respect to stock, restricted stock units and stock options,

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”" Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between financial reporting, including
the liquidation basis of accounting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax
rates and laws that are estimated to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation
allowances with respect to deferred income tax assets are recorded when deemed eppropriate and adjusted
based upon periodic evaluations,

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Inzome Taxes” (“FIN 48”).
This interpretation, among other things, creates a two step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions.
Recognition (step one) occurs when an enterprise concludes that a tax position, based solely on its technical
merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the
amount of benefit that more-likely-than-not will be realized upon settlement. Derecognition of a tax position that
was previously recognized would occur when a company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer
meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained. FIN 48 specifically prohibits the use of a valuation
allowance as a substitute for derecognition of tax positions, and it has expanded disclosure requirements. FIN 48
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, in which the impact of adoption should be
accounted for as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the beginning balance of retained. earnings. There was no
financial statement impact upon the adoption of FIN 48, effective January 1, 2007.

Per Share Data

Basic earnings per common share are computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the pericd. Diluted earnings per common share are based upon the increased number of
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common shares that would be outstanding assuming the exercise of dilutive common share options. The

following table details the computation of earnings per common share, basic and diluted:

For the Period

For the Period

June 1 to January 1 to
December 31, November 17,
2007 2008
Numerator:
Net (loss) income for basic calculation ... ................ $(1,290,176) $ 3,018,292
Adjustments to net income for income statement impact of
dilutive SeCurities . .. ... i ittt e e e (1,847,391) —
Net (loss) income for dilution calculation ... .............. $(3,137,567) & 3,018,292
Denominator;
Denominator for net (loss) income per common share, basic —
weighted average common shares .. ................... 10,983,526 6,467,639
Effect of dilutive securities:
ROUS . e e e e e — —_
Stock options . ........ . ... 213,620 2,843
Denominator for net (loss} income per common share,
diluted — weighted average common shares. . ............ 11,197,146 6,470,482
Net (loss} income per common share:
Basic ... SRR kY 012 % 0.47
Diluted . ... e e 3 0.28) § 0.47

Potentially dilutive securities include all stock based awards. At December 31, 2007, all such awards, other
than option awards accounted for under the liability method, are antidilutive.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification

Amounts in certain accounts as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations (going concern basis)
for the period January | to November 17, 2005, as well as in Footnote 3 have been reclassified. This
reclassification does not result in a change to the previously reported net income or net income per share for
any of the periods presented to conform to the current period presentation.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 1577).
SFAS No. 157 provides guidance for using fair value to measure financial assets and liabilities. This statement
clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions that market participants would use
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when pricing the asset or liability. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority
to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data. SFAS Mo. 157 applies whenever
other standards require assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value. This statement is effective in fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007, The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have
a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 139, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial
assets and liabilities at fair value. The Statement’s objective is to reduce both complexity in accounting for
financial instruments and the volatility in eamings caused by measuring related assets and lhabilities
differently. The FASB believes that SFAS No. 159 helps to mitigate this type of accounting-induced volatility
by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value, which would likely reduce the need
for companies 1o comply with detailed rules for hedge accounting. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation
and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different
measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effe:ctive as of the beginning
of an entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the
beginning of the previous fiscal year provided that the entity makes that choice in the first 120 days of that
fiscal year and also elects to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 157. The Company is evaluating SFAS No. 159
and has not determined the impact the adoption will have on the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidation Basis of Accounting

With the approval of the Plan by the stockholders, the Company adopted the liquidation basis of accounting
effective as of the close of business on November 17, 2005. The liquidation basis of accounting was used
through May 31, 2007 when the Merger was completed and at the same time the Plan was terminated.

Under the liquidation basis of accounting, assets are stated at their estimated net realizable value and liabilities
are stated at their estimated settlement amounts, which estimates will be periodically reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate. The Statement of Net Assets in Liquidation and a Statement of Changes in Net Assets in
Liquidation are the principal financial statements presented under the liquidation basis of accounting. The
valuation of assets at their net realizable value and liabilities at their anticipated settlement amounts
represented estimates, based on present facts and circumstances, of the net realiziable values of assets and
the costs associated with carrying out the Plan and dissolution based on the assumptions set forth below. The
actual values and costs associated with carryving out the Plan were expected to differ from the amounts shown
herein because of the inherent uncertainty and would be greater than or less than the amounts recorded. In
particular, the estimates of the Company’s costs vary with the length of time it operated under the Plan. In
addition, the estimate of net assets in liquidation per share, except for projects under development, did not
incorporate a present value discount.

Under the liquidation basis of accounting, sales revenue and cost of sales are not separately reported within the
Statements of Changes in Net Assets as the Company has already reported the net realizable value of each
development project at the applicable balance sheet dates.

Valuation Assumptions

Under the liquidation basis of accounting, (i) the carrying amounts of assets as of the close of business on
November 17, 2005 (the date of the approval of the Plan by the Company’s stockholders) were adjusted to their
estimated net realizable values and (ii) the carrying amounts of liabilities, including the estimated costs
associated with implementing the Plan, were adjusied to estimated settlement amounts. Value estimates were

F-22




REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

updated by the Company for each reporting period since the Plan was adopted. The following are the
significant assumptions utilized by management in assessing the value of assets and the expected settlement
amounts of liabilitics under the liquidation basis of accounting. '

Net Assets in Liquidation

Real estate assets under development were primarily reflected at net realizable value, which was based upon
the Company's budgets for constructing and selling the respective project in the orderly course of business.
Sales prices were based upon contracts signed to date and budgeted sales prices for the unsold units, homes or
lots. Sales prices were determined in consultation with the respective third party companies who were the sales
agent for the project, where applicable. Costs and expenses were based upon the Company’s budgets. In certain
cases, construction costs were subject to binding contracts. The Company assumed that existing construction
financing would remain in place during the respective projects’ planned construction and sell out. Anticipated
future cost increases for construction were assumed to be funded by the existing construction lenders and the
Company at the present structured debt to equity capitalization ratios. The Company would be required to
- make additional equity contributions. For one project, the Company assumed that construction loans would be
obtained at then currently existing LIBOR spreads and customary industry debt to equity capitalization levels.
With respect to another project, it was expected that existing loan extensions would be granted by the bank
even though minimum home sales requirements would not be met. The expected net sales proceeds were
discounted on a quarterly basis at 17.5% to 26% annuat rates to determine the estimated net realizable value of
the Company’s equity investment. The effect of changes in values of real estate assets under development was a
net decrease of approximately $2,661,000 from December 31, 2006 to May 31, 2007. The net decrease resulted
primarily from changes in the projected timing of sales, actual sale proceeds from condominium units and
homes and changes in the values of real estate under development, partially offset by the shortening of the
discount period due to the passage of time.

The Company reported operating income on the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets in
Liquidation which is comprised primarily of interest and other income earned on invested cash during the
reporting periods through May 31, 2007.

The estimated net realizable value of the Company’s interest in Private Reis for valuation purposes at May 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006 was derived from an approximate $90,000,000 equity value of Private Reis,
based upon the Merger terms and offers Private Reis received from potential purchasers during prior reporting
periods.

Cash, deposits and escrow accounts were presented at face value. The Company’s remaining assets were stated
at estimated net realizable value which was the expected selling price or contractual payment to be received,
less applicable direct costs or expenses, if any. The assets that were valued on this basis included receivables,
certain joint venture investments and other investments.

Mortgage notes and construction loans payable, construction payables, accrued expenses and other liabilities
and minority interests were stated at settlement amounts.

Reserve for Estimated Costs During the Liquidation Period

Under the liquidation basis of accounting, the Company was required to estimate and accrue the costs
associated with implementing and completing the Plan. These amounts could vary significantly due to, among
other things, the timing and realized proceeds from sales of the projects under development and sale of other
assets, the costs of retaining personnel and others to oversee the liquidation, including the cost of insurance, the
timing and amounts associated with discharging known and contingent liabilities and the costs associated with
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cessation of the Company’s operations including an estimate of costs subsequent to that date (which would
include reserve contingencies for the appropriate statutory periods). As a result, the Company accrued the
projected costs, including corporate overhead and specific liquidation costs of severance and retention
bonuses, professional fees, and other miscellaneous wind-down costs, expected tc be incurred during the
projected period required 1o complete the liguidation of the Company’s remaining assets. Also, the Company
did not record any liability for any cash operating shortfall that could result at the projects under development
during the anticipated holding period because management expected that projected operating shortfalls could
be funded from the overall operating profits derived from the sale of homes, condoi:inium units and lots and
interest earned on invested cash. These projections could have changed materially based on the timing of any
such anticipated sales, the performance of the underlying assets and changes in the undertying assumptions of
the cash flow amounts projected as well as other market factors. These accruals were adjusted from time to
time as projections and assumptions changed.

The following is a summary of the changes in the Reserve for Estimated Costs During the Liquidation Period:
For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2007

Balance at Balance at
December 31, Adjustments and May 31,
2006 Payments 2007(A)
Payroll, benefits, severance and retention

COBES o ittt e e $ 8,982,000 % (2,260,0000 $ 6,722,000
Professional fees . ...................... 3,560,000 (689,000) 2,871,000
Other general and administrative costs ....... 5,760,000 (686,000) 5,074,000
Total . ... . e $ 18302000 $ (3,635,0000 § 14,667,000

(A) Excludes approximately $1,770,000 remaining as a liability upon return to the going concern basis of accounting.
This amount is included in the adjustments and payments for the five months ended May 31, 2007,

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Balance at Adjustments and Balance at
December 31, 2005 Payments December 31, 2006
Payroll, benefits, severance and retention
COSIS Lt ittt e e e e $ 11,963,000 §$ (2,981,000 $% 8,982,000
Professional fees ............... ... ..... 4,715,000 (1,155,000) 3,560,000
Other general and administrative costs ... ... 7,379,000 (1,619,000) 5,760,000
Total ... ... 3 24057000 $ (5,755,000 §$ 18,302,000
For the Period November 18,
2005 to December 31, 2005
Balance at Adjustments and Balance at
November 18, 2005 Payments December 31, 2005
Payroll, benefits, severance and retention
COSIS & i it it i e e $ 12,368,000 % 405,000y % 11,963,000
Professional fees . . ..................... 4,837,000 (122,000) 4,715,000
Other general and administrative costs . . .. . .. 7,562,000 (183,000) 7,379,000
Total. .. ... . .. . e $ 24,767,000 % (710,000) $% 24,057,000
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Effective with the close of business on May 31, 2007, the Company returned to the going concern basis of
accounting whereby (1) assets were stated at the lower of historical cost or market value, (2) the reserve for
estimated costs, net of liabilities requiring accrual under the going concern basis of accounting, was reversed
and (3) liabilities were stated on a going concern basis.

The adjustments to net assets in liquidation as of May 31, 2007 is summarized as follows:

Balance of net assets in liquidation as of May 31,2007 . .............. ... .. ..... $ 51,922,617
Adjustment of the Company’s investment in Private Reis from $20,000,000 on a
liquidation basis to historical cost of $6,790,978 on a going concern basis. ... ...... (13,209,022)

Adjustment of real estate investments and other assets from net realizable value to lower
of historical cost or market value (primarily the reflection of the Gold Peak project at
JSTE1 T Lotz 7 ] 1 1 g (4,555,480)

Reversal of previously accrued liquidation costs net of accrued liabilities ... ......... 14,667,431

Balance of total stockholders’ equity, going concern basis, as of May 31, 2007, prior to
5 ¢~ oS $ 48,825,546
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Upon completion of the Merger and the resulting change in accounting from the liquidation basis to the going
concern basis, the Company organized into two separately managed segments: Reis Services and Residential
Development Activities. The Company has further separated the significant components of the Residential
Development Activities for Palomino Park (Gold Peak), East Lyme and all other developments. The following
tables present condensed balance sheet and operating data for these segments for the periods reported on a
going concern basis:

{(amounts in thousands)

Condensed Balance Sheet Data Residential Development Activities
December 31, 2007 Reis Palomine East Other
{Going Concern Basis) Services Park Lyme Developments  Other* Consolidated
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents, . . ..... $ 480 § 51 % 269 $ 49 $ 17975 § 23,238
Restricted cash and investments . . . . 234 92 2,378 960 — 3,664
Receivables, prepaid and other
ASSEIS .., 7,314 204 — 103 448 8,069
Rea!l estate assets under .
development. . .............. — 14,234 6,200 288 — 20,731
Total current assets . .. ............. 12,442 14,581 8,856 1,400 18,423 55,702
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net . . . 1,989 73 94 12 89 2,257
Other real estate assets . ............ — — 3,069 2,971 — 6,040
Intangible assets, net .. ............. 25,353, — — —_ — 25,353
Goodwill . ...................... 57,203 — — — (2,378) 54,825
Otherassets ..........oovvive ., 543 — — 1 127 671
Total assets . ... vvvvverinnnnenns $ 97530 % 14654 % 12019 § 4384 § 16261 § 144,848
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of loans and other
debt .......... .. .. ... $ 176 8 — 5 — 3 — 3 — 8 176
Current portion of Bank Loan . . ... 1,500 — — —_ — 1,500
Construction payables. . ......... — 1,961 622 209 — 2,792
Construction loans payable . ... ... — 6,417 6,966 — — 13,383
Accrued expenses and other
liabilities .. ............ ce 1,742 1,308 1,576 93 3,905 8,629
Reserve for option liability . ... ... — — — — 527 527
Deferred revenue .. ............ 13,262 — — — — 13,262
Total current liabilities. . ............ 16,680 9,686 9,164 307 4432 40,269
Non-current portion of Bank Loan . .. .. 22,750 — — — — 22,750
Other long-term labilities ... ... AR 757 — — 60 — 817
Deferred tax liability, net . ... ........ 5,441 — - — (4,128) 1,313
Total liabilities .. ................. 45,628 9,686 0,164 367 304 65,149
Total stockholders” equity ........... 51,902 4,968 2,855 4,017 15,957 79,699
Total liabilities and stockholders’
equity. .. ... e $ 97530 § 14654 % 12019 § 4384 § 16261 § 144,848

*  Includes cash, other assets and liabilities not specifically attributable to or allocable to a specific operating segment.
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(amounts in thousands)
Condensed Operating Data for the Residentiat Development Activities
Period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 Reis Palomino East Other
(Going Concern Basis) Services Park Lyme Developments  Other*  Consolidated
Revenue:
Subscription revenue. . ... ... .. .. .. $ 14615 § — 8 — % - 3 — $ 14,615
Revenue from sales of residential
UMEES + vttt e — 14,807 6,945 — — 21,752
Totalrevenue. . .....ovvevnnnnn. 14,615 14,807 6,945 —_ — 36,367
Cost of sales:
Cost of sales of subscription revenue . . 2,920 — — — — 2,920
Cost of sales of residential units. . . . .. . — 12,356 6,295 — — 18,651
Impairment loss on real estate assets
under development . ............ — — 3,149 — — 3,149
Total cost of sales. . .............. 2,920 12,356 9,444 — — 24,720
Gross profit (loss) .. ....... ... . ..., 11,695 2,451 (2,499 —_ — 11,647
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing ... ........... 3,350 — — — — 3,350
Product development ............. 971 — — — — 971
Property operating expenses. . ... .. .. — 728 20 (1) - 747
General and administrative . ........ 3,802 1373 63 5 2,937 8,180
Total operating expenses . . ......... 8,123 2,101 83 4 2,937 13,248
Other income (expenses):
{Loss) from joint ventures . . .. ... ... — — — (5} — 5)
Interest and other income . ......... 112 43 3 — 553 711
Interest (expense) .. .............. (1,353) — (75} —_ 425 (1,003)
Loss on redemption transaction . . . ... - — — (54) — (54)
Minority interest {expense) ... ...... — ¢ — — — an
Total other income (expense) . . ...... (1,241} (34) (72) (59) 978 (428)
Income (loss) before income taxes. . ... ... § 2331 % 36 § (2650 § (63 3 (1,959 3 (2,029)

* Includes interest and other income, depreciation and amortization expense and general and administrative
expenses that have not been allocated to the operating segments.

Prior to the adoption of the liquidation basis of accounting, the Company’s operations were organized into
three strategic business units (“SBUs"™). In accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures
About Segmenis of an Enterprise and Related Information”, the Company is required to modify its segment
presentation to conform to the current period segment reporting. Accordingly, what had previously been
aggregated and described as the Debt and Equity Activities segment during the period Januvary 1, 2005 to
November 17, 2005 has primarily been reclassified to the Residential Activities — Other Developments
segment. The Reis Services segment is displayed for the period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005,
however, there was no operating data reported for that segment as the Company accounted for its investment in
Private Reis on a cost basis at that time and did not record any profits or losses as a result of that accounting
treatment. The Company had one additional segment during the 2005 period, the Commercial Property
Activities segment which was significant in that period until the Company’s interest in that venture were
redeemed (see below). Lastly, the Company reclassified out of Other Developments the operating information
for East Lyme in the 2005 period to conform to the 2007 period presentation. The following table presents
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condensed operating data for the period reported on a going concern basis from January 1, 2005 to
November 17, 2005:

(amounts in thousands)

Condensed Operating Data For the Period Residential Actjvities (A} Commercial
January 1 to November 17, 2005 Reis Palomino East Other Property
{Going Concern Basis) Services Park Lyme Developments . Activilies Other*  Consolidated
Revenue:
Revenue from sales of residential units . . $ — 3 48 3 — 5 — 5 — % — § 488
Rental tevenue . . .. .............. — 12,153 —_ — — — 12,153
Total revenues . .. .......vovvn.n — 12,641 — — — — 12,641
Cost of sales:
Cost of sales of residential units. . . . . .. — - 386 — — — — 386
Total cost of sates . , . . ............ — 386 — — — — 386
Grossprofit . . . ................. — 12,255 — — — — 12,255

Operating expenses;
Property operating expenses, including

depreciation and amortization. . . .. .. — 9,629 59 91 — 88 9,867
General and administrative . . . ....... — — — — — 7,888 7.888
Total operating expenses. . .. ........ — 9,629 59 91 — 7,976 17,755

Other income (expenses):
Income from joint ventures . . . ..... .. — — — 702 1,148 — 11,850
Interest and other income . .. ........ — — 1 9 — 2,059 2,069
Interest (expense) . . ... ... ..o ... — (5,036) 480 128 — (1,054) (5.482)
Minority interest benefit. . .......... — 111 19 42 — — 172
Total other income (expense}. . ....... — (4,925) 500 881 11,148 1,005 8,609
(Loss) income before income taxes . . ... ... $ — § (2,299)% 441 $ 790 5 11,148 § (6,971) $ 3,109

*  Includes interest revenue, fee revenue, depreciation and amortization expense, interes: expense and general and
administrative expenses that have not been allocated to the operating segments.
{A) During the period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005, Residential Activities for Palomino Park included not only

the Gold Peak developiment, but also the rental operations. See below for a description of Palomino Park and all of the
activities associated therewith.

Reis Services

See Note 1 for a description of Reis Services’s business and products at December 31, 2007 and for a
description of the Merger.

Through the date of the Merger, the Company had a preferred equity investment in Private Reis through
Wellsford Capital. At May 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the carrying amount of the Company’s aggregate
investment in Private Reis was $20,000,000 prior to the Merger on a liquidation basis, as described below. The
Company’s investment represented approximately 23% of Private Reis’s equity on an as converted to common
stock basis. The Company’s cash investment on a historical cost basis was approximately $6,791,000 which
was the amount recorded as Wellsford Capital’s investment at the Merger date.

In the first quarter of 2006, Private Reis was considering offers from potential purchasers, ranging between
$20,000,000 and $100,000,000, to acquire 100% of its capital stock. Based on these offers, in estimating the
net proceeds in valuing its investment if Private Reis were to be sold at that amount, the Company would have
received approximately $20,000,000 of proceeds, subject to escrow holdbacks.
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After considering a range of values, including the current market price for the Company’s stock on the stock
portion of the consideration and the per share price as established for the Merger agreement, the Company
determined that it was appropriate to continue to value its investment in Private Reis at $20,000,000 on a
liquidation basis at May 31, 2007 (prior to the Merger) and December 31, 2006.

For the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007, no customer accounted for more than 2.4% of Reis Services
revenues. Nine customers accounted for an aggregate of approximately 44.0% of Reis Services accounts
receivable at December 31, 2007, including four customers in excess of 5% with the largest representing 7.0%.
No customer accounted for more than 4.3% of deferred revenue at December 31, 2007.

Residential Development Activities

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s residential development activities and other investments were
comprised of the following:

» The 259 unit Gold Peak condominium development in Highlands Ranch, Colorado (“Gold Peak™). Sales
commenced in January 2006 and 185 Gold Peak units were sold as of December 31, 2007.

o The Orchards, a single family home development in East Lyme, Connecticut, upon which the Company
could build 161 single family homes on 224 acres (“East Lyme™). Sales commenced in June 2006 and 19
homes were sold as of December 31, 2007. ‘

* The Stewardship, a single family home development in Claverack, New York, which is subdivided into 48
developable single family home lots on 235 acres.

* An equity intérest in Clairborne Fordham, a company which owned the one remaining residential unit ofa
50-story, 277 unit, luxury condominium apartment project in Chicago, Illinois (“Clairborne Fordham™).
This last unit was sold in January 2008,

Wellsford Mantua, a company organized to purchase land parcels for rezoning, subdivision and creation of
environmental mitigation credits.

Palomino Park

The Company has been the developer and managing owner of Palomino Park, a five phase, 1,707 unit
multifamily residential development in Highlands Ranch, a southern suburb of Denver, Colorado. Three
phases (Blue Ridge, Red Canyon and Green River) aggregating 1,184 units were operated as rental properties
until they were sold in November 2005, as described below, The 264 unit Silver Mesa phase was converted into
condominiums (sales commenced in February 2001 and by August 2005 the Company had sold all 264 units).
The Gold Peak phase is under construction as a 259 unit for-sale condominium project.

Gold Peak

In 2004, the Company commenced the development of Gold Peak, the final phase of Palomino Park. Gold Peak
is 259 condominium units on the remaining 29 acre land parcel at Palomino Park. Gold Peak unit sales
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commenced in January 2006. At December 31, 2007, there were 20 Gold Peak units under contract with
nominal down payments. The following table provides information regarding Gold Peak sales:

For the Years Ended

December 3, Project )
2007 2006 Total
Numberofunitssold. ................... 77 108 185
Grosssales proceeds . ................... $ 24226000 $ 31,742,000 $ 55,968,000
Principal paydown on Gold Peak Construction
Loan ... . i e e $ 15681000 $ 24528000 $ 40,209,000

Palomino Park Transactions

On September 30, 2007, the Company purchased EQR’s remaining 7.075% interest in the corporation that
owns the remaining Palomino Park assets for $1,200,000.

In September 2006, the Company sold its Palomino Park telecommunication assets, service contracts and
operations and in November 2006 it received a net amount of approximately $988,000. At that time, the buyer
held back approximately $396,000, of which approximately $208,000, including $16,000 of accrued interest,
was received by the Company in September 2007 with the remaining receivable of approximately $204,000
expected to be released in September 2008. The Company believes the remaining balance will be collected and
has recorded such amount at full value at December 31, 2007.

In November 2005, the Company sold the Blue Ridge, Red Canyon and Green River rental phases for
$176,000,000 to a national financial services organization and realized a gain of approximately $57,202,000
after EQR’s interest, specific bonuses paid to executives of the Company related to the sale and estimated state
and Federal taxes. This amount is reflected in the adjustment to net realizable value of $72,485,000 on the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets in Liquidation at November 17, 2005. The Company repaid
an aggregate of approximately $94,035,000 of mortgage debt and paid approximatzly $4,600,000 of debt
prepayment costs from the sale proceeds, among other selling costs.

Silver Mesa

In October 2000, Phase I1I, the 264 unit phase known as Silver Mesa, was completed for rental use. The
Company made the strategic decision to convert Silver Mesa into condominium units and sell them to
individual buyers. In conjunction with this decision, the Company prepared certain units to be sold and
continued to rent certain of the remaining unsold units during the sell out period until the inventory available
for sale had been significantly reduced and additional units were required to be prepared for sale, Sales of
condominium units at Silver Mesa commenced in February 2001 and by August 2005 all of the 264 units were
sold including the final two units during 2005 for gross proceeds of $488,000.

East Lyme

The Company has a 95% ownership interest as managing member of a venture which originally owned 101
single family home lots situated on 139 acres of land in East Lyme, Connecticut upon which it is constructing
houses for sale. The Company purchased the land for $6,200,000 in June 2004.

After purchasing the land, the Company executed an agreement with a homebuilder to construct the homes for
this project. The homebuilder is a 5% partner in the project and receives other consideration,
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During the fourth quarter of 2005, the model home was completed and home sales commenced in June 2006.
At December 31, 2007, three East Lyme homes were under contract for which deposits of 10% of the contract
sales price were provided by the buyer. The following table provides information regarding East Lyme sales:

For the Years Ended

December 31, Project
2007 2006 Total
Number of homes sold .................... : 14 5 19
Gross sales proceeds . . .. ........ ... ... § 9797000 $ 3,590,000 $ 13,387,000
Principal paydown on East Lyme Construction
Loan.......... ... i $ 8785000 §$ 3,246,000 $ 12,031,000

At the time of the initial land purchase, the Company executed an option to purchase a contiguous 85 acre
parcel of land which can be used to develop 60 single family homes (the “East Lyme Land”} and subsequently
acquired the East Lyme Land in November 2005 for $3,720,000, including future costs which were the
obligation of the seller. The East Lyme Land requires remediation of pesticides used on the property when it
was an apple orchard at a cost estimated by management to be approximately $1,000,000. Remediation costs
were considered in evaluating the value of the property for liquidation basis purposes at May 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006. This estimate continues to be recognized as a liability in the going concern balance sheet
at December 31, 2007. This estimate could change in the future as plans for the remediation are finalized. An’
expected time frame for the remediation has not been established as of the date of this report.

In December 2007, the Company recorded aggregate impairment charges of approximately $3,149,000 related
to East Lyme and the East Lyme Land. These charges were the result of continuing deteriorating market
conditions in the fourth quarter of 2007 and management’s expectations for the future. The Company utilized
assumptions in its discounted cash flow modet that reflected the negative impact of the current market
conditions and the negative effects on sales revenue, sales velocity, costs and the development plan. Further
deterioration in market conditions or other factors may result in additional impairment charges in future
periods.

Other Developments
Claverack

Through November 2007, the Company had a 75% ownership interest in a joint venture that owned two land
parcels aggregating approximately 300 acres in Claverack, New York. The Company acquired its interest in
the joint venture for $2,250,000 in November 2004. One land parcel was subdivided into seven single family
home lots on approximately 65 acres. The remaining 235 acres, known as The Stewardship, which was
originally subdivided into six single family home lots, now is subdivided into 48 developable single family
home lots.

During July 2006, the initial home on one lot of the seven lot parcel was completed and in October 2006, the
home and a contiguous lot were sold for approximately $1,200,000 and the related outstanding debt of
approximately $690,000 was repaid to the bank. In February 2007, Claverack sold one lot to the venture
partner, leaving four lots of the original seven lots available for sale. In November 2007, the joint venture
partnier’s interest in the joint venture was redeemed in exchange for the remaining four lots, representing the
remaining approximate 45 acres of the original 65 acre parcel. This resulted in the Company being the sole
owner of The Stewardship. The Company recorded a loss of approximately $54,000 in the fourth quarter of
2007 from this redemption transaction.
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Clairborne Fordham

In October 2000, the Company and Prudential Real Estate Investors (“PREI"™), an aifiliate of Prudential Life
Insurance Company, organized Clairborne Fordham, a venture in which the Company has a 10% interest. The
Company’s investment in Clairborne Fordham, which is accounted for on the equity method, was approx-
imately $102,000 at December 31, 2007 (going concern basis) and $423,000 at December 31, 2006
(liquidation basis).

Upon its organization, Clairborne Fordham provided an aggregate of $34,000,000 o/ mezzanine construction
financing (the “Mezzanine Loan”) for the construction of Fordham Tower, a 50-story, 227 unit, luxury
condominium apartment project to be built on Chicago’s near northside (“Fordham Tower”). The Mezzanine
Loan, which matured in October 2003, bore interest at a fixed rate of 10.50% per annum with provisions for
additionat interest to PREI and the Company and was secured by a lien on the equity interests of the owner of
Fordham Tower. The Mezzanine Loan was not repaid at maturity and as of Octobe: 2003, an amended loan
agreement was cxecuted to extend the terms to December 31, 2004 and other modifications.

On September 15, 2004, Clairborne Fordham executed an agreement with the owners of Fordham Tower
pursuant to which Clairborne Fordham obtained title to the remaining unsold componznts of the project (which
at that time included 18 unsold residential vnits, the 188 space parking garage and 12,000 square feet of retail
space). During the year ended December 31, 2005, Clairborne Fordham sold the parking garage and 13
residential units for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $26,812,000, of which approximately
32,645,000 was distributed to the Company during 2005. No distributions were received by the Company
during 2006. In March 2007, one of the two remaining units closed for aggregate net proceeds of approx-
imately $897,000, of which the Company received $120,000 of proceeds, net of cash requirements for the
venture. The last unit was sold in January 2008.

The following table details the Company’s share of income from Clairborne Fordham:

For the For the Period
Period June 1 to Januvary 1 to
December 31, November 17,
2007 2005
Net (loss) income from sales of components and operations . . . . .. $ (5,000) 3 702,000

Wellsford Manitua

During November 2003, the Company made an initial $330,000 investment in the form of a loan, in a company
organized to purchase land parcels for rezoning, subdivision and creation of environmental mitigation credits.
The loan is secured by a lien on a leasehold interest in a 154 acre parcel in West Deptford, New Jersey which
includes at least 64.5 acres of wetlands and a maximum of 71 acres of developable land. The Company
consolidated Wellsford Mantua at December 31, 2007 and 2006. The Company’s investment in Wellsford
Mantua was approximately $289,000 at December 31, 2007 (going concern basis) and $291,000 at
December 31, 2006 (liquidation basis). The Company received a cash distribution of $375,000 related to
this investment during the year ended December 31, 2006.

Beekman

In February 2005, the Company acquired a 10 acre parcel in Beekman, New York for a purchase price of
$650,000. The Company also entered into a conract to acquire a contiguous 14 acre parcel, the acquisition of
which was conditioned upon site plan approval to build a minimum of 60 residential condominium units
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(together, these land parcels are referred to as “Beekman”). The Company’s $300,000 deposit in connection
with this contract was secured by a first mortgage lien on the property.

As a result of various uncertainties, including that governmental approvals and development processes may
take an indeterminate period and extend beyond December 31, 2008, the Board authorized the sale of the
Beekman interests to Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal, or a company in which they have ownership
interests, at the greater of the Company’s aggregate costs or the appraised values. In January 2006, a company
which was owned by Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal, the principal of the Company’s joint venture partner
in the East Lyme project, and others acquired the Beekman project at the Company’s aggregate cost of
approximately $1,297,000 in cash. This was accomplished through a sale of the entities that owned the
Beckman assets. In connection with this transaction, the Company’s subsidiary holding the approximate
$14,721,000 balance of deferred compensation assets and the equivalent related liabilities, which were payable
to Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal, was acquired by a company which is owned by these individuals and
others.

Commercial Property Activities

During 2005, the Company’s primary commercial property activities and its sole activity in this SBU consisted
of its interest in Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. (“Wellsford/Whitehall”}, a joint venture by and among the
Company, various entities affiliated with the Whitehall Fund (“Whitehall”) and private real estate funds
sponsored by the Goldman Sachs Group, LLC (“Goldman Sachs”). The managing member (“WP Commer-
cial”), was an affiliate of Goldman Sachs and Whitehall.

Wellsford/Whitehall was originally organized as a private real estate operating company which leased and re-
leased space, performed construction for tenant improvements, expanded buildings, re-developed properties
and based on general and local economic conditions and specific conditions in the real estate industry, sold
properties for an appropriate price.

In September 2005, the Company ceased its Commercial Property Activities when its 35.21% equity interest in
Wellsford/Whitehall was redeemed for approximately $8,300,000 plus certain modest contingent payments to
be received in the future. Approximately $141,000 was received in December 2005 related to the contingent
payments. The Company realized an aggregate gain on the redemption of its interest of $5,986,000 during the
year ended December 31, 2005. The Company will not receive any additional payments from its investment in
Wellsford/Whitehall. At the time of the redemption of the Company’s interest in September 2005, Wellsford/
Whitehall owned one office building and a parcel of land, both located in New Jersey.
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The Company’s investment in Wellsford/Whitehall was accounted for on the equity method. The following
table details the changes in the Company’s investment in Wellsford/Whitehall during the year ended
December 31, 2005.

(amounts in thousands)

Investment balance at January [,2005 .. ... .. ... .. .. .. $ 4,229
DSt bUtIONS . ... e e e e (7,042)
Share of (through September 23, 2005):

(Loss) from Operations . ... .. .. .. e e e (839)

Net gain from asset disposition transactions .............. T ' 6,000
Proceeds from redemption of interest less minority stockholders’ interest and

LrANSACHION COSES . . . . . .ttt i it ittt it sttt e s e e (8,334)

Gain on redemption of interest . ... ... ... .. ... .. 5,986

Investment balance at December 31,2005, . ... ... ... .. .. .. .. i, $ —

The following table presents condensed operating data for the year ended December 31, 2005:

(amounts in thousands}

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
Condensed Operating Data 2005
TOtAl TEVENUES . . . vt vttt it ettt et et et e e e e $ 1,581
Total B PSS . o vttt ittt e e e e e e e e 1,958
(Loss) from impairment . ... ... ... ottt e e e e (453)
(Loss) before discontinued operations . . ... ... . ... .ttt (830)
Income from discontinued operations. .. .. ... ... ... .. . 15,136
T N Teu] 111 $ 14,306

Since the beginning of 2001, Wellsford/Whitehall completed 46 property sales or transfers, including 15 in
2005 as described below.

In May 2005, Wellsford/Whitehall completed the sale of a building in Ridgefield Park, New Jersey, for
$31,400,000. Approximately $10,500,000 of the net proceeds and $8,000,000 of restricted cash were used to
retire all outstanding mortgage indebtedness, leaving Wellsford/Whitehall without any mortgage debt.
Wellsford/Whitehall reported a gain of approximately $10,100,000 on this transaction, of which the
Company’s share was approximately $3,500,000.

In April 2005, Wellsford/Whitehall completed the sale of a building in Needham, Massachusetts, for
$37,500,000. Approximately $18,400,000 of the net proceeds were used to pay existing debt. Wellsford/
Whitehall reported a gain of approximately $7,000,000 on this transaction, of which the Company’s share was
approximately $2,500,000.

In January 2005, Wellsford/Whitehall completed the sale of a portfolio of seven office properties and a land
parcel for approximately $72,000,000, after selling and other costs. The properties are all located in New
Jersey. Substantially all of the net proceeds from the sale and unrestricted cash and certain related reserve funds
aggregating approximately $5,000,000 were used to retire existing debt. Additionally, in January 2005,
Wellsford/Whitehall completed the sale of five retail stores for an aggregate sales price of $17,100,000, after
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selling costs. The net proceeds from the sale of the retail stores of approximately $1,300,000, after payment of
related debt, were available to be used by Wellsford/Whitehall for working capital purposes. During the fourth
quarter of 2004, Wellsford/Whitehall recorded an impairment loss provision of approximately $21,069,000
relating to the January 2005 sales (of which the Company’s share was approximately $7,419,000).

WP Commercial provided management, construction, development and leasing services to Wellsford/White-
hall based on an agreed upon fee schedule. WP Commercial received an administrative management fee of
93 basis points on a predetermined value for each asset in the Wellsford/Whitehall portfolio. As Wellsford/
Whitehall sold assets, the basis used to determine the fee was reduced by the respective asset’s predetermined
value six months after the completion of such sales. During the year ended December 31, 2005, Wellsford/
Whitehall paid the following fees to WP Commercial or one of its affiliates, including amounts reflected in
discontinued operations of Wellsford/Whitehall:

For the Year Ended

December 31,
2005
Administrative Management . ... ... .. vuuntn ittt $ 1,834,000
Construction, construction management, development and leasing ............ $ 75,000
Financing fee . . ............. P 3 750,000

Whitehall paid the Company fees with respect to assets disposed of by Wellsford/Whitehall and for certain
acquisitions of real estate made by certain other affiliates of Whitehall. These fees aggregated $518,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2005.

Restricted Cash and Invesiments

Restricted cash and investments are comprised of the following:

December 31,
2007 2006
Deposits and escrows related to residential development
ACHVILIES &+ . v vt et e it et et e e $ 3,430,000 §$ 2,485,000
Cash restricted for use by joint ventures. . . ............... — 452,000
Security for office lease (see Note 11)................... 234,000 —

$ 3,664,000 % 2,937,000
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Intangibles and Other Assets

The amount of identified intangibles and other assets, based upon the finalized allocation of the purchase price
of Private Reis and additional capitalized costs since the Merger, including the respective amounts of
accumulated amortization, are as follows:

December 31, 2007
DalADASE & .t it v et et et e $ 8,243,000
Accumulated amoOrtization . . .. ... ..ttt i e e e (1,025,000)
Database, et . . . .ottt e e e e e 7,218,000
Customer relationships. ... ... ... . i 14,100,000
Accumulated amorfization . ... .. . ... .. e (445,000}
Customer relationships, net. .. ... ... ... . . i i, 13,655,000
o 1= 2,177,000
Accumulated amortization . .. .. ... i e e (299,000)
Web site, met ... . e e e e e 1,878,000
Acquired below market lease .. ........ ... . L i e 2,800,000
Accumulated amortiZation . .. .. ottt e e e e e (198,000)
Acquired below market lease, net . .. ... ... .. ... 2,602,000
Intangibles, NEL . . . ... .t e $ 25,353,000

Amortization expense for intangibles and other assets was approximately $1,967,000 for the seven month
period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007. The Company’s future amortization ¢xpense related to the net
intangible asset balance at December 31, 2007 follows.

(amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, Amount
2008, . e e e e e e e e e $ 3,781
2000 . . e e e e e e 3,804
0 3,304
.00 1 Y 2,802
70 1,931
41T = AP 9,731
Total .o e e e e e e b 25,353
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Debt
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company’s debt consisted of the following:
- December 31,
Debt/Project Initial Maturity Date  Stated Interest Rate 2007 2006

Debt:

Reis Services Bank Loan . . . . . September 2012 LIBOR + 2.50%(C) §$ 24,250,000 § -

Gold Peak Construction Loan. . November 2009 LIBOR + 1.65%(B) 6,417,000 9,550,000

East Lyme Construction Loan. . December 2007(A) LIBOR + 2.15%(B) 6,966,000 10,579,000

Other long term debt. . ... ... Various Fixed/Various 578,000 —
Totaldebt. ................ 38,211,000 20,129,000
Less current portion . . . .. ... .. . 15,059,000 —
Long term portion , , .. .. ... .. $ 23,152,000 $ 20,129,000
Carrying amount of real estate

assets collateralizing

construction loans payable . . .. $ 20,000,000 § 36,000,000
Cash held in financial institutions

in which a security interest is

granted for construction debt . . § 35808000 § 3,773,000
Total assets of Reis Services . . . . $ 97,530,000

(A) The East Lyme Construction Loan had initial maturity date in December 2007. This date was extended by the lender 1o
Aprl 15, 2008 while the Company negotiates extension terms with the lender (see below),

(B) Principal payments will be made from sales proceeds upon the sale of individual homes.

(C) Depending upon the leverage ratio, as defined by the Bank Loan agreement, the spread to LIBOR could decrease from
3.00% 10 1.50% as described below.

Reis Services Bank Loan

In connection with the Merger agreement, Private Reis entered into an agreement, dated October 11, 2006,
with the Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as administrative agent and BMO Capital Markets, as lead
arranger, which provides for a term loan of up to an aggregate of $20,000,000 and revolving loans up to an
aggregate of $7,000,000. Loan proceeds were used to finance $25,000,000 of the cash portion of the Merger
consideration and the remaining $2,000,000 may be utilized for future working capital needs of Reis Services.
The loans are secured by a security interest in substantially all of the assets, tangible and intangible, of Reis
Services and a pledge by the Company of its membership interest in Reis Services. The Bank Loan restricts the
amount of payments Reis Services can make to the Company each year.

Reis Services is required to (1) make principal payments on the term loan on a quarterly basis commencing on
June 30, 2007 in increasing amounts pursuant to the payment schedule provided in the credit agreement, and
(2) permanently reduce the revolving loan commitments on a quarterly basis commencing on March 31, 2010.
The final maturity date of all amounts borrowed pursuant to the credit agreement is September 30, 2012.

At December 31, 2007, the interest rate was LIBOR + 2.50% (LIBOR was 4.60% at December 31, 2007).
LIBOR spreads are based on a leverage ratio, as defined in the credit agreement. Interest spreads could range
from a high of LIBOR + 3.00% (if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 4.50 to 1.00) to a low of
LIBOR + 1.50% (if the leverage ratio is less than 2.75 to 1.00). Reis Services also pays a fee on the unused
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$2,000,000 portion of the revolving loan of 0.50% per annum, as well as an annual administration fee of
$25,000. The Bank Loan requires interest rate protection in an aggregate notional principal amount of not less
than 50% of the outstanding balance of the Bank Loan. The term of any interest rate. protection must be for a
minimum of three years. An interest rate cap was purchased for $109,000 in June 2007, which caps LIBOR at
5.50% on $15,000,000 from June 2007 to June 2010. The fair value of the cap was approximately $19,000 at
December 31, 2007. The change in the fair value of approximately $90,000 was charged to interest expense
during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007.

In connection with obtaining the Bank Loan, Reis Services paid fees and incurred third party costs aggregating
approximately $501,000 which are amortized over the term of the loan. Such costs are included as other assets
in the accompanying financial statements.

Residential Development Debt

In April 2005, the Company obtained development and construction financing for Gold Peak in the aggregate
amount of approximaiely $28,800,000 (the “Gold Peak Construction Loan”). The Gold Peak Construction
Loan bears interest at LIBOR + 1.65% per annum, matures in November 2009 and hss additional extensions at
the Company’s option upon satisfaction of certain conditions being met by the borrower. Borrowings occur as
costs are expended and principal repayments are made as units are sold. The balance of the Gold Peak
Construction Loan was approximately $6,417,000 and $9,550,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. The outstanding balance on the development portion of the loan was repaid during 2006 and the related
commitment was terminated in February 2007. The Company has a 5% LIBOR cap expiring in June 2008 for
the Gold Peak Construction Loan.

In December 2004, the Company obtained development and construction financing for East Lyme in the
aggregate amount of approximately $21,177,000 (the “East Lyme Construction Loan™). The East Lyme
Construction Loan bears interest at LIBOR +2.15% per annum and matured in December 2007 with two one-
year extensions at the Company’s option upon satisfaction of certain conditions being met by the borrower.
Borrowings occur as costs are expended and principal repayments are made as homes are sold. The Company
did not meet the minimum home sale requirement condition and, accordingly, is negotiating extension and
covenant terms with the lender. The lender extended the December 2007 maturity date to April 15, 2008 with
no changes to the terms of the loans while negotiations for an extension continue. There can be no assurance
that a further extension, renewal or financing will be granted on favorable terms, or at all. The balance of the
East Lyme Construction Loan was approximately $6,966,000 and $10,579,000 at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. The Company had a 4% LIBOR cap which expired in July 2007 for a portion of the East
Lyme Construction Loan.

The East Lyme Construction Loan and Gold Peak Construction Loan require the Company to have a minimum
GAAF net worth, as defined, of $50,000,000. The Company may be required to make an additional $2,000,000
cash collateral deposit for the East Lyme Construction Loan and a $2,000,000 paydown of the Gold Peak
Construction Loan if net worth, as defined, is below $50,000,000. The Company is required to maintain
minimum liquidity levels at each quarter end for the East Lyme and Gold Peak Construction Loans, the most
restrictive of which is $10,000,000.

The lender for the East Lyme Construction Loan has also provided a $3,000,000 letter of credit to a
municipality in connection with the construction of public roads at the East Lyme project. The Company
has posted $1,300,000 of restricted cash as collateral for this letter of credit. During January 2008, the letter of
credit requirement was reduced to $1,750,000 by the municipality.
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In December 1995, the Trust marketed and sotd $14,755,000 of tax-exempt bonds to fund construction at
Palomino Park (the “Palomino Park Bonds™). Initially, all five phases of Palomino Park were collateral for the
Palomino Park Bonds. The Palomino Park Bonds had an outstanding balance of $12,680,000 at December 31,
2004 and were collateralized by four phases at Palomino Park. In January 2005, the Palomino Park Bonds were
. paid down by $2,275,000 in order to release the Gold Peak phase from the bond collateral. A five-year letter of
credit from Commerzbank AG had secured the Palomino Park Bonds and a subsidiary of EQR had guaranteed
Commerzbank AG’s letter of credit. The Company retired the $10,405,000 balance of this obligation prior to
the expirations of the letter of credit and EQR’s guarantee in May 2005.

In connection with the sale of the three rental phases of Palomino Park in November 2003, the Company repaid
an aggregate of approximately $94,035,000 of mortgage debt and paid approximately $4,600,000 of debt
prepayment costs from the sale proceeds.

The Company’s scheduled long-term maturities of all its debt at December 31, 2007 follows:

(amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, Amount(A)
2008....... e n e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 15,059
2009 . . e e e e e e 3,688
2000, . e 6,519
1. 15 3 7,361
20, e e e e e e e e e 5,584
8 L $ 38,211

(A) Excludes payments expected to be made from sales proceeds.

The Company capitalizes interest related to the development of single family homes and condominiums under
construction to the extent such assets qualify for capitalization, Approximately, $993,000, $417,000,
$1.316,000, $131,000 and $1,375,000 was capitalized during the period June 1, 2007 to December 31,
2007, the period January 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007, the year ended December 31, 2006, the period November 18,
2005 to December 31, 2005 and the period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005, respectively.

Income Taxes

The components of the income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations are as follows:

For the Period For the Period
June 1 to January 1 to
December 31, 2007 November 17, 2005
Current state and local tax . ......... ... ... $ 46,000 $ 200,000
Deferred federal tax . . .......... ... ... coiiimurnnns. (626,000) 32,000
Deferred state and local tax .......... ... ... .......... (159,000) (141,000)
Income tax (benefit) expense ......................... $ (739,000) $ 91,000
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The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. Federal statutory rate to income tax (benefit) expense
for continuing operations is as follows:

For the Period For the Period
June 1 to January 1 to
December 31, 2007 November 17, 2005
Amount Percent Amount Percent
Tax (benefit) expense at U.S. statutory
FALE . oot $ (710,000) (35.000%  $1,088,000 35.00%
State tax {credit), net of federal
benefit. ........... ... . ... (73,0000 (3.59% 38,000 1.23%
Change in valuation allowance, net . ... — — (921,000) {29.63)%
Non-deductible/non-taxable items, net . . 44,000 2.17% (83,000) (2.68)%
Effect of difference in tax rate . ... . ... — — (31,000} (1.00)%
$ (739,000) (3642)% $ 91,000 2.92%

Private Reis had net operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards aggregating approximately $11,800,000 at May 30,
2007 expiring in the years 2019 to 2026. These losses may be utilized against consolidated taxable income,
subject to a $5,300,000 annual limitation.

The Company separately has NOLs which resuited from the Company’s merger with Value Property Trust
(“VLP™) in 1998 and its operating losses in 2004, 2006 and 2007 (prior to the Merger). There is an annual
limitation on the use of such NOLs after an ownership change, pursvuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code (the “Code™). As a result of the Merger, the Company has experienced such an ownership change which
has resulted in a new annual limitation on the ability to utilize the Company’s NOLs, which is estimated to be
$2,779,000. As a result of the new annual limitation and expirations, the Company expects that it could only
potentially utilize approximately $38,100,000 of these remaining NOLs at December 31, 2007. Of such
amount, approximately $4,400,000 will expire in 2008 and approximately $5,558,(100 will expire in 2010. A
further requirement of the tax rules is that after a corporation experiences an ownership change, it must satisfy
the “continuity of business enterprise” requirement {which generally requires that a corporation continue its
historic business or use a significant portion of its historic business assets in its business for the two-year period
beginning on the date of the ownership change) to be able to utilize its NOLs. There can be no assurance that
this requirement will be met with respect to the Merger ownership change. If the Company fails to satisfy this
requirement, the Company would be unable to utilize any of its NOLs; however, there would be no such

- limitation on the Private Reis NOLs.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes including at December 31, 2006 the liquidation basis
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beginning in 2005 and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant comfyonents of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,
2007 * 2006
{Going Concern Basis) (Liquidation Basis)

Deferred Tax Assets

Net operating loss carfyforwards .................... $ 20,338,701 $ 19,727,820
Asset basis differences — tax amount greater than value . . . 5,884,636 3,791,245
Liability reserves . . . ... ... .. ..o 322,799 —
Reserve for option cancellations . .. .................. 218,719 1,103,924
Stock compensation plans . . ............ ... . ..., . .. 465,850
AMT credit carryforwards . ........... ... .. o, 943,461 764,549
Reserve for estimated liquidation costs . .. ... .......... —_ 7,644,979
Other. . .o e e e e 93,476 —
28,267,642 33,032,517
Valuation allowance . .. ... ..ot ie i e (20,499,626) (31,144,133)
Total deferred tax assets. ... ..ot e e n e e 7,768,016 1,888,384
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Acquired asset differences — book value greater than tax . . (8,698,898) —
Asset basis differences — carrying amount value greater
11 o B - . (382,698) (1,965,067)
Other. .. e — (46,989)
Total defem_ad tax labilities .. ..... ... ... ... .. ... ... (9,081,596) (2,012,056)
Net deferred tax (liability) .. ......... ... ... .. ..... $ (1,313,580) 3 {123,672)

The net deferred tax liability was approximately $1,314,000 at December 31, 2007 and is reflected as a non
current liability in the accompanying balance sheet. The significant portion of the deferred tax liability relates
to the intangible assets recorded at the time of the Merger in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141.
The Company’s net deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2006 are in accrued expenses and other liabilities
in the Statement of Net Assets in Liquidation at December 31, 2006. The deferred tax assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2006 take inte consideration the recordation of assets at estimated net realizable value. During
2007, the Company determined that the December 31, 2006 deferred tax assets and the valuation allowance
should have included the tax impact of the Company’s stock option cancellation liability. Accordingly, the
December 31, 2006 amounts have been adjusted with no impact on the carrying amount of the net deferred tax
liability at that date.

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the
evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Accordingly, management has determined that valuation allowances of approximately $20,500,000 and
$31,144,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are necessary. The reduction in the valuation
allowance during 2007 results primarily from the expiration of NOLs during 2007, the reduction of the
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available NOLs to the calculated maximum potential usage arising from the new annual limitation described
above and the change from the liquidation basis of accounting to the going concern basis in 2007 and the
related elimination of the reserve for future costs, offset in part by an increase in the allowance related to real
estate impairments. In addition, the Company recorded the tax benefits of certain tax assets of approximately
$2,378,000 recorded as part of the purchase price allocation in the Merger. The allowance at December 31,
2007 and 2006 relates primarily to existing NOLs of the Company, AMT credits and the excess of a portion of
the tax basis of certain real estate development assets over their respective financial statement basis. The 2006
amount also includes an allowance for a portion of estimated future liquidation costs.

As disclosed in Note 2, the Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007, which did not
impact the Company’s financial position. The Company’s reserve for unrecognized tax benefits was approx-
imately $993,000 at December 31, 2007. If the reserve was reversed in full or in par, it would increase income
in the future by either reducing the tax provision and effective tax rate or reducing general and administrative
expenses, in that future period, depending upon the nature of the tax positions resolved.

Interest and penalties related to these tax provisions were primarily included in general and administrative
expenses during 2007 and prior years and approximated $438,000 at December 31, 2007,

A reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits for the period January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 follows:

Balance at January 1,2007 . . ... ... . e e b 844,000
Additions for provisions related to prior years .. ......... .. ... ... .o . 149,000
Balance at December 31, 2007 . ... . e e e e, '$ 993,000

The Company expects that approximately one-half of the above balance will be resolved during 2008 related to
-the unrecognized tax provisions taken in 2007 and prior years.

The parent company and its subsidiaries have never been audited by the Federal tax authorities and tax returns
are open from 2003 to 2006. In addition, acquired net operating loss carry forwards are open for the years 1993,
1994, 1996 and 1998 for operating losses generated during those periods. Tax returns for one subsidiary are
open from 1998 to 2006 with a local taxing authority and from 2001 to 2006 for the parent company and that
subsidiary with a state taxing authority. The tax years for another subsidiary, operating in a different state, are
open from 2002 to 2006.

Private Reis has been audited by the Federal tax authorities through the year ended October 31, 2006. State and
local tax returns are open from 2003 to 2006. In addition, tax returns are open from 2000 to 2002 to the extent
of net operating losses generated during these periods by Private Reis.
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The following table details revenues, costs and expenses for transactions with affiliates for the identified
periods:
For the Period For the Perfod For The Year For the Period For the Perlod

June 1 to January 1 to Ended November 18 to Janunary 1 to
December 31, May 31, December 31, December 31, November 17,
2007 2007 2006 2005 2005
(Going Concern (Going Concern
Basis) (Liguidation Basis) Basis)
Revenues:

WP Commercial fees (A). .. ... $ — 5 — $ — $ — $ 518,000

Costs and expenses:
EQR credit enhancement (B) ... $ — % — ¥ —. 3 — 3 9,000
Fees to our partners, or their

affiliates, on residential
development projects:

EastLyme............... 146,000 104,000 500,000 62,000 438,000
Claverack . . ............. —_ — 100,000 12,000 38.000
Beekman ............... — -— — 9,000 69,000
Total costs and expenses ... ... $ 146,000 $ 104,000 $ 600,000 $ 83,000 § 604,000

(A) Wellsford/Whitehall was a joint venture by and among the Company, various entities affiliated with Whitehall and
private real estate funds sponsored by Goldman Sachs. The managing member, WP Commercial, was an affiliate of
Goldman Sachs and Whitehall. See Note 3 for additional information.

(B} Relates to the Palomino Park Bonds which were credit enhanced by EQR. The Palomino Park tax-exempt bonds were
repaid in May 2005.

Prior to the Merger the Company had a preferred equity investment in Private Reis through Wellsford Capital.
At December 31, 2006, the carrying amount of the Company’s aggregate investment in Private Reis was
approximately $20,000,000 on a liquidation basis (or approximately $6,791,000 on a historical cost basis),
representing approximately 23% of Private Reis’s equity on an as converted to common stock basis. See
Footnotes 1 and 3 regarding the Merger and additional information about Reis.

Prior to September 2006, a portion of the Company’s investment in Private Reis was held through Reis Capital
Holdings, LLC (*“‘Reis Capital”}, a company which was organized to hold this investment. The Company had
an approximate 51.09% non-controlling interest in Reis Capital. In September 2006, the members of Reis
Capital approved the dissolution of this entity and distributed the Reis shares directly to the members in
October 2006,

Mr. Lowenthal, the Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer, who currently serves on the
Company’s board of directors, was selected by the Company to also serve as the Company’s representative on
the board of directors of Private Reis and had done so from the third quarter of 2000 through the Merger. leffrey
Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal recused themselves from any investment decisions made by the Company
pertaining to Private Reis, including the authorization by the Company’s board of directors to approve the
Merger. .

Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal were members of the EQR board of directors from the date of the EQR
Merger through their retirements from the EQR board in May 2003. In addition, the former president and vice
chairman of EQR, Mr. Crocker, is a member of the Company’s Board. Another EQR executive was elected to
the Company's Board on Januvary 1, 2004 to represent EQR’s interests in the Company. The EQR
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representative resigned as a director in April 2005. EQR provided credit enhancement for the Palomino Park
Bonds through May 2003, for which the Company paid fees of $9,000 to EQR during the 2005 period. EQR
was the holder of 1,000,000 8.25% Convertible Trust Preferred Securities, with an aggregate liquidation
amount of $25,000,000. In March 2005, the Company notified EQR of its intent to redeem for cash its
outstanding $235,000,000 of Convertible Trust Preferred Securities and then complet=d the redemption during
April 2005. Interest expense during the period Janwary 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005 was approximately
$824,000 and included related cost amortization and the write-off of the unamortized balance. EQR was also
the holder of 169,903 shares of class A-1 common stock of the Company. In January 2006, EQR converted its
169,903 shares of class A-1 common stock to an equal number of common shares. In 2005, the Company
purchased half of EQR’s 14.15% interest in the corporation that owns the Palomino Park assets for $2,087,000
and made aggregate distributions of approximately $4,080,000 in 2005. On September 30, 2007, the Company
purchased EQR’s remaining 7.075% interest in that corporation for $1,200,000.

In January 2006, a company which is owned by Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal, the principal of the
Company’s joint venture partner in the East Lyme project and others, acquired the Beekman project at the
Company’s aggregate cost of approximately $1,297,000. This was accomplished through a sale of the entities
that owned the Beekman project.

See Note 1 and 3 for additional related party information.

Stockholders’ Equity

The following table presents information regarding the Company’s securities:

. December 31, -
2007 2006

Common stock, 101,000,000 shares authorized, $.02 par value per share .. 10,934,517 6,646,738

In December 2006, the Board amended the Company’s charter to reclassify all of the authorized but unissued
shares of series A 8% convertible redeemable preferred stock, class A-1 common stock, and to the extent such
shares remain classified, class A common stock, as shares of common stock of the Company.

In Janvary 2006, EQR, the sole holder of the outstanding class A-1 common stock, converted its 169,903
class A-1 shares to an equal number of common shares.

The Company has issued shares of common stock to executive officers and other employees through periodic.
annual bonus awards, as well as certdin shares issued at the date of the EQR Marger, which officers and
employees could have elected to contribute into the Rabbi Trust. At December 31, 2005, an aggregate of
256,487 shares of common stock (which had an aggregate market value of approximately $1,539,000 based on
the Company’s December 30, 2005 closing stock price of $6.00 per share), were in the Rabbi Trust for the
benefit of Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal and classified as Treasury Stock in the: Company’s consolidated
financial statements. Historically, awards of Company stock vested over various periods ranging from two to
five years, as long as the officer or employee was still employed by the Company. Four officers of the Company
elected to have the balance of their respective deferred compensation accounts (aggregating 39,200 shares)
distributed to them in December 2005 under the terms of an amendment to the deferred compensation plan. In
addition, an aggregate of approximately $993,000 of cash from the $14.00 per share liquidating distribution
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and other investments was distributed to these officers. The following table presents changes to the stock held
in the Rabbi Trust for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005
Number Value at Number Value at
of Date of of Date of
Shares Issuance Shares Issuance
Shares issued pursuant to plan, beginning of
period . . ... ... e 256,487 302,062
Shares released under terms of agreement or by
ansfer .. .ot e (256,487) $ 20.20 (45,575) $ 16.09
Balance atend of period .. ................... — 256,487
Shares vested at December 31 .. ... ............ — . 256,487

In January 2006, the subsidiary holding the balance of the shares in the Rabbi Trust as well as all other assets
held by the Rabbi Trust were acquired by an entity owned by Jeffrey Lynford and Mr. Lowenthal and others
along with the acquisition of the Beekman assets. The Company was relieved of the remaining deferred
compensation liability which amounted to approximately $14,721,000 at December 31, 2005.

The Company made a distribution of $14.00 per share on December 14, 2005. The Company did not declare or
distribute any other dividends during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Stock Plans and Other Incentives

The Company has adopted certain incentive plans (the “Incentive Plans™) for the purpose of attracting and
retaining the Company’s directors, officers and employees. Options granted under the Incentive Plans expire
ten years from the date of grant, vest over periods ranging generally from three to five years for employees and
may contain the right to receive reload options under certain conditions. At December 31, 2007, remaining
availability aggregated 100,062 common shares, all of which expire on March 10, 2008.
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The following table presents the changes in options outstanding by year, the: effect of the following
adjustments on the December 31, 2005 balances (see below) and other plan data:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Welghted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Qutstanding at beginning of peried. . . . ... 1414876  § 5.68 1,845,584  $ 565 662,979  $20.15
Granted . ..... .. ...l 683,931 10.07 — — - —
Exercised ................. ... ... (940,457} (5.81) (175.559) (5.74) (3,540) (15.84)
Cancelled through cash settlement . . . .. .. (278,571} (5.67) (237,426) (5.14) — —_
Forfeited/cancelledfexpired . . ... ... ... (263,931)  (1043) (17,723} (8.39) (138,774) (20.74)
Outstanding at end of period . . ... ...... 615,848 8.34 1,414,876 5.68 520,665 20.02
Quistanding at December 31, 2005, as
adjusted. . ... _ 1845584 § 5.65
Options exercisabie at end of peried . . . . .. 195848 § 5.10 1,414,876 $5.68 520,665  §20.02
Options exercisable at December 31, 2005,
asadjusted . . ... ... ... L. 1,845,584 § 5.65
Options exercisable which can be settled in
Y 195848 § 5.10 1,414,876 $ 568
Weighted average fair value of options
granted per year (per optien) . . .. .. ... $ 2.67 3 — $ —
Weighted average remaining contractual life
atend of period. . ... ... ... .. S 7.4 years 1.6 years 2.6 years

As permitted by the Plan and in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s option plans, applicable
accounting rules, the American Stock Exchange (*“AMEX") rules and Federal income tax laws, the Company’s
outstanding stock options were adjusted to prevent a dilution of benefits to option holders arising from a
reduction in value of the Company’s common stock as a result of the $14.00 per share initial liquidating
distribution made to the Company’s stockholders on December 14, 2005. The adjustment reduces the exercise
price of the outstanding options by the ratio of the price of a common share immediately after the distribution
($5.60 per share) to the stock price immediately before the distribution ($19.85 per share) and increases the
number of common shares subject to outstanding options by the reciprocal of thz ratio. As a result of this
adjustment, the 520,665 options outstanding as of December 31, 2005 were converted into options to acquire
1,845,584 common shares and the weighted average exercise price of such options decreased from $20.02 per
share to $5.65 per share. The Board approved these option adjustments on January 26, 2006. These
adjustments did not result in a new grant and did not have any financial staternent impact. At the same
time, the Board authorized amendments 10 outstanding options to allow an option holder to receive from the
Company, in cancellation of the holder’s option, a cash payment with respect to each cancelled option equal to
the amount by which the fair market value of the share of stock underlying the option exceeds the exercise
price of such option. Additionally, certain non-qualified “out-of-the-money” options which had original
maturity dates prior to December 31, 2007, were extended by the Board to the later of December 31 of the year
of original expiration or the 15th day of the third month following the date of the original expiration.
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In February 2006, the Company was advised by the AMEX that the planned adjustment was in compliance
with applicable AMEX rules related to option adjustments. On March 21, 2006, the Company and the option
holders executed amended option agreements to reflect these adjustments and changes.

As a result of the approval process, the Company determined that it was appropriate to record a provision
during the first quarter of 2006 aggregating approximately $4,227,000 to reflect the modification permitting an
option holder to receive a net cash payment in cancellation of the holder’s option based upon the fair value of
an option in excess of the exercise price. The reserve is adjusted at the end of each reporting period to reflect
the settlement amounts of the liability, exercises of stock options and the impact of changes to the market price
of the stock at the end of each reporting period. The change in the liability is reflected in the statement of
changes in net assets in liquidation through May 31, 2007.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company made cash payments aggregating approximately
$668,000 related to 237,426 options cancelled for option holders electing this method. The remaining reserve
for option cancellations reported at December 31, 2006 on the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets in
Liquidation was approximately $2,633,000 and was calculated based upon the difference in the closing stock
price of the Company at December 31, 2006 of $7.52 and the individual exercise prices of all outstanding “in-
the-money” options at that date.

At May 31, 2007, the liability for options which could be settled in cash was approximately $7,269,000 based
upon the difference in the closing stock price of the Company of $11.00 per share and the individual exercise
prices of all outstanding “in-the-money” options at that date. No cash payments were made during the five
months ended May 31, 2007.

During the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007, an aggrégatc of 278,571 options were settled with net
cash payments aggregating approximately $1,580,000. In addition, in a series of transactions in June 2007,
Jeffrey Lynford tendered certain shares of common stock he owned as payment of the exercise price for
891,949 options. Further, he reduced the number of shares he would ultimately receive in this exercise
transaction to satisfy his tax obligation of approximately $2,072,000 in cash (which was retained by the
Company to pay for his applicable withholding taxes and was treated as an option cancellation payment). As a
result, he received a net of 212,070 shares of the Company’s common stock upon the completion of this
exercise. Pursuant to his option agreements, Jeffrey Lynford received “reload” options to purchase
243,931 shares of the Company’s common stock which have an exercise price of $10.67 per option reflecting
the market value of the Company’s stock at the time of the grant. These reload options expired on December 31,
2007, did not have a net cash settlement feature and were treated as an equity award. In May 2007, 48,508
options were exercised for which the Company received proceeds of approximately $282,000.

At December 31, 2007, the option liability was approximately $527,000 based upon the difference in the
closing stock price of the Company at December 31, 2007 of $7.68 per share and the individual exercise prices
of the outstanding 178,124 “in-the-money” options that are accounted for as a liability award at that date. The
Company recorded a compensation benefit for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 in General and
Administrative expenses in the statement of operations of approximately $1,847,000, as a result of the stock
price declines during the period. Changes in the settlement value of option awards treated under the liability
method as defined by SFAS No. 123R are reflected as income or expense in the statements of operations under
the going concern basis of accounting.

In connection with the Merger, 340,000 options were gramed to six key employees on May 30, 2007 with an
exercise price of $10.40 per option. These options vest ratably over five years. An additional 100,000 options
were granted to employees in August 2007 with an exercise price of $7.50 per option. These options vest

F-47




REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC. )
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Continued)

Stock Plans and Other Incentives (continued)

ratably over five years. These awards are treated as equity awards based on their respective terms and the fair
value of each award is charged to compensation expense on a straight-line basis at the corporate level over the
vesting period.

Also in connection with the Merger, Lloyd Lynford and Mr. Garfield were granted 100,000 and 46,000
restricted stock units (“RSUs™), respectively, which upon meeting certain performance thresholds vest over a
three year period. The grant date fair value is $10.40 per RSU and is charged to cornpensation expense at the
corporate level on a graded schedule over the vesting period. At the time of the award and at December 31,
2007, the Company believed that it would meet the required performance threshold to fully vest the RSUs over
the three year period.

At the Merger date, 123 employees were granted an aggregate of 73,800 RSUs which vest after three years of
service and have a grant date value of $10.40 per RSU. This award is treated as an equity award and the grant
date fair value is charged to compensation expense at the corporate level over the vesting periods. As a result of
an amendment to the Incentive Plans which was approved by the stockholders on May 30, 2007, awards can be
made to all employees of the Company, not just key employees.

As aresult of the issuance of the stock options and RSU grants, the Company recorde:d non-cash compensation
expense of approximately $959,000 for the seven month period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007.

The following table presents additional option details at December 31, 2007 and 2006 reflecting the impact of
the previously described adjustments:

Options Quistanding and Exercisable Options Qutstaading and Exercisable
at December 31, 2007 at December 31, 2006
. Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Contractual Average Contractual Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price Outstanding Life: (Years) Exercise Price

$40%910 %455 . ........ 79,757 3.79 $ 439 106,343 5.08 $4.37
$460 ... oLl 34,561 1.75 4.60 43,423 2.79 4.60
$5.03 ..., 28,358 0.79 5.03 37,220 1.82 5.03
$5.1810 8557 ... ... ... 35,448 4.97 5.34 53,172 5.97 5.34
$581 ... — — — 1,148,132 1.00 5.81
$750 ...l 80,000 9.63 1.50 — — —
$889 ... ... 17,724 0.21 8.89 26,586 1.21 8.89
$1040. ... ... ... .. 340,000 9.42 - 10,40 — _— —

615,848 - 1.37 8.34 1,414,876 1.57 5.68

‘The Black-Scholes option pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option pricing models require the
input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected share price volatility. Because the Company’s
employee share options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value ¢stimate, in management’s
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opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its
employee share options. ’

The following table includes the assumptions that were made and the estimated fair value for grants made in
2007:

_2007 Grants (A)
Dividend yield .. . ... ... . . e —
Risk-free interest rate . . .. ... ... v 4.39% to 4.84%
Expected life . .. ... ... . . e 7.0 years
Estimated volatility. . . .......... ... ... .. ... ... ... . ... 23.3% to 24.0%
Weighted average fair value of options granted (per option). . ... .. $3.66

(A) Excludes the grant of reload options to Jeffrey Lynford which had a life at the date of grant of approximately
six months, the estimated volatility was 23.19% and the risk-free interest rate was 4.95% to compute a Black-
Scholes value of $0.89 per option. When combined with the other grants in 2007, the weighted average fair
value of options granted (per option) is reduced to $2.67 per option from $3.66 per option.

At December 31, 2007, the total compensation cost related to outstanding, non-vested awards of RSUs and
options that is expected to be recognized as compensation cost in the future aggregates approximately
$2,445,000. This cost will be expensed over a period of 2.4 years related to RSUs and 4.4 years related to
option grants.

Commitments and Contingencies

From time-to-time, legal actions may be brought against the Company in the ordinary course of business.
There can be no assurance that such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company is a tenant under three operating leases for office space in New York, including the historic
Wellsford office space which expires in October 2008, the current corporate office space which expires in
September 2016 and other former Private Reis office space through March 2008. Rent expense was
approximately $1,474,000 and $817,000 for the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 and for the
period January 1, 2005 to November 17, 2005 respectively, which includes base rent plus other charges
including, but not limited to, real estate taxes and maintenance costs in excess of base year amounts.

In connection with the lease for the current corporate office space, the Company provided a letter of credit
through a bank, to the lessor. The letter of credit requirement was approximately $216,000 which was replaced
by a certificate of deposit issued by that bank. The certificate of deposit is included in Restricted Cash and
Investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2007.

The Company has an accrual of approximately $102,000 for accrued net lease abandonment costs at
December 31, 2007 related to the other former Private Reis offices through March 2008.
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Future minimum lease payments under operating leases at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

{amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, Amount

2008, . L e e e e e e e s b 1,680
2000 . . e e e et e 1,361
1) 1,388
113 1 T 1,415
1) 7 1,444
B 170 £ i =5 G P 5,542
o $ 12,830

The Company has two separate defined contribution savings plans pursuant to Section 401 of the Internal
Revenue Code. For the historic Wellsford Plan, employer contributions, if any, are made based upon a
discretionary amount determined by the Company’s management. The Company made contributions to this
plan of approximately $23,000, $28,000 and $31,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
For the historic Private Reis plan, the Company made contributions of approximately $35,000 for the period
June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s financial instruments included receivables, payables, accrued
expenses, other liabilities and debt. The fair value of these financial instruments were not materiaily different
from their recorded values at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2006 the Company’s assets were stated at
their net realizable values and -liabilities were stated at their estimated settlement amounts. All of the
Company’s debt at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was floating rate based. The fair value of the Company’s
interest rate caps were approximately $19,000 and $97,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. See
Note 6 for more information about the Company’s debt.

Summarized Consolidated Quarterly Information (Unaudited)
Summarized consclidated and condensed quarterly financial information is as follows:
(amounts in thousands)
2007
Liquidation Basis
March 31 May 31
Net assets in liquidation . .. .. ... .. .. .. o i $ 7504 0% 51,923
P ShATE . o . vt e e 3 865 § 7.76
Common stock outstanding at each respective date . ............. 6,647 6,695
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Summarized Consolidated Quarterly Information (Unaudited) (continued)

2007
Going Concern Basis

For the Period For the Three Months  For the Three Months
June 1 to June 30 Ended September 30 Ended December 31

Revenue:
Subscription revenue . ... ... .. $ 1874 $ 6343 $ 6,398
Revenue from sales of
residential units . . ... ... ... 1,157 12,827 7,768
Total revenue .............. 3,031 19,170 14,166

Cost of sales:
Cost of sales of subscription

TEVENUE . v v v v vt oo e e v e e 404 1,256 1,261
Cost of sales of residential '
11111 - S 950 11,208 6,493
Impairment loss on real estate
assets under development. . . . — — 3,149
Total costof sales . . ......... 1,354 12,464 10,903
Grossprofit ................... 1,677 6,706 3,263
Total operating expenses. . ........ 733 5,888 6,626
Total other income (expenses). . . ... (105) (170) (153)-
Income (loss) before income taxes. . . 839 648 (3,516)
Income tax expense (benefit). ... ... 4 332 (1,075)
Net income (1088) . . .. ... .vven.n. $ 835 $ 316 $ (2,441)
Net income (loss) per common
share: *
Basic .......... .. ... .. $ 008 5 003 $ (0.22)
Dilated . .. ................ $ (0.03) $ (0.03) $ (0.22)

Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding

Basic .................... 10,977 10,985 10,985
Diluted . .................. 11,152 11,259 10,985
2006
Liquidation Basis
March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
Net assets in liquidation .............. $ 53384 § 55844 § 56,211 $ 57,596
Pershare ....................... N 825 % 863 § 8.69 $ 8.67
Common stock outstanding at each

respectivedate. . . ........ ... .. ... 6,471 6,471 6,471 6,647

*  Aggregate quarterly eamnings per share amounts may not equal annual or period to date amounts presented elsewhere

in these consolidated financial statements due to rounding differences.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Members of
Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
members’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our andits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2005
and 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally acczpted in the United States.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas
January 31, 2006
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WELLSFORD/WHITEHALL GROUP, L.L.C. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2005 2004
ASSETS
- Real estate assets;

|73V« A S OO $ 1,166,250 $ 1,166,250

Land improvements. . . .. .. vv vt ntnriu i om e 3,170,580 3,608,757

Buildings and improvements . ... ..... ..o viett e 6,952,763 6,897,437

11,289,593 11,672,444
Less accumulated depreciation . . ... ... (2,612,576) (1,987,244)
8,677,017 9,685,200

Assets held Tor ale. . . . o it i e e e e e — 138,809,453
Cashand cash equivalents. . ..., . ...t nrn e s 1,444,452 2,280,434
Restricted Cash . . ..ottt et e i e e e e ey — 9,729,738
Deferred costs, less accumulated amortization ... ... ... .. o e — 780,385
Receivables, prepaids and other assets, net. ... ...... O 306,661 1,083,189
TOtAl BS58E8 . © & - v o e e et et e e e e $10,428,130 $162,368,399
LIABILITIES ANDD MEMBERS® EQUITY
Liabilities; .

Notes payable . . .. ..ot $ —  $113,887418

Liabilities attributable to assets held forsale . ......... . ... ......... _ 15,880,361

Accrued expeflSes and other liabilities . . .. ... . .ot i 1,251,775 3,297,833

Accrued interest on notes payable ... ... .. L oo — 537,282
Total Habilities . . . .ot et e e e e ettt e 1,251,775 133,602,894
Commitments and contingencies
Members” GQUILY . .o v v o vttt e e 9,176,355 28,765,505
Total liabilities and members’ equity . .. ... ... ... it $10,428,130  $162,368,399

F-55



Revenues:

Rental income .
Recoverable expenses
Interest and other income

WELLSFORD/WHITEHALL GROUP, L.1.C. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Total revenues. .......... P,

Expenses:

Property operations
Real estate taxes

Insurance
Interest . .. ...

Fair value adjustment of derivative instrument
Depreciation and amortization
Asset management fees

Ownership

................................

Loss from impairment . .. ... ......... .. . ...

Total expenses. . ................... e

Loss before discontinued operations

Discontinued Operations:

Gain on dispositions
Operating income

Interest and amoOrtization . . . . ..o o v vt et e it e e

Loss from impairment . . . ...... ... ... .. . ... ... -..

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

F-56

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
©$ 1,046,654 $ 1,041,553 § 1,111,723
122,748 128,500 114,031
411,130 465,434 263,722
1,580,532 1,635,487 1,489,476
569,151 461,803 569,211
187,484 230,304 192,217
30,721 45,139 2352
380,617 337,957 351,464
8,889 259,731 —
625,332 568,328 634,725,
112,483 112,483 112,491
43,486 194,758 328,929
452,500 3,305,985 —
2,410,663 5,516,488 2,231,389
(830,131) (3,981,001 (741,913)
17,325,536 386,651 9,297,121
28,708 2,385,882 9,842,592
(2,218,532)  (11,574,228)  (15,626,814)
—  (17,763511)  (114,687,022)
15,135,712 (26,165,206)  (111,174,123)
$14,305,581  $(30,146.207)  $(111,916,036)




WELLSFORD/WHITEHALL GROUP, L.L.C. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Excess of
Distributions Other TFotal
Membership Paid-In Over Comprehensive Members’
Units Amount Capital Earnings (Loss)/Income Equity

January 1, 2003. . ..... .19,258,328 $192,583 $275,657,412 $ (96,108,482) $(1,296,573) $ 178,444,940
Netloss ............ — —_ —  (111,916,036) — (111,916,036)
Other comprehensive

income ........... — — — — " 1,102,893 1,102,893
Distributions . . .... ... —_ _ — (2,264,826) — (2,264,826)
December 31, 2003. ... 19,258,328 192,583 275,657,412 (210,289,344) (193,680} 65,366,971
Netloss ............ -— — —  (30,146,207) — (30,146,207)
Other comprehensive

income ........... — — — — 163,680 193,680
Redemption of Saracen

Members® Interest . .. (1,434,126)  (1,434)  (6,647,505) — — {6,648,939)
December 31, 2004 . ... 17,824,202 191,149 269009907 (240,435,551) — 28,765,505
Netincome.......... — — — 14,305,581 — 14,305,581
Distributions . . .. ... .. — — —  {25,500,000) — (25,500,000)
Redemption of WCPT

Members’ Interest . .. {6,276,780)  (6,277)  (8,388,454) — -— (8,394,731)
December 31, 2005.... 11,547,422 $184,872 $260,621,453 $(251,629,970) $ — $ 9,176,355
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WELLSFORD/WHITEHALL GROUP, L.L.C. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss)

Adjustments from net income (loss) to net cash from
operating activities:

Gain on disposition of real estate assets

Loss on derivative fair market value adjustment
Depreciation and amortization . ...................
Loss on impairment of real estate assets ., ...........
Amortization of deferred financing costs. . ... ., ......
Change in receivables, prepaids and other assets . ... ...

Change in accrued expenses and other liabilities . . .. . . .
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities . . . ..

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Improvements io real estate assets

Disposal of real estate assets, net of selling expenses

Net cash provided by investing activities. . .........

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from notes payable ............... ... .....
Repayment of notes payable. . ......................
Repayment of ground lease obligations. ...............
Change inrestricted cash , ., .. ... ... ... ... . ... ...
Deferred financing costs. .. ... ... ... . ...
Member distributions . . .. ... .. L. L o

Redemption of equity. . . ... ..... .. ... ... ... .. ...
Net cash used in financing activities .. ............

Net change in cash and cash equivalents. . .............
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . ... .......

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year. .. .. ...........

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:
Cash paid forinterest . ... ..... ... ... ... ... ...
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Years Ended December 31,

2005

1004

2003

$ 14,305,581

$(30.146,207)

$(111,916,036)

(17,325,536) (886,651) (9,297,121)
8,889 259,731 —
625,332 8,147,492 11,200,304
452,500 21,069,496 114,687,022
771,496 1,298,036 4,964,321
3,053,353 (1,466,571) 3,431,762
(2.519495)  (4,667,969) 690,090
(627,880)  (6,392,643) 13,760,342
(704,678)  (8,668,305)  (23,807,946)
154,365,392 17,182,058 170,509,950
153,660,714 8,513,753 146,702,004
— 7,925,001 —
(129,703,823)  (15,705,781)  (166,700,076)
—_ — (1,111,239)
9,729,738 (2,350,373) 4,641,803
— (1,316,829) (83,543)
(25,500,000) — (2,264,826)
(8,394,731) — —
(153,868,816)  (11,447,982)  (165,517,881)
(835,982)  (9,326,872) (5,055,535)
2,280,434 11,607,306 16,662,841

$ 1444452 $ 2280434 $ 11,607,306
$ 1678891 $10,886,159 $ 12,369,290




WELLSFORD/WHITEHALL GROUP, L.L.C., AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2005 and 2004

Organization and Business

Wellsford/Whitehall Group, L.L.C. and subsidiaries (the “Company”), was formed in May 1999 and consisted
of the following members at December 31, 2005: WHWEL Real Estate Limited Partnership (“WHWEL"),
WXI/WWG Realty L.L.C. and W/W Group Holdings, L.L.C. (collectively the “Whitehall Members”). These
are collectively referred to as the “Members.”

WP Commercial, L.L.C. (“WP") manages the Company on a day-to-day basis; however, certain major and
operational decisions require the consent of the Members. WP also provides management, construction,
development and leasing services to the Company as well as to third parties, based upon an agreed upon fee
schedule and also provides such services to a new venture organized by certain of the Whitehall Members
{“New Venture”). WP is owned by affiliates of the Whitehall Members.

Under the terms of existing agreements, it is expected that the Company will not purchase any additional
real estate assets. The Members have agreed to an orderly disposal of the Company’s assets over time. The
Company will terminate on December 31, 2045, unless sooner by the written consent of all Members.

During 2005, the Company redeemed and retired the 6,276,780 membership units owned by the Wellsford
Commercial Properties Trust (“WCPT"), in exchange for cash of $8,394,731. The cash payment was the
negotiated fair market value of the WCPT membets’ interest as of July 31, 2005 and was paid by the Company
to the WCPT members’.

During 2004, the Company redeemed and retired the 1,434,126 membership units owned by the Saracen
Members in exchange for transferring title to the six properties encumbered by the Nomura Loan, one
unencumbered land asset and all other assets and liabilities related to the transferred properties to the
Saracen Members. The Saracen Members also assumed the Nomura Loan and all accrued interest
associated with the loan. The redemption and retirement of the Saracen Members’ membership units
also resulted in the nullification of the contingent tax indemnities the Company was previously obligated to
maintain.

The number of membership units issued and outstanding is as follows:

December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Whitehall Members . . ... .. i e 11,547,422  11,547.422 11,547,422
WP . . e e e e —_— 6,276,780 6,276,780
Saracen Members. . . ... .t i e —_ — 1,434,126
Total . ... e et 11,547.422 17,824,202 19,258,328

As of December 31, 2005, the Company owned 2 properties, containing approximately 129,227 square feet
(unaudited) of office space in New Jersey (1 operating property, 1 tract of land).

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation. The accompanyir{g consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all demand and money market accounts and short-term
investments in government funds with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
and cash equivalents.
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WELLSFORD/WHITEHALL GROUP, L.L.C., AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2005 and 2004 (Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Real Fstate and Depreciation. Real estate assets are stated at cost, adjusted for impairment losses. Costs
directly related to the acquisition and improvement of real estate are capitalized, including the purchase price,
legal fees, acquisition costs, interest, property taxes and other operational costs during the period of
development. Ordinary repairs and maintenance items are expensed as incurred. Replacements and better-
ments are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Tenant improvements and leasing
commissions are capitalized and amortized over an average term of the relared leases. Depreciation is
computed over the expected useful lives of the depreciable properties using methocls that approximate straight-
line, principally 40 years for commercial properties, five to 12 years for furnishings and equipment and
15 years for land improvements.

Management reviews its real estate assets for impairment annually in connection with the preparation of
budgets for the upcoming year and as part of the financial statement closing process. The Company performs
evaluations for impairment on all of its real estate assets. As part of this evaluation, the Company recorded
impairment provisions of approximately $453,000, $21,069,000 and $114.,687,000 during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. The 2005 provisions are prirnarily the result of a minor
change in the economics of such asset and the market in which it is located. The 2004 provisions are primarily
the result of a change in the intended use of such assets resulting from the change in classification from held for
use to held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2004. The 2003 provisions were the result of
significant declines in the economics of such assets and the markets in which they were located, resulting in
decreasing market rents, slower absorption trends and greater tenant concession costs. For real estate assets
held and used, the Company recognizes an impairment loss only if the carrying amount of the asset is not
recoverable from its undiscounted cash flows and measures an impairment loss as the difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. Real estate assets considered held for sale are reported at the
lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and are not depreciated.

Deferred Costs. Deferred costs consisted primarily of costs incurred to obtain financing. Those deferred
financing costs were amortized over the expected term of the respective agreements, adjusted for any
unscheduled prepayments. Such amortization is included in interest expense in the accompanying consol-
idated statements of operations. The Company recorded amortization expense related to deferred costs totaling
$771,000, $1,298,000, and $4,964,000 during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003,
respectively.

Profit and Revenue Recognition. Sales of real estate assets are recognized at closing, subject to the receipt of
an adequate down payment and the relinquishment of substantial ownership risks in the future operations of the
asset. Commercial properties are leased under operating leases. Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the terms of the respective leases. The Company records an ailowance for accounts receivable
estimated to be uncollectible. As of December 31, 2005, the Company’s cutstanding accounts receivable was
$17,000, net of a $628,000 allowance.

Discontinued Operations. Properties planned to be sold within one year following the balance sheet date are
classified as held for sale and the related results of operations have been reported separately as discontinued
operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. There were no properties held for sale at
December 31, 2005. Assets attributable to properties held for sale have been classified separately in the
Company’s balance sheets at December 31, 2004. The results of operations for assets disposed of during the
current year have also been reported as discontinued operations for the years endeed December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income Taxes. The Company is a limited liability company. In accordance with the tax law regarding such
entities, each of the Company’s membership unit holders is responsible for reporting their share of the
Company’s taxable income or loss on their separate tax returns. Accordingly, the Company has recorded no
provision for Federal, state and local income taxes.

Derivative and Hedging Activities. The Company recognizes all newly acquired derivatives on the balance
sheet at fair value. During 2005, the interest rate protection agreement acquired in 2004 expired and the change
in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in earnings.

During 2004, the Company acquired a new interest rate protection agreement which limited the base rate of the
variable rate debt. The Company did not account for the derivative as a hedging instrument. Accordingly,
changes in the fair value of the derivative were immediately recognized in earnings.

At December 31, 2003, the Company owned an interest rate protection agreement which limited the base rate
of variable rate debt. Through the maturity date of the derivative, the ineffective portion of the derivative’s
change in fair value was immediately recognized in earnings, as applicable. The effective portion of the fair
value difference of the derivative was reflected separately in members’ equity as other comprehensive income
or loss. At December 31, 2003, approximately $194,000 of accumulated other comprehensive loss remained in
members’ equity, which was fully amortized during 2004,

Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Commercial Properties

The Company owns the following properties classified as held for investment. Amounts are presented net of .
impairment provisions (amounts in thousands):

December 31,
Location 2005 2004

Property Collateralizing Portfolio Loan-2004

150 Mount Bethel . . .. ... .. i et Warren, NJ $ 8119 % 8,063

Unencumbered Property

Airport Executive Park-Land . ... ......... ... .. ... Hanover Twp, N} 3,171 3,609
* Real estate held for investment . ................... 11,290 11,672

Accumulated depreciation . . ......... .. ... . . (2,613) {1,987)

Real estate held for investment, net .. ............... $ 8677 § 9685

One tenant of the properties held for investment contributed approximately 97% of rental income generated by
properties held for investment for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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Commercial Properties (Continued)

The Company owned the following properties classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2004. As of
December 31, 2005, all assets owned by the Company were held for investment. Amounts are presented net of
impairment provisions (amounts in thousands):

December 31,
Properties Collateralizing Portfolio Loan Location 2005 2004
300 Atrtum Drive ... ... (a) Somerset, NJ —_ $ 11,087
400 Atrium Drive . ... e (a) Somerset, NJ —_— 34,865
S00 Atrium Drive .. ... ... ... ... .. .. (a) Somerset, NJ — 12,740
700 Atrium Drive . . ... ... ... (a) Somerset, NJ — 10,104
Garden State ExhibitCenter .. ................. (a) Somerset, NJ — 7,281
Cutler Lake Corporate Center . ................. (b) Needham, MA — 39,425
377/379 Campus Drive . .. ... ..ol (a) Franklin Twp, NJ — 11,694
Samsung/105 Challenger Road . ................ (c) Ridgefield Park, NJ — 24,571
— 151,767
Properties Collateralizing Other Mortgages or Unencumbered ?_ﬂ_(_l_S_ 2004
600 Atrium Drive (land) .. .................... {a) Somerset, NJ — —
Airport Executive Park . ...................... (a) Hanover Twp, NJ — 8,854
OV e (a) Essex, MD — 4,724
CV S . e (a) Pennsauken, NJ — 3,908
CV S e (a) Runnemede, NJ — 4121
CV S e e e (a) Wetumpka, AL — 2.665
CV S (a) Richmond, VA — 3,162
— 27,434
Real estate held forsale ...................... — 179,201
Accumulated depreciation .. ....... ... ... ... — (42,797)
Real estate held forsale, net .. ................. —  $136,404

(a) Asset sold during January 2005.
(b) Asset sold during April 2005.
(c) Asset sold during May 2005.

The Company capitalizes interest related to properties under renovation to the extent such assets qualify for
capitalization. Total interest capitalized was $0, $0 and $2,763,000, respectively, for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003.

Leases

Office space in the properties is generally leased to tenants under lease terms which provide for the tenants to pay
base rents plus increases in operating expenses in excess of specified amounts. Nor-cancelable operating leases
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Leases (Continued)

with tenants expire on various dates through 2012. The future minimum lease payments to be received under
leases existing as of December 31, 2003, are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Property held

For the Years Ended December 31, for investment
2006. .. .. . . e e e iea e it e s $1,227
2007 . e e e e e e e e 1,288
2 0 0 345
2000 . e e e e e 31
.13 1 P 31
TherEatter . . o . o i e e e s 44
L 7 IS $2,966

The future minimum lease payments do not include specified payments for tenant reimbursements of operating
expenses.

Ground Leases

The leasehold interest in one property held for investment is subject to a ground lease. At December 31, 2005,
aggregate future minimum rental payments under the lease which expires on April 20, 2077, are as follows
(amounts in thousands):

Property held
For the Years Ended December 31, for investment
2008 . e e e e $ 713
007 . st e e e e 75
008 . o e e it 76
2000 . . e e e e e 77
2000 . o e e e e 78
Thereafter . . . .. vt e e e 7,990
TOtAl .« o ot et e e e e e 38,369
Notes Payable
The Company’s notes payable consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):
Interest Rate at __ December 31,
Debt December 31,2004 2005 2004
General Electric Capital Rea! Estate(a) .. ............... LIBOR + 3.25% $— $106,078
Other Mortgage Loans :
Washington Mutual(a) .. ............. e LIBOR + 2.50% — 7,809
Wells Fargo(h) . .. .o 7.28% — 15,816
Total notes payable . . ... ... .. . = 129,703
Notes payable assumed by purchaser ... ................ — (15,816)
Total notes payable, net of notes payable assumed . .. ...... $— §$113,887

(a) The Company repaid the Portfolio Loan and the Washington Mutual debt in full during 2005 with the sale of the assets,
(b) The Wells Fargo note was assumed as part of the sale of certain assets during January 2003,

In June 2001, the Company obtained a loan with General Electric Capital Real Estate (the “Portfolio Loan™)
which required monthly payments of interest until maturity. During 2003, the loan was repaid in full with the
sale of the assets.
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Notes Payable (Continued)
The 30-day LIBOR rate was 2.40% on December 31, 2004.

In April 2004, the Company entered into a new interest rate protection agreement (the “New Cap™) at a cost of
$269,000, which limits LIBOR exposure to 6.86% until December 2006 on $122,100,000 of debt. The New
Cap was not designated as a hedge. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of the New Cap were recognized
immediately into earnings during the year ended December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of
the New Cap was $0.

In July 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate protection agreement (the “Cap™) at a cost of
$1,780,000, which limited LIBOR exposure to 5.83% until June 2003 and 6.83% uatil it matured in June 2004
on $285,000,000 of debt. The effective portion of the Cap’s change in fair value was recorded as an adjustment
to accumulated other comprehensive (income)/loss during 2004 and 2003, which totaled ($194,000) and
($1,103,000), respectively. An affiliate of the Whitehall Members was the counterparty to the Cap.

Transactions with Affiliates

As discussed in Note 1, WP performs management services for the Company. The Company pays WP an
administrative cost and expense management fee equal to (.93% of an agreed upon initial aggregate asset
value of the Company’s real estate assets. The fee will be reduced six months after any asset is sold pursuant to
an agreed upon formula. The Company incurred an aggregate of $1,834,000, $3,715,000 and 34,604,000 in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to these fees.

The Company also pays WP for construction management, development and leasing based upon a schedule of
rates in each geographic area in which the Company operates. The Company incurred an aggregate of $75,000,
$784,000 and $1,925,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to these services. These amounts have
been capitalized as part of real estate assets.

Affiliates of the Whitehall Members provide debt placement, environmental and insurance services for the
Company. The Company incurred $757,000, $459,000 and $691,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for
these services.

Affiliates of the Saracen Members performed property management services for certain assets of the Company
through the date of the redemption, which amounted to approximately $161,000 and $252.000, respectively,
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. Pursuant to an asset management agreement that was
terminated in 1999, the Company agreed to pay the Saracen Members $1,000,000 in January 2004, plus
quarterly interest at 10% per annum paid currently. This liability was fully satisfied during January 2004.

Affiltates of the Saracen Members leased space at one building through the date of the redemption to the
Saracen Members. Revenue related to these leases for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, totaled
$18,000 and $49,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company had approximately $779,000 and $342,000, respectively,
payable to its Members or their affiliates. These amounts are included in accrued expenses and other liabilities
on the accompanying balance sheets,

During 2004, the Company transferred approximately $76,656,000 in assets and approximately $65,701,000
in liabilities to the Saracen Members. The transfer of the assets and liabilities was accounted for as a non-
monetary exchange. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities were adjusted to fair value as of the date of transfer
resulting in a $4,306,000 loss. This loss was recorded in discontinued operations in the accompanying
statement of operations.

See Notes 1, 6 and 8 for additional related party interest information.
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Discontinued Operations

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had 15 properties totaling 1,644,000 square feet (unaudited), which
were classified as held for sale. There were no properties held for sale at December 31, 2005. Consistent with
SFAS No. 144, the results of operations of the properties held for sale were reported as discontinued operations
for the year ended December 31, 2004. Assets and liabilities anticipated to be sold that are attributable to the
properties held for sale were classified separately in the Company’s balance sheets, and are summarized as
follows {amounts in thousands}):

December 31,

005 2004
ASSETS
TNEE FBAL BSEAIE. © v vt vt e et et e e e e e e e e $—  $136,404
Receivables, prepaid and other assets. .. ... ... ..o - 2,405
Total assets held for sale . . ... ... . i i i e $— $138,809
LIABILITIES '
Notes payable . . ... e e e $— $ 15816
Accrued interest on notes payable . ... ... ... — 64
Total liabilities held for sale . ... .. it i i i i e $— § 15,880

In conjunction with the sale of the properties classified as held for sale at December 31, 2004, the Company
was required to pay off the notes payable related to certain of the properties.

Revenues atmbutable to the properties held for sale as of December 31, 2004 or attributable to the properties
sold during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $3,738,000, $30,604,000 and
$46,709,000, respectively. Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs attributable to the
properties held for sale as of December 31, 2004 or attributable to the properties sold during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $2,219,000, $11,674,000 and $15,627,000, respectively.

The Company sold the following properties ($ in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Number of Properties . . . . . ... oottt iien s 15 1 11
Netsales proceeds . . ... ... . .ttt $154.365 $17,182  $170,510
Gain On 8ale . . .ot e e e $ 17326 §$ 5193 % 9,297

The transfer of the six properties encumbered by the Nomura Loan to the Saracen Members was treated as a
non-monetary exchange. Accordingly, a loss was recognized in the financial statements during 2004 in the
amount of $4,306,000, representing the difference between the book value and the falr value of the assets and
liabilities on the date of transfer.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instrutnents consist of cash and cash equivalents, interest rate protection agreements
and notes payable. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short
maturity of this item. The fair values of the interest rate derivative instruments are the amount at which they
could be settled, based on estimates obtained from the third parties. The carrying values for certain notes
payable approximate fair values because such debt consists of variable rate debt that reprices frequently.
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10. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, legal actions are brought against the Company in the ordir.ary course of business. Although
there can be no assurance, the Company is not a party to any legal action that would have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in the future.

In connection with the redemption of the WCPT members’ interest, if the Company enters into a sales contract
over a specified amount, for one of the remaining assets, within six months and the sale closes within twelve
months of the redemption, the Company would then remit to WCPT additional proceeds up to but not to exceed
$528,150.
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REIS, INC.
(FORMERLY WELLSFORD REAL PROPERTIES, INC.)

SCHEDULE 111
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

The following reconciliation of real estate assets and accumulated depreciation is presented on the going concern
basis of accounting at historical cost:

For the Period
January 1 to

(amounts in thousands) November 17, 2005
Real Estate
Balance at beginning of period. . ... .. ... . $ 132,311
Additions:
Capital IMPTOVEMENES. . .o oot vttt e e e ee et 23
132,334
Less:

Real estate sold . . ... Lo i i e e e e e e s —
Reclassified costs to residential units available forsale ................... —

Balance atend of period .. ... ... .. . 3 132,334
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of period. . . ... ... ... - 3 21,031
Additions:
Charged to Operating eXpense. . . .. ...ttt nntae e 3,740
24,771
Less:

Accumulated depreciation real estate sold . .. .. ...... .. ... . oL —

Accumulated depreciation on costs reclassified to residential units held for
Y 1 = —

Balance atend of period . .. ... .. . e $ 24,771
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